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This annual report contains forward-looking statements that are not purely historical regarding Cepheid’s or its management’s intentions, beliefs, expectations and strategies for the future, including those
relating to: future products, pipeline and target markets; development activities; future regulatory approvals; product performance; future financial results and business prospects. Because such statements deal 
with future events, they are subject to various risks and uncertainties, and actual results could differ materially from Cepheid’s current expectations. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially include 
risks and uncertainties such as those relating to: continued market acceptance of our healthcare associated infection products; changes in the protocols, best practices or level of testing for healthcare associated 
infections; testing volumes for our other products; unforeseen research, development and manufacturing problems, which could delay the introduction of new products; the need for additional intellectual property 
licenses for new tests and other products and the terms of such licenses; the environment for capital spending by hospitals and other customers for our diagnostic instruments; our ability to successfully sell 
additional products in the Clinical market; lengthy sales cycles in certain markets; the performance of our new products; our ability to obtain regulatory approvals and introduce new products into the Clinical 
market, including our ability to complete any required clinical testing in a timely manner; our ability to respond to changing laws and regulations affecting our industry and changing enforcement practices related 
thereto; the mix of products sold, which can affect gross margins; our reliance on distributors to market, sell and support our products in certain geographic locations; the occurrence of unforeseen expenditures, 
asset impairments, acquisitions or other transactions; litigation costs; our ability to integrate the businesses, technologies, operations and personnel of acquired companies; our success in increasing our direct 
sales and the effectiveness of our sales personnel; the fact that our collaborative relationships may not result in successful introduction of new products or result in material revenues; the impact of competitive 
products and pricing; our ability to manage geographically-dispersed operations; our ability to continue to realize manufacturing efficiencies, which is an important factor in improving gross margins; the scope 
and timing of United States Postal Service (“USPS”) funding of the Biohazard Detection System (“BDS”) in its current configuration; the rate of environmental testing using the BDS conducted by the USPS, 
which will affect the amount of consumable products sold; and underlying market conditions worldwide. Readers should also refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Cepheid’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All forward-looking statements and reasons why results might differ are made as of the date of this report, based on information currently 
available to Cepheid, and Cepheid assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking statement or reasons why results might differ. The product information is intended to outline our general product 
direction and it should not be relied upon in making a purchasing decision as the development, release, and timing of any of our products remains at our discretion and is also subject to regulatory approvals.

Global Operations WeLCome To A BeTTer WAy

From the very beginning, we knew there was a better way 
for healthcare institutions to realize the benefits of molecular 
diagnostics. Where others saw boundaries and limits, we 
saw the blueprint for harnessing the full potential of molecular 
diagnostics to meet urgent testing needs: protecting 
newborns from life-threatening infections; earlier detection of 
deadly cancers; the elimination of hospital-acquired infections. 
Where there’s a better solution, we are delivering it. It’s the 
proof of our tenacity, and the fulfillment of our promise.
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CUMULATIVE GENEXPERT SYSTEM PLACEMENTS
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Historically, the molecular testing market has been extremely 
fragmented, with nearly as many platforms as there are tests. 
Today, that’s all changing. With about 2,000 installations worldwide, 
Cepheid’s GeneXpert® System is quickly establishing itself as the 
molecular platform of choice. From the single site system to the 
fully-automated, high-throughput Infinity-48, GeneXpert delivers 
the easiest user experience, fastest turnaround time, and most 
accurate results: 24/7, 365 days a year.

“Despite the simplicity of the GeneXpert System, these assays 

are loaded with technical breakthroughs that make them 

extremely robust and highly sensitive. This is transformative 

technology that is impacting the entire healthcare continuum.”

Dr. David Alland
Chief of the Division of Infectious Disease 
University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey

GX-I GX-IV GX-XVI GeneXpert	Infinity-48

A SINGLe PLATForm, 
GeNerATIoNS AHeAD
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Xpert MTB/RIF  
Not Available in the US
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Medical Value:
Accelerating Time to Result*

In medicine, time is often the enemy. 
Rapid and accurate answers are 
imperative. When results are delayed, 
as with culture or batch-based PCR 
testing, medical value diminishes and 
clinical decisions are less likely to 
have a positive impact. 

“ This is really a groundbreaking and revolutionary new test. The last new 

test we had for TB was in the 1940s, and smear microscopy more than 

100 years ago, and this is really the first breakthrough we’ve seen in 

rapid diagnosis of TB. Faster diagnosis has two main benefits. It prevents 

premature deaths from the disease, because patients can be treated 

earlier, and it interrupts the chain of transmission of both tuberculosis and 

MDR-TB, or multi-drug-resistant tuberculosis. Where we could rapidly get 

TB and MDR-TB diagnosed and treated, it would have a significant impact 

on the global problem of TB.” 

Dr. Karin Weyer
WHO Stop TB Department
 
As quoted in CNN Health article, December 8, 2010

Time to result is crucial. The answers that doctors and patients need 
are not always available in time to make a difference. The GeneXpert® 
System has the ability to provide rapid and accurate results earlier 
when medical value is at its peak, enabling clinical decisions that can 
positively impact patient outcomes. Our systems work around the 
clock to improve life.

*Medical value supported by the following studies:
1. Lance R. Peterson, M.D., Donna M. Hacek, M.T. (A.S.C.P.), Ari Robicsek, M.D., Case Study: An MRSA Intervention at Evanston Northwestern Healthcare, printed in The Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety Volume 33 Number 12, December 2007
2. Lance R. Peterson, M.D. Rapid Diagnosis of Community-Acquired MRSA, printed in Clinical Updates in Infectious Diseases, Volume  Issue 3, October 2008
3. Eli N. Perencevich, MD, MS et al., SHEA Guideline: Raising Standards While Watching the Bottom Line: Making a Business Case for Infection Control, printed in Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, Volume 28, Number 10, October 2007
**Example: South Africa; Xpert performance identical at both sites

A mINuTe-By-mINuTe 
ImPACT oN LIveS

Xpert® MTB/RIF (ce ivd) Performance Less Dependent 
on User Skills or Workload
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A laboratory in a cartridge.

Cepheid employs world-class test development 
experts to design, optimize, and produce tests that 
leverage our patented systems and chemistry.

Development Expertise

“ Instead of following others with a complex system 

and simple disposable, we turned the status quo on 

it’s head. We pulled the complexity out of the system 

and put it into a sealed, disposable test cartridge. This 

innovative approach is revolutionizing the introduction 

and use of molecular diagnostics worldwide.”

John L. Bishop
Chief Executive Officer
Cepheid

Vertically Integrated Biologics
Cepheid is further differentiated with its best in class 
special chemistry operation, which uses innovative and 
proprietary methods to design and synthesize oligonu-
cleotide primers, probes and dyes to produce industry-
leading tests.

GeneXpert® System & Test Cartridges
We didn’t stop at developing the most advanced molecular test 
systems in the world. We continue to extend the multiplexing 
capabilities of those systems while developing new low and 
high throughput systems — keeping us generations ahead of 
the competition.

Cepheid’s fully integrated systems and biologics 
approach enables us to shorten development times and 
deliver on an aggressive pipeline of medically relevant 
diagnostic tests  while maintaining the highest levels of 
quality within the industry.

INTeGrATeD SySTemS & 
BIoLoGICS APProACH

Complex technology made simple and 
easy to use, our GeneXpert® cartridge 
has become the symbol of the Molecular 
Revolution. Regardless of where tests are 
performed —whether in a reference lab, a 
retail pharmacy, a physician office lab, or 
even disseminated among multiple hospital 
departments—this cartridge can handle 
any patient sample type, while delivering 
consistent, reproducible results.
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By combining accurate results, rapid answers, and technology 
that’s easy to use, we offer institutions across the healthcare 
spectrum entry into a world of truly transformative diagnostic 
solutions. From small rural institutions to the largest reference labs, 
the benefits of molecular diagnostics have at last become available 
to us all.
 
Every day. Moment by moment. We are delivering a better way.

“ This new test represents a milestone for global 

TB diagnosis and care. It also represents new 

hope for the millions of people who are at the 

highest risk of TB and drug-resistant disease.”

Dr. Mario Raviglione
Director of WHO’s Stop TB Department
 
As quoted in WHO press release on December 8, 2010 (Geneva)

* Xpert MTB/RIF Not Available in the US

ACCurACy. eASe oF 
uSe. SPeeD.* 

*Boehme, C.C. et al . 2010. Rapid molecular 
detection of tuberculosis and rifampin resistance. 

N. Engl. J. Med.  363: 1005–1015
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NEAR TERM

2011
NOW AVAILABLE MID-TERM

2012 - 2013
LONG TERM

2014 - 2015

Critical Infectious Disease

HAI Healthcare Associated Infection

Women’s Health

Oncology
Genetics

Immuno-Compromised

CT/NG (2012)

  CT/NG CE IVD (2012)

           CT/NG FluroQ Resistant CE IVD

Trichomonas CE IVD

HPV CE IVD

HSV CSF CE IVD

HPV

CT/NG FluroQ Resistant

Trichomonas

CT/NG CLIA Waived

Vaginitis CLIA Waived

Norovirus

MRSA/SA SSTI CLIA Waived

Group A Strep CLIA Waived

HSV Typing Lesion

HCV Genotype CE IVD

HBV Quant CE IVD

EBV Quant CE IVD

CMV Quant CE IVD

HIV Quant

HCV Quant

Bladder Cancer Asymptomatic CE IVD

Bladder Cancer Mon./Recur.

Bladder Cancer Symptomatic

Lung Cancer

2C19

Vaginitis Panel

MRSA Nasal Next Gen

SA CLIA Waived

MTB

Flu A/B CLIA Waived

RSV/Metapneumovirus

Group A Strep

HCV Quant CE IVD

Bladder Cancer Sympt. CE IVD

Bladder Cancer Mon./Recur. CE IVD

Lung Cancer CE IVD

BCR-ABL

2C19 CE IVD

 

C. dif�cile/Epi

Flu A/B Panel

GBS

MRSA Nasal

MTB/RIF CE IVD

Flu CE IVD

EV

HemosIL FII, FV*

HIV Quant CE IVD

MRSA/SA Nasal CE IVD

vanA/vanB CE IVD

MRSA/SA BC

MRSA/SA SSTI

SA Nasal Compl ete

C. dif�cile

vanA for VRE

envisioning a better way:

Projected Test Pipeline*

 Clinical IVD;  CE IVD 
 *The product information is intended to outline our general product direction and it should not be relied upon in making a purchasing decision as the development, release, and 

timing of any of our products remains at our discretion and is also subject to regulatory approvals. Product availability based on timing of FDA submission and approval in US.

THE PURCHASE OF THIS PRODUCT ALLOWS THE PURCHASER TO USE IT FOR THE PERFORMANCE OF DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES FOR HUMAN IN VITRO DIAGNOSTICS. NO GENERAL PATENT 
OR OTHER LICENSE OF ANY KIND OTHER THAN THIS SPECIFIC RIGHT OF USE FROM PURCHASE IS GRANTED HEREBY. NO OTHER RIGHTS ARE CONVEYED EXPRESSLY, BY IMPLICATION OR 
ESTOPPEL TO ANY OTHER PATENTS. FURTHERMORE, NO RIGHTS FOR RESALE ARE CONFERRED WITH THE PURCHASE OF THIS PRODUCT.



What was known as the Methicillin Resistant Staph 
Aureus (MRSA) market has now evolved into Healthcare 
Associated Infections (HAIs), a significant new molecular 
market segment encompassing many different infectious 
agents. Importantly, Cepheid has emerged as the leader 
for this rapidly growing market. Starting with our market-
leading molecular test for MRSA, Cepheid’s offering has 
expanded to represent the most comprehensive range 
of molecular tests for HAIs available today. In fact, in 
the United States, we are now equally as well known 
for our highly accurate, easy-to-use and rapid Xpert® 
Clostridium difficile test as for our MRSA test, both of 
which contributed strongly to our Clinical Reagent growth 
in 2010.  

Our global customer base continues to rapidly expand, 
with users increasingly recognizing the efficiencies and 
flexibilities in work flow management that are unique 
to the GeneXpert System. Importantly, due to the 
ease of installation and use, the GeneXpert System is 
also significantly expanding the size and scope of the 
molecular market in total. 

Test menu expansion is a key Cepheid strategic initiative 
and the company continues to execute extremely well 
in this regard. We now have a menu of nine Xpert tests 
in the United States and, at the time of this writing, have 
two additional tests under review at the FDA.  

Looking ahead, the addition of high volume tests – such 
as CT/NG, HIV viral load and HPV – positions Cepheid’s 
GeneXpert System very well as a potential consolidator 
of competing systems which, today, might be used in 
the lab for only one or two different assays. Our vision 
is simple. One platform for most of the lab’s molecular 
testing needs, whether HAIs, women’s health, virology, 
oncology or genetics. We believe that only the GeneXpert 
System has the potential to achieve this ambitious vision 
with the unique ability to run any test at any time. To 
accelerate the realization of this goal, we continue to 
invest heavily in research and development.  

Others, too, have ambitious goals for the GeneXpert 
System. The World Health Organization (WHO), for 
example, endorsed our Xpert MTB/RIF test to more than 
140 member countries in December of 2010. This was a 
high profile and prestigious recognition of the capabilities 

of our unique approach to molecular testing. Unlike any 
other commercially available TB test, Cepheid does not 
ask patients to make a trade off between ease-of-use, 
speed, and accuracy. With Xpert MTB/RIF – as with our 
entire test portfolio – you don’t need to make that choice. 
We are proud to have our test recognized in this way and 
excited to see how it may contribute to the global fight 
against TB in the years ahead.

2010 was also a year of achievement financially, with 
record revenues and gross margin contributing to the 
narrowest net loss in the company’s history. We are 
committed to delivering sustainable profitability while 
also maintaining our very significant level of investment in 
research and development to ensure that Cepheid retains 
its reputation as the most innovative technology leader 
in the field. Diligent financial management also ensured 
that we further strengthened our balance sheet in 2010, 
thanks in part to positive cash flow from operations and, 
indeed, free cash flow for the full year.

The next year promises to be another exciting chapter 
in Cepheid’s journey. During 2011, we expect to make 
solid progress on our CT/NG test which expands our 
market opportunity and importantly starts to position 
the GeneXpert System as a laboratory test menu 
consolidator. We are targeting this test for commercial 
release in 2012. We expect to advance our work 
on an ambitious pipeline of Xpert tests targeted for 
commercialization in the coming years, including HIV, 
HCV, HPV and some promising projects in the oncology 
area. We expect to see the first phases of Xpert MTB/
RIF deployments in the High Burden Developing Country 
markets. Finally, we are certainly targeting additional 
improvements in our financial performance which we 
look forward to sharing with you in the quarters and 
years ahead.

There has never been a more exciting time to be 
part of the Cepheid family, and I thank you for your 
continued support.

John L. Bishop, Ceo 
March 2011

TOTAL CLINICAL REVENUE IN MILLIONS TOTAL REVENUE IN MILLIONS 
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Dear fellow shareholders,
2010 was a year of considerable achievement for Cepheid as we 
continued our journey to establish our innovative approach to 
molecular diagnostics, the GeneXpert® System, as the molecular 
platform of choice for customers of all types and sizes.



SeLeCTeD FINANCIAL DATA

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

 

CoNSoLIDATeD STATemeNTS oF oPerATIoNS 2010 2008 2008

(in thousands, except per share data)

revenues 

Total product sales $ 206,876 $ 165,185 $ 159,383  

Other revenues 5,592 5,442 10,244

Total revenues 212,468 170,627 169,627

Costs and operating expenses 

Cost of product sales 105,135 95,542 89,714

Collaboration profit sharing 6,806 8,200 11,089

Research and development 42,503 39,313 43,310

Sales and marketing 38,840 29,156 29,757

General and administrative 24,528 21,278 20,861

Gain from legal settlement — (243) (1,454)

Restructuring charge — 747 —

Total costs and operating expenses 217,812 193,993 193,277

Loss from operations (5,344) (23,366) (23,650)

Other income (expense), net (992) 424 352

Loss before benefit for income taxes (6,336) (22,942) (23,298)

Benefit for income taxes 419 440 911

Net loss $ (5,917) $ (22,502) $ (22,387)  

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.10) $ (0.39) $ (0.39)  

Shares used in computing basic & diluted net loss per share 59,712 58,206 57,101

  

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 

  

BALANCe SHeeT INFormATIoN 2010 2009 2008

(in thousands) 

Cash, cash equivalents, investments and put option $ 79,538 $ 60,717 $ 48,017

Working capital 95,565 60,852 32,211

Total assets 220,611 198,126 183,979

Short-term obligations1 9,886 17,649 17,473

Long-term obligations2 9,048 3,011 1,753

Accumulated deficit (208,182) (202,265) (179,763)

Total shareholders’ equity 153,662 127,566 128,824

Form 10-K

1. Includes bank borrowing, current portion of note payable and current portion of deferred revenue
2. Includes note payable, less current portion and deferred revenue, less current portion
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UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, DC 20549 
_________________________ 

Form 10-K 
 
(Mark One)  

 
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

 For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010

  or 

 
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
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Commission file number 000-30755 
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California 77-0441625 
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  

Common Stock, no par value and the associated Stock Purchase Rights 
(Title of Class) 

 
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None 

 
 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  
Yes  No  

 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  

Yes  No  
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file 
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes  No   
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every 
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (232.405 of this chapter) during 
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes  No   

 
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (229.405 of this chapter) is not 

contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements 
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K, or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller 

reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 
12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):  

 
Large Accelerated Filer         Accelerated Filer       

  
Non-accelerated Filer     (Do not check if a Smaller Reporting Company)   Smaller Reporting Company  

  
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes  No  

 
As of June 30, 2010, the last business day of the Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate 

market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $931,354,772 based on the closing 
sale price for the registrant’s common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on that date of $16.02 per share. This number is 
provided only for the purpose of this report on Form 10-K and does not represent an admission by either the registrant or any such 
person as to the status of such person.  

 
As of February 7, 2011 there were 61,133,020 shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding.  

 

________________ 
 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
 

Document Description  10-K Part 
Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the "Proxy Statement") to be held on April 26, 2011, and to be 
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 are incorporated by reference 
into Part III of this Report. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
The following discussion of our business, and other parts of this report, contain forward-looking statements that are based upon 
current expectations. These statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”, 
“expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “intend”, “potential,” “project” or “continue” or the negative of these 
terms or other comparable terminology. Forward-looking statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and 
uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in our forward-looking 
statements as a result of many factors, including, but not limited to, the following: continued market acceptance of our healthcare 
associated infection products; changes in the protocols, best practices or level of testing for healthcare associated infections 
(“HAI”); testing volumes for our other products; development and manufacturing problems; the need for additional intellectual 
property licenses for new tests and other products and the terms of such licenses; the environment for capital spending by hospitals 
and other customers for our diagnostic instruments; our ability to successfully sell additional products in the Clinical market; 
lengthy sales cycles in certain markets; the performance and market acceptance of our new products; our ability to obtain 
regulatory approvals and introduce new products into the Clinical market; our ability to respond to changing laws and regulations 
affecting our industry and changing enforcement practices related thereto; the level of testing at existing clinical customer sites; the 
mix of products sold, which can affect gross margins; our reliance on distributors to market, sell and support our products in 
certain geographic locations; the occurrence of unforeseen expenditures, asset impairments, acquisitions or other transactions; 
litigation costs; our ability to integrate the businesses, technologies, operations and personnel of acquired companies; our success 
in increasing our direct sales and the effectiveness of our sales personnel; the impact of competitive products and pricing; our 
ability to manage geographically-dispersed operations; our ability to continue to realize manufacturing efficiencies, which is an 
important factor in improving gross margins; underlying market conditions worldwide; the scope and timing of actual United 
States Postal Service (“USPS”) funding of the Biohazard Detection System (“BDS”) in its current configuration; the rate of 
environmental testing using the BDS conducted by the USPS, which will affect the amount of consumable products sold; and the 
other risks set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. We neither undertake, nor assume any obligation to update 
any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report or to conform these forward-looking statements to actual results.  

 
 

PART I 
ITEM 1.  BUSINESS 

OVERVIEW 

We are a broad-based molecular diagnostics company that develops, manufactures, and markets fully-integrated systems for 
testing in the Clinical market, as well as for application in our legacy Biothreat, Industrial and Partner markets. Our systems enable 
rapid, sophisticated molecular testing for organisms and genetic-based diseases by automating otherwise complex manual 
laboratory procedures. Molecular testing historically has involved a number of complicated and time-intensive steps, including 
sample preparation, DNA amplification and detection. Our easy-to-use systems integrate these steps and analyze complex 
biological samples in our proprietary test cartridges. We were first to the United States (“U.S.”) market with a Clinical Laboratory 
Improvement Amendments (“CLIA”) moderate complexity categorization for an amplified molecular test, and the majority of our 
products are moderately complex, expanding our market opportunity beyond high complexity laboratories.  

Our two principal systems are the GeneXpert and SmartCycler. The GeneXpert system, our primary offering in the Clinical 
market, integrates sample preparation in addition to DNA amplification and detection. The GeneXpert system is designed for a 
broad range of user types ranging from reference laboratories and hospital central laboratories to satellite testing locations, such as 
emergency departments and intensive care units within hospitals and doctors’ offices. The GeneXpert system is also our main 
system in the Biothreat market. The SmartCycler system integrates DNA amplification and detection to allow rapid analysis of a 
sample.  

In September 2009, we launched the GeneXpert Infinity System (“Infinity”) for high volume testing. The Infinity uses robotic 
cartridge handling and a full touch screen driven menu, to run up to 1,300 different molecular tests during any 24-hour period, 
depending upon test selection. The GeneXpert system, including the Infinity, represents a paradigm shift in molecular diagnostics in 
terms of ease-of-use, time-to-result and flexibility, producing accurate results with minimal risk of contamination. Our Xpert tests 
for use on the GeneXpert system are unique in that they typically require less than two minutes of hands-on time for unprecedented 
ease of use, rapid results, in many cases under an hour, and the ability to do testing in any workflow environment: full random 
access; on-demand; or traditional batch testing.  

The paradigm shift represented by the GeneXpert system includes (1) the ability to perform multiple, highly accurate and fast 
time-to-result molecular diagnostic tests, at any time, even if the system is simultaneously performing other tests, either in a batch 
or on-demand mode, (2) the system’s ease-of-use, which enables it to be operated without the need for highly-trained laboratory 
technicians, and (3) the scalability of the instrument, currently from one to 48 modules, enabling it to serve high volume testing 
requirements as well as lower volume requirements for testing at the point of patient care. Our GeneXpert system can provide rapid 
results with superior test specificity and sensitivity over comparable systems on the market today that are integrated but have open 
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architectures. Our GeneXpert system operates with an entirely closed cartridge, reducing the likelihood of human error and 
contamination. In addition, the system is particularly well suited to perform “nested” polymerase chain reaction (“PCR”), a 
detection method that provides an enhanced level of sensitivity. This method performs an additional amplification of the target 
specimen after the first PCR amplification. This second amplification is designed to selectively amplify only the desired target 
sequence. The routine laboratory use of nested PCR has been discouraged because of the high risk of cross-contamination during 
processing in an open lab environment. We have developed a method for performing the entire test procedure for both of these 
amplifications in a single closed vessel. This has led to the commercial release of two in vitro diagnostic (“IVD”) products based on 
nested PCR.  

We currently have available a broad and expanding menu of tests and reagents for use on our systems, spanning infectious 
disease, HAIs, women’s health, genetics and oncology. Our reagents and tests are marketed along with our systems on a worldwide 
basis.  

 
OUR STRATEGY 

Our strategy is to become the leading supplier of integrated systems and tests for molecular diagnostics. Key elements of our 
strategy to achieve this objective include: 

• Provide a fully-integrated molecular testing solution to the Clinical market. We believe our GeneXpert system will 
continue to significantly expand our presence in the Clinical market due to its ease of use, flexibility, and ability to 
deliver rapid and accurate results. We believe this system is currently the only commercially available closed, self-
contained, fully-integrated and automated system for molecular testing. Features of the GeneXpert system and Xpert 
tests include: 
• an approach by which the reagents are typically prepackaged in a single vessel (the test cartridge) into which the 

specimen is added; 
• no further user intervention once the Xpert cartridge is loaded into the GeneXpert system;  
• all three phases of PCR, (1) sample preparation, (2) amplification and (3) detection, are performed within the 

single sealed test cartridge automatically; 
• moderate complexity CLIA categorized, amplified molecular tests, which means the GeneXpert system can be 

operated without the need for highly-trained laboratory technicians; 
• commercial availability in a variety of configurations ranging from one to 48 individual test modules, which 

enables testing in environments ranging from low volume, near-patient testing to high volume, core or central lab 
testing, and system capacity that can be expanded in support of growing test volumes by adding additional 
modules; and 

• notably, to our knowledge, the only real-time PCR system that operates entirely within a closed system 
architecture, reducing hands-on time, reducing the likelihood of human error and contamination, and enabling 
nested PCR capability, a proven process for maximizing real-time PCR sensitivity. 
 

We also believe that the GeneXpert is the only currently available system that enables molecular testing in any 
workflow environment: full random access; on-demand; or traditional batch testing. With full random access, different 
tests for different targets may be run simultaneously in different cartridges in the same GeneXpert instrument. 
Additional tests may be added by the user at any time. This increases potential utilization and throughput of the 
instrument and also enables on-demand or “stat” testing, whereby the user can add a new test to the instrument at any 
time without regard to the stage of processing of any other test on the instrument. 

• Continue to develop and market new tests. We plan to capitalize on our strengths in nucleic acid chemistry and 
molecular biology to continue to develop new tests for our systems. In addition, in order to more rapidly expand our 
test pipeline, we work with strategic partners and major academic institutions and commercial organizations to develop 
and validate additional tests. 

• Obtain additional target rights. We expect to continue to expand our collaborations with academic institutions and 
commercial organizations to develop and obtain target rights to various infectious disease and cancer targets. In 
addition, we will be focusing key business development activities on identifying infectious disease and cancer targets 
held by academic institutions or commercial organizations for potential license or acquisition. 

• Extend geographic reach. Internationally, our primary focus is the European Clinical market. Our European sales and 
marketing operations are headquartered in France. We have direct sales forces in the United Kingdom (“UK”), France 
and the Benelux region. We will continue to expand our distribution capability in Europe on both a direct and 
distributor basis. We also have and will continue to develop programs for other international markets, including selling 
through distributors.  

• High Burden Developing Countries sales programs. We are developing and expect to continue to expand our presence 
in High Burden Developing Countries (“HBDCs”) following the World Health Organization’s endorsement of the 
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Xpert MTB/RIF test in late 2010. In addition, in continued collaboration with the Foundation for Innovative New 
Diagnostics (“FIND”), we expect to broaden the menu of tests available to HBDC customers at special pricing 
considerations. 

• Continue to maintain applications in the Industrial and Biothreat markets. We currently sell products into our legacy 
Industrial and Biothreat markets and expect to continue our offerings in these markets.  

  
PRODUCTS 

Our product portfolio consists of tests, reagents and systems for the Clinical, Industrial, Biothreat and Partner markets. Our two 
main systems are (1) the GeneXpert system, including the Infinity, which incorporates sample preparation, nucleic acid extraction 
and purification, DNA amplification, and detection into a small self-contained cartridge enabling rapid molecular testing 24 hours a 
day, 7 days a week, offering medically relevant results when and where they are needed most, and (2) the SmartCycler, which is a 
system that integrates DNA amplification and detection for rapid batch or random access analysis in “real-time”.  

In the Clinical market, we offer tests for both the GeneXpert and the SmartCycler systems in the areas of healthcare associated 
infections, critical infectious disease, genetics, women’s health, and oncology. These tests include U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration (“FDA”) cleared products, such as IVD medical devices, CE Marked products (“CE IVD”), Analyte Specific 
Reagents (“ASRs”), and Research Use Only (“RUO”) tests.  

Prior to 2010, the menu of tests for our GeneXpert system in the U.S. consisted of our Xpert MRSA surveillance test in addition 
to the following diagnostic tests: Xpert GBS for Group B Streptococcus, Xpert EV for detection of Enterovirus, Xpert MRSA/SA-
SSTI (Skin and Soft Tissue Infection), Xpert MRSA/SA-BC (Blood Culture), Xpert Clostridium difficile, Xpert HemosIL Factor II 
and Factor V Leiden. These tests are also available as European CE IVD Marked products under the European Directive on IVD 
medical devices. Additionally, Xpert Mycobacterium tuberculosis/rifampicin (“MTB/RIF”), Xpert Flu Panel, and Xpert BCR-ABL 
Monitor are available as European CE IVD Marked products. 

In January 2010, we announced that we had received FDA clearance to market our Xpert test for the vanA resistant genes of 
vancomycin resistant enterocci (“VRE”). 

In June 2010, we announced that we had received FDA clearance to market our Xpert SA Nasal Complete test, the first and only 
molecular test designed for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of both Staphylococcus aureus (SA) and Methicillin-
resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) colonization in a little more than an hour. Staphylococcus aureus is widely recognized as 
one of the most common causes of HAIs worldwide. Surgical units are high-risk areas for potentially serious consequences of 
postoperative complications, including surgical site infections. Our on-demand Xpert MRSA/SA nasal test provides rapid 
determination of pre-operative carrier status by detecting MRSA and SA, enabling clinicians to determine the best course of 
management for colonized patients. 

In December 2010, we introduced Xpert Flu A/B under European CE IVD Marked products. 

In the Industrial market, we sell our SmartCycler system along with general use PCR reagents and reaction tubes. 

In the Biothreat market, the GeneXpert system is the main platform. GeneXpert modules have been integrated into the BDS 
purchased by the USPS, utilizing our Bacillus anthracis test.  

In the Partner market, we sell a variety of products primarily to partners who resell them to end-users for clinical applications. 
 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

The principal objective of our research and development program is to develop high-value clinical diagnostic products for the 
GeneXpert system. We focus our efforts on four main areas: a) assay development efforts to design, optimize, and produce specific 
tests that leverage the systems and chemistry we have developed, b) target discovery research to identify novel micro RNA targets 
to be used in the development of future assays, c) chemistry research to develop innovative and proprietary methods to design and 
synthesize oligonucleotide primers, probes and dyes to optimize the speed, performance and ease-of-use of our assays and d) 
engineering efforts to extend the multiplexing capabilities of our systems and to develop new low and high throughput systems. 
Total research and development expense was $42.5 million, $39.3 million and $43.3 million for the years ended December 31, 
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

 
SALES 

Sales for products within our specific markets are conducted through both direct sales and indirect distribution channels 
worldwide. Clinical market sales in the U.S., the UK, France and the Benelux region are handled primarily through our direct sales 
force, while sales in all other markets are handled primarily through distributors. As international Clinical markets continue to 
develop, we expect to expand our direct sales efforts. Our marketing programs are managed on a direct basis. No single country 
outside of the U.S. represented more than 10% of our total revenues and one customer accounted for 11%, 15% and 23% of our 
total product sales in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
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Distribution and collaboration arrangements 

Novartis. In October 2010, we entered into a collaboration with Novartis for the commercialization of a test for monitoring the 
BCR-ABL gene transcript in peripheral blood specimens from patients diagnosed with Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic 
myelogenous leukemia (“Ph+ CML”). To fund development and clinical trial costs, we received an upfront fee of $5.0 million in 
October 2010 from Novartis with up to $3.0 million in milestone payments over the ensuing 12 months. If the FDA grants us 
clearance to commercially release the product in the U.S., under the collaboration, Novartis will have exclusive global distribution 
rights to the Xpert BCR-ABL test under a Cepheid/Novartis label. 

Foundation for Innovative New Diagnostics. In May 2006, we entered into an agreement with the FIND to develop a simple, 
rapid test that can detect mycobactrium tuberculosis and associated rifampin resistance from human sputum samples. Under the 
agreement, we were responsible for the development of a 6-color GeneXpert instrument to accomplish such test and the 
development of an enhanced manufacturing line for the manufacture of test cartridges used in the test. FIND reimbursed us at 
agreed upon amounts. The term of the development portion of the agreement was 30 months, which was subsequently extended an 
additional five months. In July 2009, the agreement was extended for another year for further specified enhancements. The supply 
term of the agreement is for 12 years, unless terminated by either party in accordance with relevant provisions of the agreement. In 
January 2011, the agreement was extended for another year and a new agreement was signed for the development of our Xpert HIV 
Viral Load test. Under the Xpert HIV agreement, FIND will fund $5.0 million in development costs throughout the two-year 
contract. 

Life Technology Corporation. In October 2002, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Life Technologies Corporation 
previously known as Applied Biosystems Group (“LIFE”), to develop reagents for use in the USPS BDS program, which was 
developed by the consortium led by Northrop Grumman Corporation. Under the agreement, reagents are manufactured by LIFE for 
packaging by us into our GeneXpert test cartridges and sold by us for use in the BDS. This agreement calls for the computed gross 
margin on sales of anthrax cartridges for the USPS BDS program to be equally shared between the two parties. 

USPS Program. In 2003, a Northrop Grumman-led consortium that included us and other subcontractors developed the BDS for 
the USPS. This consortium was awarded a production contract, and installations were completed at the end of 2005. In August 
2007, we entered into a five-year master purchase order with Northrop Grumman for the purchase of up to $200 million in anthrax 
test cartridges and associated materials used in BDS. The agreement, and subsequent purchase orders, cover 
the period through September 30, 2011. 

 
MANUFACTURING 

Our facilities and manufacturing processes are designed to comply with the quality standard set by the International 
Organization for Standardization and the FDA’s Quality System Regulations, enabling us to market our systems in the Clinical, 
Industrial, Biothreat and Partner testing markets worldwide. In our manufacturing facilities, we assemble our systems and produce 
reagents and tests for use on our GeneXpert and SmartCycler systems. We assemble our disposable reaction tubes and cartridges on 
custom, automated assembly lines that are designed with expandable capacity. We depend on suppliers for various components 
used in the manufacture of the GeneXpert and SmartCycler systems, disposable reaction tubes and cartridges, some of which are 
our sole source for such components. 

 
BACKLOG  

  

Our aggregate backlog of $42.7 million as of December 31, 2010 is comprised of firm orders which are expected to be 
converted into sales in 2011. We do not believe that aggregate backlog as of any particular date is necessarily indicative of future 
results. 

 
COMPETITION 

We face intense competition from a number of companies that offer products in our target markets, some of which have 
substantially greater financial resources and larger, more established marketing, sales and service organizations than we do. These 
competitors include:  

• companies developing and marketing sequence detection systems for industrial research products; 
• diagnostic and pharmaceutical companies;  
• companies developing drug discovery technologies; and  
• companies developing or offering biothreat detection technologies.  

Several companies provide systems and reagents for DNA amplification or detection. LIFE and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. 
(“Roche”) sell systems integrating DNA amplification and detection (sequence detection systems) to the commercial market. 
Roche, Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott”), Becton, Dickinson and Company (“BDC”), Qiagen N.V. (“Qiagen”), Gen-Probe, Inc. 
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(“GenProbe”) and Meridian Bioscience, Inc. (“Meridian”) sell sequence detection systems, some with separate robotic batch DNA 
purification systems and sell reagents to the Clinical market. Other companies, including Siemens AG (“Siemens”), Hologic, Inc. 
(“Hologic”), and bioMerieux, offer molecular tests.  

We also face emerging competition from both established companies such as Beckman Coulter, Inc., and development stage 
companies that are entering these markets. Several companies are currently making or developing products that may or will 
compete with our products. Our competitors may succeed in developing, obtaining FDA approval for, or marketing technologies or 
products that are more effective or commercially attractive than our potential products or that render our technologies and potential 
products obsolete. As these companies develop their technologies, they may develop proprietary positions that prevent us from 
successfully commercializing our products. 

In order to compete effectively, we will need to demonstrate the advantages of our products over alternative well-established 
technologies and products. We will also need to demonstrate the potential economic value of our products relative to these 
technologies and products. 

In many instances, particularly in the clinical genetics assessment area, our competitors have substantially greater financial, 
technical, research and other resources, and larger, more established marketing, sales, distribution and service organizations than we 
have. Moreover, these competitors may offer broader product lines and tactical discounts and have greater name recognition. If we 
fail to compete effectively against these and other competitors, we could lose sales, and our business will be harmed. 

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting sales of genetic and DNA analysis systems include the speed, 
integrated functionality and portability of the equipment, ease of use, the quality of the test results, price, market acceptance of the 
technology, regulatory approvals, particularly in the Clinical market, possession of the necessary intellectual property licenses for 
specific markets, collaborations and distributor relationships for specific markets and tests, and the selection of tests available for 
the system. We believe our products better integrate the various processes associated with DNA and RNA analysis than other 
currently available equipment, and that the speed, portability, flexibility, reliability and ease of use of our products are competitive.  

 
GOVERNMENT REGULATION 

In the Clinical market, our products are regulated as medical device products by the FDA and comparable agencies of other 
countries. In particular, FDA regulations govern activities such as product development, product testing, product labeling, product 
storage, premarket clearance or approval, manufacturing, advertising, promotion, product sales, reporting of certain product failures 
and distribution. Some of our products, depending on their intended use, will require premarket approval (“PMA”) or 510(k) 
clearance from the FDA prior to marketing in the U.S. The 510(k) clearance process usually takes from three to four months from 
submission but can take longer. 

To date, we have received FDA clearance on Smart GBS, Xpert GBS, Xpert EV, Xpert MRSA, Xpert MRSA/SA-SSTI, Xpert 
MRSA/SA-BC, Xpert SA Nasal Complete, Xpert vanA, Xpert C. difficile and Xpert HemosIL Factor II, Factor V, as well as 
Emergency Use Authorization for the Xpert FluA Panel (during the authorization period in 2010). In addition, we have CE IVD-
marked products for sale in Europe for Xpert BCR/ABL, Xpert GBS, Xpert EV, Xpert MRSA, Xpert MRSA/SA-BC, Xpert 
MRSA/SA-SSTI, Xpert C. difficile, Xpert vanA/vanB, Xpert SA Nasal Complete, Xpert MTB/RIF and Xpert Flu Panel on the 
GeneXpert instrument. We also have CE IVD-marked products for Smart GBS, Epstein-Barr virus (“EBV”), cytomegalovirus 
(“CMV”) and varicella zoster virus (“VZV”) on the SmartCycler system. We have CE-IVD marked the GeneXpert system and 
SmartCycler system for IVD use in EU countries. 

For the Industrial and Biothreat markets, some of our products may not need FDA or other regulatory approval; however, all of 
our products are being produced under ISO 13485 and Quality System Regulations.  

 
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

We integrate capabilities in system design, development, production and DNA amplification technologies, along with design, 
development and manufacture of primers, probes, dyes, quenchers and other individual reagent components. We have and are 
continuing to develop our own proprietary intellectual property along with licensing specific third-party technologies. 

Our competitive success will be affected in part by our continued ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for our 
inventions, technologies and discoveries, including intellectual property that includes technologies that we license. We have patents 
covering technologies of our own and have licensed technologies from others. Our pending patent applications may lack priority 
over applications submitted by third parties or may not result in the issuance of patents. Even if issued, our patents may not be 
sufficiently broad to provide protection against competitors with similar technologies and may be challenged, invalidated or 
circumvented. 

In addition to patents, we rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyright and trademark laws, nondisclosure agreements, 
licenses and other contractual provisions and technical measures to maintain and develop our competitive position with respect to 
intellectual property. Nevertheless, these measures may not be adequate to safeguard the technology underlying our products. For 
example, employees, consultants and others who participate in the development of our products may breach their agreements with 
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us regarding our intellectual property, and we may not have adequate remedies for the breach. We also may not be able to 
effectively protect our intellectual property rights in some foreign countries, as many countries do not offer the same level of legal 
protection for intellectual property as the U.S. Furthermore, for a variety of reasons, we may decide not to file for patent, copyright 
or trademark protection outside of the U.S. Our trade secrets could become known through other unforeseen means. 
Notwithstanding our efforts to protect our intellectual property, our competitors may independently develop similar or alternative 
technologies or products that are equal or superior to our technology. Our competitors may also develop similar products without 
infringing on any of our intellectual property rights or design around our proprietary technologies. Furthermore, any efforts to 
enforce our proprietary rights could result in disputes and legal proceedings that could be costly and divert attention from our 
business. We could also be subject to third-party claims that we require additional licenses for our products, and such claims could 
interfere with our business. From time to time, third parties have contacted us regarding their intellectual property, whether to 
license intellectual property, or in some instances, alleging potential infringement. If our products infringe the intellectual property 
rights of others, we could face costly litigation, which could cause us to pay substantial damages and limit our ability to sell some or 
all of our products. Even if our products were determined not to infringe the intellectual property rights of others, we could incur 
substantial costs in defending any such claims. Please refer to Item 3 “Legal Proceedings” for a discussion of current litigation 
surrounding intellectual property rights. 

We hold an exclusive license to key technologies from Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory (“LLNL”) related to thermal 
cycling with integrated optical detection. This license is limited to the fields of nucleic acid analysis and ligand binding tests and 
contains diligence and U.S. preference provisions. These technologies have resulted in three issued U.S. patents and two pending 
international patent families. The LLNL technologies are the basis of our I-CORE module and encompass the key I-CORE features. 

In April 2004, we entered into a patent license agreement with Applera Corporation (“Applera”) for a non-exclusive worldwide 
license to make, use, and sell our products incorporating technology covered by Applera patents. In June 2006, the patent license 
agreement was expanded to include additional products. The Applera patents that we license expire in the U.S in May of 2011, and 
in Europe the patents expire in April of 2012. 

In July 2004, we entered into an agreement with Roche that provides us with rights under a broad range of Roche patents, which 
include patents relating to the PCR process, reverse transcription-based methods, nucleic acid quantification methods, real-time 
PCR detection process and composition, and patents relating to methods for detection of viral and cancer targets. A number of the 
Roche patents that we license expired in the U.S. in August of 2010 and in Europe those patents will expire in August 2011. 

In September 2006, we entered into a sublicense agreement with Abbott, pursuant to which Abbott granted us a non-exclusive, 
world-wide, non-transferable right to Abbott’s exclusive license to certain patents from the Baylor College of Medicine. Under the 
sublicense agreement, we will be able to make, use, distribute and sell products incorporating the patented technology generally 
characterized as multiple genomic DNA amplification. In September 2006, we also entered into a license agreement with Abbott, 
pursuant to which Abbott granted us a non-exclusive, world-wide, non-transferable right to a certain Abbott patent. Under the 
license agreement, we will be able to make, use, distribute and sell products incorporating the patented technology generally 
characterized as detection of cervical chlamydia trachomatis infection. 

In January 2007, we entered into a sublicense agreement with bioMerieux SA, pursuant to which bioMerieux SA granted us a 
non-exclusive, worldwide, irrevocable sublicense to certain patents that relate to the diagnosis of MRSA. The patents are owned by 
Kainos Laboratories Inc. and Professor Keiichi Hiramatsu and have been exclusively licensed to bioMerieux SA with the right for 
bioMerieux SA to sublicense. Under the sublicense agreement, and subject to certain limitations set forth therein, we will be able to 
use the licensed rights to develop and sell products for use with our GeneXpert and SmartCycler systems.  

We intend to actively pursue acquisitions of additional molecular markers and/or complementary products, technologies or 
companies in the fields of oncology, infectious diseases and other fields appropriate for molecular diagnostics. Under this program, 
we made our first significant technology acquisition during 2006 in the emerging field of micro RNA technology. We have 
identified microRNA sequences that are not in the public miRBase database of microRNA’s. We are using a database of these 
microRNA sequences, combined with the microRNA sequences in the public miRBase to evaluate diagnostic panels for various 
cancers and infectious diseases. This research is expected to lead to specific potential test opportunities in the cancer and infectious 
disease areas. We have recently filed patent applications on lung cancer assays based on microRNA’s. 

 
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

In 2010, the Company completed acquisitions of certain assets of two companies. Acquisitions are approximately 1% of total 
assets for each respective period presented. 

 
EMPLOYEES 

As of December 31, 2010, we had 576 full-time equivalent employees worldwide. At December 31, 2010, none of our U.S. 
employees were represented by a labor union. Many of our employees in Sweden are under a collective bargaining agreement. We 
consider our employee relations to be good. 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

The names of our executive officers and their ages, titles and biographies as of February 7, 2011 appear below:  

The following table and discussion set forth certain information with regard to our current executive officers. 

                             

John L. Bishop. Mr. Bishop joined us as Chief Executive Officer and as a director in April 2002. Mr. Bishop served as President 
and a director of Vysis, Inc., a genomic disease management company that was acquired by Abbott, from 1993 to 2002 and as Chief 
Executive Officer from 1996 to 2002. From 1991 until 1993, Mr. Bishop was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of MicroProbe 
Corporation, a biotechnology company, and, from 1987 until 1991, of Source Scientific Systems, a biomedical instrument 
manufacturing company. From 1984 to 1986, Mr. Bishop was President and Chief Operating Officer of Gen-Probe From 1968 to 
1984, Mr. Bishop held various management positions with American Hospital Supply Company and its affiliates, including a three-
year assignment in Japan as an Executive Vice President and Chief Executive Officer of International Reagents Corp., a joint 
venture between American Hospital Supply Company and Green Cross Corporation. Mr. Bishop currently serves as a director of 
Conceptus, Inc. In addition, he is a member of the AdvaMed Dx Board. 

Nicolaas ('Nico') Arnold. Mr. Arnold joined us as our Executive Vice President, Worldwide Commercial Operations in October 
2009. Prior to joining us, Mr. Arnold was Regional Vice President for Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics in Northwest Europe, 
responsible for molecular diagnostics, central lab and point of care sales, from December 2007 to October 2009 and, prior to that, 
Managing Director of European Sales for Siemens Medical Diagnostics from January 2007 to December 2007. From February 1998 
to January 2007, he was the Vice President of Global Marketing and U.S. Sales at Diagnostic Products Corporation, a manufacturer 
of immuno-diagnostic tests, which was acquired by Siemens Medical Solutions in July 2006. 

Russel K. Enns, Ph.D. Dr. Enns was promoted to Senior Vice President, Chief Regulatory Officer in May 2010, and was our 
Senior Vice President, Regulatory, Clinical & Government Affairs & Quality Systems from April 2004 until May 2010, after 
having joined us in June 2003 as Vice President, Regulatory, Clinical & Government Affairs & Quality Systems. Prior to joining 
Cepheid, Dr. Enns was an Abbott Divisional Vice President for Regulatory and Clinical Affairs, Quality Systems, and Medical 
Reimbursement from 2001 to 2003 at the Vysis Division. From 1995 to 2001, Dr. Enns was Vice President at Vysis, Inc., a 
genomic disease management company, was acquired by Abbott in 2001. Before joining Vysis, he was Vice President, Technical 
Affairs of MicroProbe Corporation, a biotechnology company, from 1992 to 1995. Before joining MicroProbe Corporation, he was 
Director of Product Development, Clinical Programs and Technical Affairs at Gen-Probe, Inc., a biotechnology diagnostic 
company, from 1984 to 1992. From 1979 to 1984, Dr. Enns was the Director of Cell Biology at Alpha Therapeutics Corporation, 
and from 1975 to 1979 he was a Senior Biochemist at Monsanto Corporation. He received his Ph.D. in Biochemistry from 
University of California at Davis in 1976. Dr. Enns is a charter member and past chair of the Clinical and Laboratory Standards 
Institute (“CLSI”) Area Committee on Molecular Methods, and he is currently a member of the CLSI Board of Directors serving his 
second term.  

Andrew D. Miller. Mr. Miller joined us in April 2008 as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining 
Cepheid, Mr. Miller was Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer for Autodesk, an enterprise software company, 
from March 2005 to April 2008 and Vice President of Finance and Corporate Controller from May 2003 to March 2005. At 
Autodesk, he was responsible for global accounting and compliance operations. Before joining Autodesk, from 2000 to 2003, Mr. 
Miller was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for MarketFirst Software, Inc., a leading provider of enterprise 
marketing automation software. Prior to MarketFirst, Mr. Miller served as Vice President of Worldwide Finance for Cadence 
Design Systems, Vice President of Finance and Corporate Controller for Adaptive Broadband Corporation, and held senior financial 
roles for Silicon Graphics, Inc. Mr. Miller was a Certified Public Accountant.  

 

 

Name  Age Position  
John L. Bishop 66 Chief Executive Officer and Director  
Nicolaas (‘Nico’) Arnold  59 Executive Vice President, Worldwide Commercial Operations 
Russel K. Enns, Ph.D. 62 Senior Vice President, Chief Regulatory Officer 
Andrew D. Miller 50 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
David H. Persing, M.D., Ph.D. 55 Executive Vice President and Chief Medical and Technology Officer and Director 
Humberto Reyes 65 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer 
Joseph H. Smith 66 Senior Vice President, Business Development and General Counsel 
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David H. Persing, M.D., Ph.D. Dr. Persing first joined us as a director in May 2004, and became our Executive Vice President 
and Chief Medical and Technology Officer in August 2005. From 1999 to 2005, Dr. Persing was Senior Vice President and Chief 
Scientific Officer at Corixa Corporation, a Seattle-based biotechnology company, until its acquisition by GlaxoSmithKline. From 
1990 to 1999 he was a member of the Clinical and Research Faculty of the Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota where he 
conducted research on hepatitis viruses, tick-borne infections and molecular diagnostics. In 1992 he founded and directed the 
Molecular Microbiology Laboratory at Mayo Clinic. He has authored over 240 peer-reviewed articles and served as Editor in Chief 
for four textbooks on Molecular Diagnostics, the most recent of which was published by ASM press in October 2010. 

Humberto Reyes. Mr. Reyes joined us as Senior Vice President of Operations in November 2004, became our Executive Vice 
President, Operations in November 2006 and became our Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer in May 2008. Prior to 
joining Cepheid, Mr. Reyes was an Operations Consultant with Brownsboro Group, LLC. from 2003 to 2004. Prior to joining 
Brownsboro, Mr. Reyes was a Senior Operations Consultant for EXPERTech Associates, consulting in medical devices and biotech 
industries from 2001 to 2003. Prior to that, he was Head of Operations for OXIS Health Products Inc., which developed, 
manufactured and marketed products for oxidative research and wellness programs from 1997 to 2001. He is an experienced 
operations executive with more than 25 years of progressive management experience in the diagnostic and related industries. Mr. 
Reyes’ work experience also includes Vice President, Operations, Dade Diagnostics at Baxter; Vice President/General Manager, 
Chromatography Division, Varian and Associates; and Sr. Vice President, Operations, Microgenics Corporation.  

Joseph H. Smith. Mr. Smith joined us in June 2003 as Vice President, General Counsel and has served as our Senior Vice 
President of Business Development and General Counsel since April 2004. He has been Secretary of the Corporation since March 
2004. From 1989 to 2002, Mr. Smith was Vice President of Intellectual Property at Applied Biosystems (now Life Technologies 
Corporation) and its predecessors, a biotechnology research equipment company, and from 2002 to 2003 was its Senior Vice 
President for Business Development. Prior to Applied Biosystems, Mr. Smith was a partner in the law firm of Wiseman, Jones, and 
Smith; and prior to that he was a member of the Technical Legal Department of Hewlett-Packard.  

 
AVAILABLE INFORMATION 

Our website is located at www.cepheid.com. We make available free of charge on our web site our Annual Reports on Form 10-
K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we 
electronically file them with or furnish them to the SEC. Information contained on our web site is not part of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC. The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s 
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the 
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy 
and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. 

The charters of our Audit Committee, our Compensation Committee and our Nominating/Governance Committee, are available 
on the Investor Relations section of our website under “Corporate Governance”. Also available on that section of our website is our 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which we expect every employee, officer, director, staffing agency worker and consultant to 
read, understand and abide by. This information is also available by writing to us at the address on the cover of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information included in 
this Report, in considering our business and prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us. 
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business 
operations. The occurrence of any of the following risks could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.  

 
We have a history of operating losses and may not achieve profitability for 2011.  

We have incurred operating losses in each fiscal year since our inception. We experienced net losses of approximately $22.4 
million in 2008, $22.5 million in 2009 and $5.9 million in 2010. We may achieve profitability for 2011. As of December 31, 2010, 
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $208.2 million. Our ability to become profitable for 2011 will likely depend on our 
ability to continue to increase our revenues, which is subject to a number of factors including our ability to continue to successfully 
penetrate the Clinical market, our ability to successfully market the GeneXpert system and develop additional effective GeneXpert 
tests, continued growth in sales of our HAI and other tests, the extent of our participation in the USPS BDS program and the 
operating parameters of the USPS BDS program, which will affect the rate of our consumable products sold, our ability to compete 
effectively against current and future competitors, the development of our HBDC sales programs, and global economic and political 
conditions. Our ability to become profitable for 2011 also depends on our expense levels and product gross margin, which are also 
influenced by a number of factors, including the resources we devote to developing and supporting our products, the continued 
progress of our research and development of potential products, the ability to gain FDA clearance for our new products, our ability 
to improve manufacturing efficiencies, license fees or royalties we may be required to pay and the potential need to acquire licenses 
to new technology or to use our technology in new markets, which could require us to pay unanticipated license fees and royalties 
in connection with these licenses. Our expansion efforts may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not 
succeed in increasing our revenues to offset higher expenses. These expenses, among other things, may cause our net income and 
working capital to decrease. If we fail to grow our revenue, manage our expenses and improve our product gross margin, we may 
not achieve profitability. If we fail to do so, the market price of our common stock will likely decline.  

 
The current uncertainty in global economic conditions makes it particularly difficult to predict product demand and other 
related matters, and makes it more likely that our actual results could differ materially from expectations.  

Our operations and performance depend on global economic conditions, which have been adversely impacted by the global 
macroeconomic downturn. These conditions have and may continue to make it difficult for our customers and potential customers 
to accurately forecast and plan future business activities, and have caused our customers and potential customers to slow or reduce 
spending, particularly for systems. Furthermore, during economic uncertainty, our customers have experienced and may continue to 
experience issues gaining timely access to sufficient credit, which could result in their unwillingness to purchase products or an 
impairment of their ability to make timely payments to us. If that were to continue to occur, we may experience decreased sales, be 
required to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts and our days sales outstanding would be negatively impacted. Even with 
economic recovery, it may take time for our customers to establish new budgets and return to normal purchasing patterns. We 
cannot predict the reoccurrence of any economic slowdown or the strength or sustainability of the economic recovery, worldwide, 
in the U.S. or in our industry. These and other economic factors could have a material adverse effect on demand for our products 
and on our financial condition and operating results. 

 
Our operating results may fluctuate significantly and any failure to meet financial expectations may result in a decline in our 
stock price. 

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate in the future as a result of many factors, such as those described elsewhere in this 
section, many of which are beyond our control. Because our revenue and operating results are difficult to predict, we believe that 
period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not a good indicator of our future performance. Our operating results 
may be affected by the inability of some of our customers to consummate anticipated purchases of our products, whether due to 
adverse economic conditions, changes in internal priorities or, in the case of governmental customers, problems with the 
appropriations process and variability and timing of orders, changes in procedures or protocols with respect to testing or 
manufacturing inefficiencies. If revenue declines in a quarter, whether due to a delay in recognizing expected revenue, adverse 
economic conditions, and unexpected costs or otherwise, our results of operations will be harmed because many of our expenses are 
relatively fixed. In particular, research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses are not 
significantly affected by variations in revenue. If our quarterly operating results fail to meet or exceed the expectations of securities 
analysts or investors, our stock price could drop suddenly and significantly.  
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Our sales cycle can be lengthy, which can cause variability and unpredictability in our operating results. 

The sales cycles for our systems products can be lengthy, particularly during uncertain economic conditions, which makes it 
more difficult for us to accurately forecast revenues in a given period, and may cause revenues and operating results to vary 
significantly from period to period. For example, sales of our products involving our corporate accounts within the Clinical market 
and those within the Industrial market often involve purchasing decisions by large public and private institutions, and any purchases 
can require many levels of pre-approval. In addition, certain Industrial sales may depend on these institutions receiving research 
grants from various federal agencies, which grants vary considerably from year to year in both amount and timing due to the 
political process. As a result, we may expend considerable resources on unsuccessful sales efforts or we may not be able to 
complete transactions on the schedule anticipated.  

 
If we cannot successfully commercialize our products, our business could be harmed.  

If our tests for use on our systems do not gain continued market acceptance, we will be unable to generate significant sales, 
which will prevent us from achieving profitability. While we have received FDA clearance for a number of tests, these products 
may not continue to experience increased sales. Many factors may affect the market acceptance and commercial success of our 
products, including:  

• timely expansion of our menu of tests and reagents;  
• the results of clinical trials needed to support any regulatory approvals of our tests;  
• our ability to obtain requisite FDA or other regulatory clearances or approvals for our tests under development on a 

timely basis;  
• demand for the tests and reagents we introduce;  
• the timing of market entry for various tests for the GeneXpert and the SmartCycler systems;  
• our ability to convince our potential customers of the advantages and economic value of our systems and tests over 

competing technologies and products;  
• the breadth of our test menu relative to competitors; 
• changes to policies, procedures or what are considered best practices in clinical diagnostics, including practices for 

detecting and preventing HAIs; 
• the extent and success of our marketing and sales efforts;  
• the functionality of new products that address market requirements and customer demands; 
• level of reimbursement for our products by third-party payers; and 
• publicity concerning our systems and tests.  

In particular, we believe that the success of our business will depend in large part on our ability to continue to increase sales of 
our Xpert tests and our ability to introduce additional tests for the Clinical market. We believe that successfully expanding our 
business in the Clinical market is critical to our long-term goals and success. We have limited ability to forecast future demand for 
our products in this market. In addition, we have committed substantial funds to licenses that are required for us to compete in the 
Clinical market. If we cannot successfully penetrate the Clinical market to fully exploit these licenses, these investments may not 
yield significant returns, which could harm our business.  

 
Regulations applicable to our products and operations are expensive, time-consuming, and uncertain and may prevent us from 
obtaining required approvals for the commercialization of some of our products. 

In the Clinical market, our products are regulated as medical device products by the FDA and comparable agencies of other 
countries. In particular, FDA regulations govern activities such as product development, product testing, product labeling, product 
storage, premarket clearance or approval, manufacturing, advertising, promotion, product sales, reporting of certain product failures 
and distribution. Some of our products, depending on their intended use, will require premarket approval (“PMA”) or 510(k) 
clearance from the FDA prior to marketing. The 510(k) clearance process usually takes from three to four months from submission 
but can take longer. The PMA process is much more costly, lengthy and uncertain and generally takes from six months to one year 
or longer from submission. Clinical trials are generally required to support both PMA and 510(k) submissions. Certain of our 
products for use on our GeneXpert and SmartCycler systems, when used for clinical purposes, may require PMA, and all such tests 
will most likely, at a minimum, require 510(k) clearance. We are planning clinical trials for other proposed products. Clinical trials 
are expensive and time-consuming. In addition, the commencement or completion of any clinical trials may be delayed or halted for 
any number of reasons, including product performance, changes in intended use, changes in medical practice and the opinion of 
evaluator Institutional Review Boards. Additionally, since 2009, the FDA has significantly increased the scrutiny applied to its 
oversight of companies subject to its regulations, including 510(k) submissions, by hiring new investigators and increasing 
inspections of manufacturing facilities.  

 

 

13



14 
 

Failure to comply with the applicable requirements can result in, among other things, warning letters, administrative or judicially 
imposed sanctions such as injunctions, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, refusal 
to grant premarket clearance or PMA for devices, withdrawal of marketing clearances or approvals, or criminal prosecution. With 
regard to future products for which we seek 510(k) clearance or PMA from the FDA, any failure or material delay to obtain such 
clearance or approval could harm our business. If the FDA were to disagree with our regulatory assessment and conclude that 
approval or clearance is necessary to market the products, we could be forced to cease marketing the products and seek approval or 
clearance. With regard to those future products for which we will seek 510(k) clearance or PMA from the FDA, any failure or 
material delay to obtain such clearance or approval could harm our business. In addition, it is possible that the current regulatory 
framework could change or additional regulations could arise at any stage during our product development or marketing, which 
may adversely affect our ability to obtain or maintain approval of our products and could harm our business.  

Comprehensive healthcare reform legislation, signed into law on March 23, 2010, imposes stringent compliance, recordkeeping, 
and reporting requirements on companies in various sectors of the life sciences industry with which we may need to comply and 
enhanced penalties for non-compliance with the new healthcare regulations. Complying with new regulations may divert 
management resources, and inadvertent failure to comply with new regulations may result in penalties being imposed on us. The 
impact and durability of this legislation, in its current form, remains unclear, and costs of compliance with this legislation, or any 
future amendments thereto, could result in certain risks and expenses that we may have to assume. Various healthcare reform 
proposals have also emerged at the state level, and it is unclear which, if any, of these proposals will be enacted and what impact 
any resulting laws would have on our operations. 

Our manufacturing facilities located in Sunnyvale, California, Bothell, Washington, Bromma and Solna, Sweden, where we 
assemble and produce the GeneXpert and SmartCycler systems, cartridges and other molecular diagnostic kits and reagents, are 
subject to periodic regulatory inspections by the FDA and other federal and state and foreign regulatory agencies. For example, 
these facilities are subject to Quality System Regulations (“QSR”) of the FDA and are subject to annual inspection and licensing by 
the States of California and Washington and European regulatory agencies. If we fail to maintain these facilities in accordance with 
the QSR requirements, international quality standards or other regulatory requirements, our manufacturing process could be 
suspended or terminated, which would prevent us from being able to provide products to our customers in a timely fashion and 
therefore harm our business. 

 
The federal medical device tax by the U.S. government could adversely affect our business, profitability and stock price.  

The comprehensive healthcare reform legislation includes an annual excise tax on the sale of medical devices equal to 2.3% of 
the price of the device, starting on January 1, 2013, which we believe will include all of our Clinical products sold in the U.S. The 
exact impact of this excise tax is not currently clear. We may seek to pass this tax onto our customers. If we are unsuccessful, our 
future operating results could be harmed, which in turn could cause the price of our stock to decline. Additionally, because of the 
uncertainty surrounding these issues, the impact of this tax has not been reflected in our forward guidance. 

 
We rely on licenses of key technology from third parties and may require additional licenses for many of our new product 
candidates. 

We rely on third-party licenses to be able to sell many of our products, and we could lose these third-party licenses for a number 
of reasons, including, for example, early terminations of such agreements due to breaches or alleged breaches by either party to the 
agreement. If we are unable to enter into a new agreement for licensed technologies, either on terms that are acceptable to us or at 
all, we may be unable to sell some of our products or access some geographic or industry markets. We also need to introduce new 
products and product features in order to market our products to a broader customer base and grow our revenues, and many new 
products and product features could require us to obtain additional licenses and pay additional license fees and royalties. 
Furthermore, for some markets, we intend to manufacture reagents and tests for use on our systems. We believe that manufacturing 
reagents and developing tests for our systems is important to our business and growth prospects but may require additional licenses, 
which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our ability to develop, manufacture and sell products, and 
our strategic plans and growth, could be impaired if we are unable to obtain these licenses or if these licenses are terminated or 
expire and cannot be renewed. We may not be able to obtain or renew licenses for a given product or product feature or for some 
reagents on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Furthermore, some of our competitors have rights to technologies and reagents 
that we do not have which may put us at a competitive disadvantage in certain circumstances and could adversely affect our 
performance.  

 
Our participation in the USPS BDS program may not result in predictable revenues in the future. 

Our participation in the USPS BDS program involves significant uncertainties related to governmental decision-making and 
timing of deployment and is highly sensitive to changes in national priorities and budgets. Budgetary pressures may result in 
reduced allocations to projects such as the BDS program, sometimes without advance notice. We cannot be certain that actual 
funding and operating parameters, or product purchases, will occur at currently expected levels or in the currently expected 
timeframe. 

 

14



15 
 

We may face risks associated with acquisitions of companies, products and technologies, and our business could be harmed if 
we are unable to address these risks. 

If we are presented with appropriate opportunities, we intend to acquire or make other investments in complementary 
companies, products or technologies. We may not realize the anticipated benefit of any acquisition or investment. We will likely 
face risks, uncertainties and disruptions associated with the integration process, including difficulties in the integration of the 
operations and services of an acquired company, integration of acquired technology with our products, diversion of our 
management’s attention from other business concerns, the potential loss of key employees or customers of the acquired businesses 
and impairment charges if future acquisitions are not as successful as we originally anticipate. If we fail to successfully integrate 
other companies, products or technologies that we acquire, our business could be harmed. Furthermore, we may have to incur debt 
or issue equity securities to pay for any additional future acquisitions or investments, the issuance of which could be dilutive to our 
existing shareholders. In addition, our operating results may suffer because of acquisition-related costs or amortization expenses or 
charges relating to acquired intangible assets.  

 
If we are unable to manufacture our products in sufficient quantities and in a timely manner, our operating results will be 
harmed and our ability to generate revenue could be diminished. 

Our revenues and other operating results will depend in large part on our ability to manufacture and assemble our products in 
sufficient quantities and in a timely manner. Any interruptions we experience in the manufacturing or shipping of our products 
could delay our ability to recognize revenues in a particular quarter. Manufacturing problems can and do arise, and as demand for 
our products increases, any such problems could have an increasingly significant impact on our operating results. In the past, we 
have experienced problems and delays in production that have impacted our product yield and caused delays in our ability to ship 
finished products, and we may experience such delays in the future. We may not be able to react quickly enough to ship products 
and recognize anticipated revenues for a given period if we experience significant delays in the manufacturing process. In addition, 
we must maintain sufficient production capacity in order to minimize such delays, which carries fixed costs that we may not be able 
to offset if orders slow, which would adversely affect our operating margins. If we are unable to manufacture our products 
consistently, in sufficient quantities, and on a timely basis, our revenues from product sales, gross margins and our other operating 
results will be materially and adversely affected. 

 
If certain single source suppliers fail to deliver key product components in a timely manner, our manufacturing ability would 
be impaired and our product sales could suffer. 

We depend on several single source suppliers that supply some of the components used in the manufacture of our systems and 
our disposable reaction tubes and cartridges. Strategic purchases of components are necessary for our business. If we need 
alternative sources for key component parts for any reason, these component parts may not be immediately available to us. If 
alternative suppliers are not immediately available, we will have to identify and qualify alternative suppliers, and production of 
these components may be delayed. We may not be able to find an adequate alternative supplier in a reasonable time period or on 
commercially acceptable terms, if at all. Shipments of affected products have been limited or delayed as a result of such problems in 
the past, and similar problems could occur in the future. In addition, many companies are experiencing financial difficulties as a 
result of the global economic slowdown. We cannot assure you that our suppliers will not be adversely affected by these conditions 
or that they will be able to continue to provide us with the components we need. Our inability to obtain our key source supplies for 
the manufacture of our products may require us to delay shipments of products, harm customer relationships or force us to curtail or 
cease operations.  

 
If certain of our products fail to obtain an adequate level of reimbursement from third-party payers, our ability to sell products 
in the Clinical market would be harmed. 

Our ability to sell our products in the Clinical market will depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement for tests using 
our products will be available from government health administration authorities, private health coverage insurers, managed care 
organizations, and other organizations. There are efforts by governmental and third-party payers to contain or reduce the costs of 
health care through various means, and the continuous growth of managed care, together with efforts to reform the health care 
delivery system in the U.S. and Europe, has increased pressure on health care providers and participants in the health care industry 
to reduce costs. Consolidation among health care providers and other participants in the healthcare industry has resulted in fewer, 
more powerful health care groups, whose purchasing power gives them cost containment leverage. Additionally, third-party payers 
are increasingly challenging the price of medical products and services. Furthermore, we are unable to predict what effect the 
current or any future healthcare reform will have on our business, or the effect these matters will have on our customers. If 
purchasers or users of our products are not able to obtain adequate reimbursement for the cost of using our products, they may 
forego or reduce their use. Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved health care products and 
whether adequate third-party coverage will be available.  

 
The life sciences industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change, if our competitors and potential 
competitors develop superior products and technologies, our competitive position and results of operations would suffer. 

We face intense competition from a number of companies that offer products in our target markets, some of which have 
substantially greater financial resources and larger, more established marketing, sales and service organizations than we do. These 
competitors include:  
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• companies developing and marketing sequence detection systems for industrial research products;  
• diagnostic and pharmaceutical companies;  
• companies developing drug discovery technologies; and 
• companies developing or offering biothreat detection technologies.  
 

Several companies provide systems and reagents for DNA amplification or detection. LIFE and Roche sell systems integrating 
DNA amplification and detection (sequence detection systems) to the commercial market. Roche, Abbott, BDC, Qiagen, GenProbe 
and Meridian sell sequence detection systems, some with separate robotic batch DNA purification systems and sell reagents to the 
Clinical market. Other companies, including Siemens, Hologic, and bioMerieux, offer molecular tests.  

The life sciences industry is characterized by rapid and continuous technological innovation. We may need to develop new 
technologies for our products to remain competitive. One or more of our current or future competitors could render our present or 
future products obsolete or uneconomical by technological advances. In addition, the introduction or announcement of new products 
by us or others could result in a delay of or decrease in sales of existing products, as we await regulatory approvals and as 
customers evaluate these new products. We may also encounter other problems in the process of delivering new products to the 
marketplace such as problems related to design, development or manufacturing of such products, and as a result we may be 
unsuccessful in selling such products. Our future success depends on our ability to compete effectively against current technologies, 
as well as to respond effectively to technological advances by developing and marketing products that are competitive in the 
continually changing technological landscape.  

 
If our products do not perform as expected or the reliability of the technology on which our products are based is questioned, 
we could experience lost revenue, delayed or reduced market acceptance of our products, increased costs and damage to our 
reputation. 

Our success depends on the market’s confidence that we can provide reliable, high-quality molecular test systems. We believe 
that customers in our target markets are likely to be particularly sensitive to product defects and errors. Our reputation and the 
public image of our products or technologies may be impaired if our products fail to perform as expected or our products are 
perceived as difficult to use. Despite testing, defects or errors could occur in our products or technologies. Furthermore, with 
respect to the BDS program, our products are incorporated into larger systems that are built and delivered by others; we cannot 
control many aspects of the final system.  

In the future, if our products experience a material defect or error, this could result in loss or delay of revenues, delayed market 
acceptance, damaged reputation, diversion of development resources, legal claims, increased insurance costs or increased service 
and warranty costs, any of which could harm our business. Such defects or errors could also prompt us to amend certain warning 
labels or narrow the scope of the use of our products, either of which could hinder our success in the market. Furthermore, any 
failure in the overall BDS, even if it is unrelated to our products, could harm our business. Even after any underlying concerns or 
problems are resolved, any widespread concerns regarding our technology or any manufacturing defects or performance errors in 
our products could result in lost revenue, delayed market acceptance, damaged reputation, increased service and warranty costs, and 
claims against us. 

 
If product liability lawsuits are successfully brought against us, we may face reduced demand for our products and incur 
significant liabilities. 

We face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims if our technologies or systems are alleged to have caused harm 
or do not perform in accordance with specifications, in part because our products are used for sensitive applications. We cannot be 
certain that we would be able to successfully defend any product liability lawsuit brought against us. Regardless of merit or 
eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in: 

• decreased demand for our products;  
• injury to our reputation;  
• costs of related litigation; and  
• substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs.  

Although we carry product liability insurance, if we become the subject of a successful product liability lawsuit, our insurance 
may not cover all substantial liabilities, which could harm our business. 

 
If our direct selling efforts for our products fail, our business expansion plans could suffer, and our ability to generate revenue 
will be diminished. 

We have a relatively small sales force compared to our competitors. If our direct sales force is not successful, or new additions 
to our sales team fail to gain traction among our customers, we may not be able to increase market awareness and sales of our 
products. If we fail to establish our systems in the marketplace, it could have a negative effect on our ability to sell subsequent 
systems and hinder the planned expansion of our business.  
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If our distributor relationships are not successful, our ability to market and sell our products would be harmed and our 
financial performance will be adversely affected.  

We depend on relationships with distributors for the marketing and sales of our products in the Industrial and Clinical markets in 
various geographic regions, and we have a limited ability to influence their efforts. We expect to continue to rely substantially on 
our distributor relationships for sales into other markets or geographic regions, which is key to our long-term growth potential. 
Relying on distributors for our sales and marketing could harm our business for various reasons, including:  

• agreements with distributors may terminate prematurely due to disagreements or may result in litigation between the 
partners;  

• we may not be able to renew existing distributor agreements on acceptable terms;  
• our distributors may not devote sufficient resources to the sale of products;  
• our distributors may be unsuccessful in marketing our products;  
• our existing relationships with distributors may preclude us from entering into additional future arrangements with 

other distributors; and 
• we may not be able to negotiate future distributor agreements on acceptable terms. 
 

We may be subject to third-party claims that require additional licenses for our products and we could face costly litigation, 
which could cause us to pay substantial damages and limit our ability to sell some or all of our products. 

Our industry is characterized by a large number of patents, claims of which appear to overlap in many cases. As a result, there is 
a significant amount of uncertainty regarding the extent of patent protection and infringement. Companies may have pending patent 
applications, which are typically confidential for the first eighteen months following filing, that cover technologies we incorporate 
in our products. Accordingly, we may be subjected to substantial damages for past infringement or be required to modify our 
products or stop selling them if it is ultimately determined that our products infringe a third party’s proprietary rights. Moreover, 
from time to time, we receive correspondence and other communications from companies that ask us to evaluate the need for a 
license of patents they hold, and indicating or suggesting that we need a license to their patents in order to offer our products and 
services or to conduct our business operations. For example, we are currently engaged in litigation as further described in Item 3 
“Legal Proceedings.” Even if we are successful in defending against claims, we could incur substantial costs in doing so. Any 
litigation related to this claim and others that may arise in the future of patent infringement could likely consume our resources and 
could lead to significant damages, royalty payments or an injunction on the sale of certain products. Any additional licenses to 
patented technology could obligate us to pay substantial additional royalties, which could adversely impact our product costs and 
harm our business.  

 
If we fail to maintain and protect our intellectual property rights, our competitors could use our technology to develop 
competing products and our business will suffer. 

Our competitive success will be affected in part by our continued ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for our 
inventions, technologies and discoveries, including our intellectual property that includes technologies that we license. Our ability 
to do so will depend on, among other things, complex legal and factual questions. We have patents related to some of our 
technology and have licensed some of our technology under patents of others. Our patents and licenses may not successfully 
preclude others from using our technology. Our pending patent applications may lack priority over applications submitted by third 
parties or may not result in the issuance of patents. Even if issued, our patents may not be sufficiently broad to provide protection 
against competitors with similar technologies and may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. 

In addition to patents, we rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyright and trademark laws, nondisclosure agreements, 
licenses and other contractual provisions and technical measures to maintain and develop our competitive position with respect to 
intellectual property. Nevertheless, these measures may not be adequate to safeguard the technology underlying our products. For 
example, employees, consultants and others who participate in the development of our products may breach their agreements with 
us regarding our intellectual property, and we may not have adequate remedies for the breach. We also may not be able to 
effectively protect our intellectual property rights in some foreign countries, as many countries do not offer the same level of legal 
protection for intellectual property as the U.S. Furthermore, for a variety of reasons, we may decide not to file for patent, copyright 
or trademark protection outside of the U.S. Our trade secrets could become known through other unforeseen means. 
Notwithstanding our efforts to protect our intellectual property, our competitors may independently develop similar or alternative 
technologies or products that are equal or superior to our technology. Our competitors may also develop similar products without 
infringing on any of our intellectual property rights or design around our proprietary technologies. Furthermore, any efforts to 
enforce our proprietary rights could result in disputes and legal proceedings that could be costly and divert attention from our 
business.  
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The U.S. Government has certain rights to use and disclose some of the intellectual property that we license and could 
exclusively license it to a third party if we fail to achieve practical application of the intellectual property. 

Aspects of the technology licensed by us under agreements with third party licensors may be subject to certain government 
rights. Government rights in inventions conceived or reduced to practice under a government-funded program may include a non-
exclusive, royalty-free worldwide license to practice or have practiced such inventions for any governmental purpose. In addition, 
the U.S. government has the right to require us or our licensors (as applicable) to grant licenses which would be exclusive under any 
of such inventions to a third party if they determine that: (1) adequate steps have not been taken to commercialize such inventions in 
a particular field of use; (2) such action is necessary to meet public health or safety needs; or (3) such action is necessary to meet 
requirements for public use under federal regulations. Further, the government rights include the right to use and disclose, without 
limitation, technical data relating to licensed technology that was developed in whole or in part at government expense. At least one 
of our technology license agreements contains a provision recognizing these government rights.  

 
We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, which would be expensive and, if we lose, may cause us to 
lose some, if not all, of our intellectual property rights, and thereby impair our ability to compete. 

We rely on patents to protect a large part of our intellectual property. To protect or enforce our patent rights, we may initiate 
patent litigation against third parties, such as infringement suits or interference proceedings. These lawsuits could be expensive, 
take significant time and divert management’s attention from other business concerns. They would also put our patents at risk of 
being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. We may also provoke these third parties 
to assert claims against us. Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the technology fields in which we operate is still evolving 
and, consequently, patent positions in our industry are generally uncertain. We cannot assure you that we would prevail in any of 
these suits or that the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, would be commercially valuable. During the course of these suits, 
there may be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions and other interim proceedings or developments in the 
litigation. Any public announcements related to these suits could cause our stock price to decline.  

 
Our international operations subject us to additional risks and costs.  

We conduct operations on a global basis. These operations are subject to a number of difficulties and special costs, including:  
• compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations;  
• laws and business practices favoring local competitors;  
• foreign exchange and currency risks;  
• difficulty in collecting accounts receivable or longer payment cycles;  
• import and export restrictions and tariffs;  
• difficulties staffing and managing foreign operations;  
• difficulties and expense in enforcing intellectual property rights;  
• business risks, including fluctuations in demand for our products and the cost and effort to conduct international 

operations and travel abroad to promote international distribution and overall global economic conditions;  
• multiple conflicting tax laws and regulations; and  
• political and economic instability.  

We intend to expand our international sales and marketing activities, including through our subsidiary in France and our direct 
sales force in the UK, France and the Benelux region, and enter into relationships with additional international distribution partners. 
We may not be able to attract international distribution partners that will be able to market our products effectively. 

Our international operations could also increase our exposure to international laws and regulations. If we cannot comply with 
foreign laws and regulations, which are often complex and subject to variation and unexpected changes, we could incur unexpected 
costs and potential litigation. For example, the governments of foreign countries might attempt to regulate our products and services 
or levy sales or other taxes relating to our activities. In addition, foreign countries may impose tariffs, duties, price controls or other 
restrictions on foreign currencies or trade barriers, any of which could make it more difficult for us to conduct our business.  
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The nature of some of our products may also subject us to export control regulation by the U.S. Department of State and the 
Department of Commerce. Violations of these regulations can result in monetary penalties and denial of export privileges. 

Our sales to customers outside the U.S. are subject to government export regulations that require us to obtain licenses to export 
such products internationally. If the U.S. government were to amend its export control regulations, such amendments could create 
uncertainty in our industry, result in increased costs of compliance, and further restrict our ability to sell our products abroad. In 
particular, we are required to obtain a new license for each purchase order of our biothreat products that are exported outside the 
U.S. Delays or denial of the grant of any required license, or changes to the regulations that make such delays or denials more likely 
or frequent, could make it difficult to make sales to foreign customers and could adversely affect our revenue. In addition, we could 
be subject to fines and penalties for violation of these export regulations if we were found in violation. Such violation could result 
in penalties, including prohibiting us from exporting our products to one or more countries, and could materially and adversely 
affect our business.  

 
If we fail to retain key members of our staff, our ability to conduct and expand our business would be impaired. 

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management and scientific staff. The loss of services of any of these 
persons could seriously harm our product development and commercialization efforts. In addition, we require skilled personnel in 
areas such as microbiology, clinical and sales, marketing and finance. We generally do not enter into employment agreements 
requiring these employees to continue in our employment for any period of time. Attracting, retaining and training personnel with 
the requisite skills remains challenging, particularly in the Silicon Valley area of California, where our main office is located. If at 
any point we are unable to hire, train and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees to match our growth, our ability to 
conduct and expand our business could be seriously reduced.  

 
If we become subject to claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of hazardous materials, we could incur 
significant cost and time to comply. 

Our research and development processes involve the controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials, including 
biological hazardous materials. We are subject to foreign, federal, state and local regulations governing the use, manufacture, 
storage, handling and disposal of materials and waste products. We may incur significant costs complying with both existing and 
future environmental laws and regulations. In particular, we are subject to regulation by the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (“OSHA”) and the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and to regulation under the Toxic Substances 
Control Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act in the U.S. OSHA or the EPA may adopt regulations that may affect 
our research and development programs. We are unable to predict whether any agency will adopt any regulations that would have a 
material adverse effect on our operations. 

The risk of accidental contamination or injury from hazardous materials cannot be eliminated completely. In the event of an 
accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result, and any liability could exceed the limits or fall outside the coverage of 
our workers’ compensation insurance. We may not be able to maintain insurance on acceptable terms, if at all.  

 
If a catastrophe strikes our manufacturing facilities, we may be unable to manufacture our products for a substantial amount 
of time and we would experience lost revenue. 

Our manufacturing facilities are located in Sunnyvale, California, Bothell, Washington, Bromma and Solna, Sweden. Although 
we have business interruption insurance, our facilities and some pieces of manufacturing equipment are difficult to replace and 
could require substantial replacement lead-time. Various types of disasters, including earthquakes, fires, floods and acts of 
terrorism, may affect our manufacturing facilities. Earthquakes are of particular significance since our primary manufacturing 
facilities in California are located in an earthquake-prone area. In the event our existing manufacturing facilities or equipment are 
affected by man-made or natural disasters, we may be unable to manufacture products for sale or meet customer demands or sales 
projections. If our manufacturing operations were curtailed or ceased, it would seriously harm our business.  

 
Failure to comply with covenants in our loan agreement with Silicon Valley Bank could result in our inability to borrow 
additional funds and adversely impact our business. 

 We have entered into a loan and security agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”). This loan 
agreement imposes numerous financial and other restrictive covenants on our operations, including covenants relating to our 
general profitability and our liquidity. We were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2010. If we violate these or 
any other covenants, any outstanding amounts under these agreements could become due and payable prior to their stated maturity 
dates, the bank could proceed against any collateral in our operating accounts and our ability to borrow funds in the future may be 
restricted or eliminated. These restrictions may also limit our ability to pursue business opportunities or strategies that we would 
otherwise consider to be in our best interests.  
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We might require additional capital to respond to business challenges or acquisitions, and such capital might not be available. 

We may need to engage in additional equity or debt financing, such as the loan agreement with SVB we entered into in June 
2010, to respond to business challenges or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Equity and debt financing, 
however, might not be available when needed or, if available, might not be available on terms satisfactory to us. In addition, to the 
extent that additional capital is raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of these securities could 
result in dilution to our shareholders. In addition, these securities may be sold at a discount from the market price of our common 
stock and may include rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our common stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate 
financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business 
challenges could be significantly limited.  

 
We rely on relationships with collaborative partners and other third parties for development, supply and marketing of certain 
products and potential products, and such collaborative partners or other third parties could fail to perform sufficiently. 

We believe that our success in penetrating our target markets depends in part on our ability to develop and maintain 
collaborative relationships with other companies. Relying on collaborative relationships is risky to our future success for these 
products because, among other things:  

• our collaborative partners may not devote sufficient resources to the success of our collaboration;  
• our collaborative partners may not obtain regulatory approvals necessary to continue the collaborations in a timely 

manner;  
• our collaborative partners may be acquired by another company and decide to terminate our collaborative partnership 

or become insolvent;  
• our collaborative partners may develop technologies or components competitive with our products;  
• components developed by collaborators could fail to meet specifications, possibly causing us to lose potential projects 

and subjecting us to liability;  
• disagreements with collaborators could result in the termination of the relationship or litigation;  
• collaborators may not have sufficient capital resources;  
• collaborators may pursue tests or other products that will not generate significant volume for us, but may consume 

significant research and development and manufacturing resources; and 
• we may not be able to negotiate future collaborative arrangements, or renewals of existing collaborative agreements, 

on acceptable terms.  

Because these and other factors may be beyond our control, the development or commercialization of these products may be 
delayed or otherwise adversely affected. 

If we or any of our collaborative partners terminate a collaborative arrangement, we may be required to devote additional 
resources to product development and commercialization or we may need to cancel some development programs, which could 
adversely affect our product pipeline and business.  

 
We enter into collaborations with third parties that may not result in the development of commercially viable products or the 
generation of significant future revenues. 

In the ordinary course of our business, we enter into collaborative arrangements to develop new products or to pursue new 
markets. These collaborations may not result in the development of products that achieve commercial success, and these 
collaborations could be terminated prior to developing any products. In addition, our collaboration partners may not necessarily 
purchase the volume of products that we expect. Accordingly, we cannot be assured that any of our collaborations will result in the 
successful development of a commercially viable product or result in significant additional future revenues in the future.  

 
Compliance with regulations governing public company corporate governance and reporting is complex and expensive. 

Many laws and regulations, notably those adopted in connection with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by the SEC and the 
NASDAQ Global Market, impose obligations on public companies, such as ours, which have increased the scope, complexity, and 
cost of corporate governance, reporting, and disclosure practices. Compliance with these reforms and enhanced new disclosures has 
required and will continue to require substantial management time and oversight and requires us to incur significant additional 
accounting and legal costs. Furthermore, on July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform 
and Consumer Protection Act of 2010. While this new law is primarily focused on bank reform and consumer protection, it also 
makes significant changes to corporate governance and executive compensation rules for public companies across all industries. 
The effects of this new law remain unclear and will likely require substantial management time and oversight and require us to 
incur significant additional accounting and legal costs. Additionally, changes to existing accounting rules or standards, such as the 
potential requirement that U.S. registrants prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, may adversely impact our reported financial results and business, and may further require us to incur greater accounting 
fees. 
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Our operating results could be materially affected by unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or exposure to additional 
income tax liabilities.  

Our determination of our tax liability (like any company’s determination of its tax liability) is subject to review by applicable tax 
authorities. Any adverse outcome of such a review could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. In 
addition, the determination of our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment including our 
determination of whether a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is required. Although we believe our estimates and 
judgments are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements and may 
materially affect our financial results in the period or periods for which such determination is made.  

 
Our stock price is highly volatile and investing in our stock involves a high degree of risk, which could result in substantial 
losses for investors. 

 The market price of our common stock, like the securities of many other medical products companies, fluctuates over a wide 
range, and will continue to be highly volatile in the future. During 2010, the closing sale price of our common stock on the 
NASDAQ Global Market ranged from $12.48 to $23.70 per share. Because our stock price has been volatile, investing in our 
common stock is risky. Furthermore, volatility in the stock price of other companies has often led to securities class action litigation 
against those companies. Any future securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert management’s 
attention and resources, which could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

In Sunnyvale, California, the base for our manufacturing, product support and research and development efforts, we lease 
approximately 76,000 square feet of office and laboratory space pursuant to a lease that expires in March 2015, approximately 
27,000 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease that expires in July 2012 and approximately 25,000 square feet of office and 
manufacturing space pursuant to a sublease that expires in October 2014. We also sublease approximately 44,000 square feet in 
Sunnyvale to support warehousing and distribution efforts pursuant to a sublease that expires in September 2015. In Bothell, 
Washington we sublease approximately 16,000 square feet of laboratory space for advanced chemistry research and development 
pursuant to a sublease that expires in August 2012. In addition, we lease cold storage space in Sunnyvale, California and office 
space in Illinois and Washington, D.C. 

Outside of Toulouse, France we own an approximately 32,000 square-foot building. In Bromma, Sweden we lease 
approximately 45,000 square feet of office and manufacturing space pursuant to a lease that expires in July 2011 and approximately 
2,000 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease that expires in September 2011. In April 2010, we began the planned multi-
year, phased occupancy of certain portions of our 129,000 square foot leased office and manufacturing facility in Solna, Sweden 
that expires in December 2020. In addition, we lease office space in Derby and Buckinghamshire, UK. 

During early 2011, we anticipate moving into an additional approximately 29,000 square feet of leased office and laboratory 
space in Sunnyvale and approximately 1,000 square feet of leased office space in Shanghai, China. We believe we will be able to 
obtain additional facilities space on commercially reasonable terms, if and when they are required. 

The Company believes its existing facilities and equipment are in good operating condition and are suitable for the conduct of its 
business. 

 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

On June 28, 2010, Abaxis, Inc. filed suit in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California against us, alleging that 
our Xpert MRSA product infringes U.S. Patent No. 5,413,732, U.S. Patent No. 5,624,597, U.S. Patent No. 5,776,563 and U.S. 
Patent No. 6,251,684. On July 12, 2010, we filed our response to the suit, denying Abaxis’ allegations of infringement and asked 
the Court to find Abaxis’ patents invalid and not infringed. On August 5, 2010, Abaxis filed its response to our answer and 
counterclaim. On November 19, 2010, Abaxis filed an amended complaint in which it added allegations that we breached a 
licensing contract for the above-referenced patents. On December 17, 2010, we answered Abaxis’ amended complaint, denying that 
we were in breach of the licensing contract and further amended our counterclaims against Abaxis. On January 14, 2011, Abaxis 
filed a motion to dismiss certain of our defenses and counterclaims. We believe that the possibility that this legal proceeding will 
result in a material adverse effect on our business is remote. 

On January 10, 2011, Troll Busters LLC filed suit in United States District Court for the Southern District of California against 
us and twelve other named defendants alleging that Cepheid falsely marked its Omnimix and 3-Agent Biothreat Assay products 
with expired patents owned by Roche Molecular Systems relating to certain PCR processes. Our initial deadline for answering this 
complaint is April 11, 2011. We believe that the possibility that this legal proceeding will result in a material adverse effect on our 
business is remote. 
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We may be subject to additional various claims, complaints and legal actions that arise from time to time in the normal course of 
business. Other than as described above, we do not believe we are party to any currently pending legal proceedings that will result 
in a material adverse effect on our business. There can be no assurance that existing or future legal proceedings arising in the 
ordinary course of business or otherwise will not have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows.  

 
ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED) 

Not Applicable. 

22



23 
 

PART II 
 
ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 

PURCHASES OF THE EQUITY SECURITIES 
 

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK 

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol CPHD. The high and low sale prices for our 
common stock for each quarter of our two most recent fiscal years, as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, were as 
follows: 

 

High Low 
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2010        

First Quarter $19.56 $12.38 
   Second Quarter 21.02   15.94 

Third Quarter 19.81 13.81 
   Fourth Quarter 23.99   17.45 
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2009  
   First Quarter $10.81   $4.93 

Second Quarter 11.05 6.23 
   Third Quarter 15.00   8.26 

Fourth Quarter 15.98 11.93 
 

  

On February 7, 2011, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was $ 24.70 per 
share. On February 7, 2011, there were approximately 131 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of 
shareholders is greater than the number of record holders, and includes shareholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares 
are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. The number of holders of record also does not include shareholders whose 
shares may be held in trust by other entities. 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. Under our SVB Loan Agreement, if we were to pay 
dividends, it must be in the form of common stock. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, for development of our 
business and, therefore, do not anticipate that we will declare or pay cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. 

 
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION 

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2010. All outstanding  
awards relate to our common stock. 

 

 
   

(1) The number of securities remaining available for future issuance in column (c) includes 1,081,203 shares of common stock 
authorized and available for issuance under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The number of shares authorized 
for issuance under the ESPP is subject to an annual increase equal to the lesser of (i) 200,000 shares, (ii) 0.75% of the 
outstanding shares on the date of the annual increase or (iii) an amount determined by the Board of Directors. The number 
of securities to be issued to participants in column (a) does not include shares of common stock to be issued to participants 
in consideration of aggregate participant contributions under the ESPP as of December 31, 2010. 

 
Number of 
Securities 

Number of Remaining 
Securities to Available for 

be Issued Future Issuances 
upon under Equity 

Exercise of Weighted Average Compensation 
Outstanding Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding 

Options, Outstanding Securities 
Warrants Options, Warrants Reflected in 

Plan Category and Rights and Rights Column (a)) 
(a) (b) (c) 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1)(2)(3) 9,314,200 $                12.99 3,280,951 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 200,000 $                14.93 — 
Total 9,514,200 $                13.03 3,280,951 
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(2) We issue securities under our 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (“2006 Plan”) in forms other than options, warrants or rights. We 
may issue stock awards, including but not limited to restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock bonus awards, 
stock appreciation rights and performance share awards. Under the 2006 Plan, non-employee directors are automatically 
granted options to purchase 18,750 shares of common stock and restricted stock units covering 2,100 shares of common 
stock upon initial election or appointment to the Board. On the date of the first Board meeting following each annual 
shareholder meeting each non-employee director then in office for longer than six months will automatically be granted 
options to purchase 9,375 shares of common stock and restricted stock units covering 1,050 shares of common stock. The 
Board may also make discretionary grants to purchase common stock to any non-employee director. Under the terms of our 
2006 Plan, each award other than a stock option or stock appreciation right will reduce the number of shares remaining 
available for future issuance in column (c) by 1.75 shares for each share subject to such award. 

 

(3) We have made awards of restricted stock under our 2006 Plan in forms which do not require a payment by the recipient to 
us at the time of exercise or vesting. Accordingly, the weighted average exercise price in column (b) does not take these 
awards into consideration. 

 

STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH 
 

The graph below matches Cepheid's cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on common stock with the cumulative total 
returns of the NASDAQ Composite index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 
investment in our common stock and in each of the indexes (with the reinvestment of all dividends) from 12/31/2005 to 
12/31/2010.  
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Cepheid, the NASDAQ Composite Index

and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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*$100 invested on 12/31/05 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

        
    12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09 12/10 
        
Cepheid  100.00 96.81 300.11 118.22 142.14 259.11 
NASDAQ Composite  100.00 111.74 124.67 73.77 107.12 125.93 
NASDAQ Biotechnology  100.00 99.71 103.09 96.34 106.49 114.80 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following selected consolidated financial data have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The 
information below is not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations, and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K and the 
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K in order to fully understand 
factors that may affect the comparability of the information presented below. 

 

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues:

Product sales 206,876$ 165,185$ 159,383$ 116,532$ 82,403$   
Other revenues 5,592     5,442     10,244    12,941    4,949     

Total revenues 212,468   170,627   169,627   129,473   87,352     
Cost of product sales 105,135   95,542     89,714     69,851     49,519     
Gross profit on product sales 107,333   75,085     79,913     59,622     37,833     
Loss from operations (5,344)     (23,366)   (23,650)   (25,164)   (30,986)   
Net loss (5,917)     (22,502)   (22,387)   (22,100)   (26,704)   

Basic and diluted net loss per common share (0.10)$     (0.39)$     (0.39)$     (0.40)$     (0.51)$     

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share 59,712     58,206     57,101     55,263     52,325     

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data)

 
 

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, investments and put option 79,538$   60,717$   48,017$   44,026$   94,936$   
Working capital 95,565     60,852     32,211     56,109     90,362     
Total assets 220,611   198,126   183,979   162,778   165,871   
Short-term obligations:
     Bank borrowing -          14,618     14,639     -          -          
     Current portion of note payable 1,679       108          -          -          -          
     Current portion of deferred revenue 8,207       2,923       2,834       3,728       3,913       
Long-term obligations:
     Note payable, less current portion 4,991       732          -          2              44            
    Deferred revenue, less current portion 4,057       2,279       1,753       2,054       2,663       
Accumulated deficit (208,182) (202,265) (179,763) (157,376) (135,276) 
Total shareholders’ equity 153,662   127,566   128,824   124,468   130,916   

December 31,

(In thousands)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF  
OPERATIONS 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 that relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking 
statements by terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “intend”, 
“potential,” “project” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Forward-looking 
statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of events 
could differ materially from those anticipated in our forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including, but not 
limited to, the following: changes in the protocols, best practices or level of testing for HAI; testing volume for our other products; 
development and manufacturing problems; the need for additional intellectual property licenses for new tests and other products 
and the terms of such licenses; the environment for capital spending by hospitals and other customers for our diagnostic 
instruments; our ability to successfully sell additional products in the Clinical market; lengthy sales cycles in certain markets; the 
performance and market acceptance of our new products; our ability to obtain regulatory approvals and introduce new products 
into the Clinical market; our ability to respond to changing laws and regulations affecting our industry and changing enforcement 
practices related thereto; the level of testing at existing clinical customer sites; the mix of products sold, which can affect gross 
margins; our reliance on distributors to market, sell and support our products in certain geographic locations; the occurrence of 
unforeseen expenditures, asset impairments, acquisitions or other transactions; litigation costs; our ability to integrate the 
businesses, technologies, operations and personnel of acquired companies; our success in increasing our direct sales and the 
effectiveness of our sales personnel; the impact of competitive products and pricing; our ability to manage geographically-
dispersed operations; our ability to continue to realize manufacturing efficiencies, which are an important factor in improving 
gross margins; underlying market conditions worldwide; the scope and timing of actual USPS funding of the BDS in its current 
configuration; the rate of environmental testing using the BDS conducted by the USPS, which will affect the amount of 
consumable products sold; and the other risks set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. We assume no 
obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report or to conform these forward-looking 
statements to actual results.  

 
STRATEGY 

We are a broad-based molecular diagnostics company that develops, manufactures, and markets fully-integrated systems for 
testing in the Clinical market, as well as for application in our legacy Biothreat, Industrial and Partner markets. Our systems enable 
rapid, sophisticated molecular testing for organisms and genetic-based diseases by automating otherwise complex manual 
laboratory procedures. Our strategy is to become the leading supplier of integrated systems and tests for molecular diagnostics. 
Key elements of our strategy to achieve this objective include: 

• Provide a fully-integrated molecular testing solution to the Clinical market. We believe our GeneXpert system will 
continue to significantly expand our presence in the Clinical market due to its ease of use, flexibility, and ability to 
deliver rapid and accurate results. We believe this system is currently the only commercially available closed, self-
contained, fully-integrated and automated system for molecular testing. Features of the GeneXpert system and Xpert 
tests include: 
• an approach by which the reagents are typically prepackaged in a single vessel (the test cartridge) into which the 

specimen is added; 
• no further user intervention once the Xpert cartridge is loaded into the GeneXpert system;  
• all three phases of PCR, (1) sample preparation, (2) amplification and (3) detection, are performed within the 

single sealed test cartridge automatically; 
• moderate complexity CLIA categorized, amplified molecular tests, which means the GeneXpert system can be 

operated without the need for highly-trained laboratory technicians; 
• commercial availability in a variety of configurations ranging from one to 48 individual test modules, which 

enables testing in environments ranging from low volume, near-patient testing to high volume, core or central lab 
testing, and system capacity that can be expanded in support of growing test volumes by adding additional 
modules; and 

• notably, to our knowledge, the only real-time PCR system that operates entirely within a closed system 
architecture, reducing hands-on time, reducing the likelihood of human error and contamination, and enabling 
nested PCR capability, a proven process for maximizing real-time PCR sensitivity. 

• We also believe that the GeneXpert is the only currently available system that enables molecular testing in any 
workflow environment: full random access; on-demand; or traditional batch testing. With full random access, 
different tests for different targets may be run simultaneously in different cartridges in the same GeneXpert 
instrument. Additional tests may be added by the user at any time. This increases potential utilization and 
throughput of the instrument and also enables on-demand or “stat” testing, whereby the user can add a new test 
to the instrument at any time without regard to the stage of processing of any other test on the instrument. 
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• Continue to develop and market new tests. We plan to capitalize on our strengths in nucleic acid chemistry and 

molecular biology to continue to develop new tests for our systems. In addition, in order to more rapidly expand 
our test pipeline, we work with strategic partners and major academic institutions and commercial organizations 
to develop and validate additional tests. 

• Obtain additional target rights. We expect to continue to expand our collaborations with academic institutions 
and commercial organizations to develop and obtain target rights to various infectious disease and cancer targets. 
In addition, we will be focusing key business development activities on identifying infectious disease and cancer 
targets held by academic institutions or commercial organizations for potential license or acquisition. 

• Extend geographic reach. Internationally, our primary focus is the European Clinical market. However, we also 
have and will continue to develop programs for other international markets. Our European sales and marketing 
operations are headquartered in France. We have direct sales forces in the UK, France and the Benelux region. 
We continue to sell through distributors in other international markets. We will continue to expand our 
distribution capability in Europe on both a direct and distributor basis. We also have and will continue to develop 
programs for other international markets, including selling through distributors.  

• High Burden Developing Countries sale programs. We are developing and expect to continue to expand our 
presence in HBDCs following the World Health Organization’s endorsement of the Xpert MTB/RIF test in late 
2010. In addition, in continued collaboration with FIND, we expect to broaden the menu of tests available to 
HBDC customers at special pricing considerations. 

• Continue to maintain applications in the Industrial and Biothreat markets. We currently sell products into our 
legacy Industrial and Biothreat markets and expect to continue our offerings in these markets.  

 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

We consider our accounting policies related to revenue recognition, impairment of intangible assets and goodwill, inventory 
valuation, warranty accrual, stock-based compensation and income taxes to be critical accounting policies. A number of significant 
estimates, assumptions, and judgments are inherent in our determination of when to recognize revenue, how to evaluate our 
intangible assets and goodwill, the calculation of our inventory valuation adjustments, warranty accrual, and stock-based 
compensation expense. These estimates, assumptions and judgments include deciding whether the elements required to recognize 
revenue from a particular arrangement are present, estimating the fair value of an intangible asset, which represents the future 
undiscounted cash flows to be derived from the intangible asset, estimating the amount of inventory obsolescence and warranty 
costs associated with shipped products and estimating the useful life and volatility of stock awards. We base our estimates and 
judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. 

 

Revenue Recognition 

We recognize revenue from the sale of our products and contract arrangements. Our revenue arrangements with multiple 
elements are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-
alone value to the customer and whether there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items. The 
consideration we receive is allocated among the separate units based on their respective fair values, and the applicable revenue 
recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned are classified 
as deferred revenue until earned. 

Determining whether the criteria for recognizing revenue have been met, including, for example, determining whether there is 
sufficient evidence that an arrangement exists, the collectibility of billings are reasonably assured and whether contractual 
performance obligations and milestones have been satisfied, requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect 
our operating results. For example, our determination of the probability of collection is based upon assessment of the customer’s 
financial condition through review of their current financial statements or publicly-available credit reports, as well as approvals 
from government agencies and availability of budgets. For sales to existing customers, prior payment history is also considered in 
assessing probability of collection. We are required to exercise significant judgment in deciding whether collectibility is 
reasonably assured, and such judgments may materially affect the timing of our revenues and our results of operations. 

Product sales. We recognize revenue from product sales when goods are shipped, there is persuasive evidence that an 
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. No right of 
return exists for our products except in the case of damaged goods. We have not experienced any significant returns of our 
products. 

Contract revenues. Contract revenues consist of fees earned under technology license arrangements, services rendered under 
research and development arrangements, grants and government sponsored research agreements, and milestone payments and 
royalties received under license and collaboration agreements. Deferred revenue is recorded when funds are received in advance of 
technologies to be delivered or services to be performed. 
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License revenue is generally recognized only after both the license period has commenced and the technology has been 
delivered. However, in multiple-element revenue arrangements, if the delivered technology does not have stand-alone value or if 
we do not have objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered products or services, the amount of revenue 
allocable to the delivered technology is deferred and amortized over the related involvement period in which the remaining 
products or services are provided to the customer. 

Research and development and government sponsored research contract revenues are recognized as the related services are 
performed based on the performance requirements of the relevant contract. Under the agreements, we are required to perform 
specific research and development activities and are compensated either based on the costs or costs plus a mark-up associated with 
each specific contract over the term of the agreement. 

Incentive milestone payments are recognized as revenue upon the achievement of the specified milestone, assuming there are 
no continuing performance obligations related to that milestone. Incentive milestone payments are substantially at risk at the 
inception of the arrangement and are normally triggered by events external to Cepheid. 

Royalties are typically based on licensees’ net sales of products that utilize our technology and are recognized as earned in 
accordance with the contract terms when royalties from licensees can be reliably measured and collectibility is reasonably assured, 
such as upon the receipt of a royalty statement from the customer. 

Service revenue is recognized when the services have been provided or for service contracts, ratably over the term of the 
contract. 

 

Realizability of Long-Lived Assets 

Our intangible assets consist primarily of rights to certain patented technologies that we purchased. Intangible assets are 
recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 5 to 
20 years, on a straight-line basis except for intangible assets acquired in an acquisition, which are amortized on the basis of 
economic useful life. Amortization of intangible assets is primarily included in cost of product sales in the consolidated statements 
of operations. 

We review our intangible assets for impairment and conduct an impairment review when events or circumstances indicate the 
carrying value of a long-lived asset may be impaired, by estimating the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from an asset 
to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists. If the carrying value exceeds our estimate of future undiscounted cash 
flows, we then calculate the impairment as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over our estimate of its fair market value. 
Events or circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse change in business climate, an 
adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, significant changes in the manner of our use of acquired 
assets, the strategy for our overall business, or significant negative industry or economic trends. There is significant judgment in 
estimating future cash flows and fair value. In 2010, we recorded an impairment charge of $0.3 million related to a license 
termination. No impairment charge was recorded in 2009. In 2008, we recorded an impairment charge of $0.4 million related to 
certain licenses with no future use.  

As of December 31, 2010, our carrying value of goodwill was $18.6 million. We annually review our goodwill for impairment. 
If our fair value exceeds our net book value including goodwill, then goodwill is not considered impaired. The initial step is to 
compare our fair value as determined by our market capitalization to our net book value. If the market capitalization exceeds the 
net book value, goodwill is presumed to be unimpaired. Otherwise, we would estimate expected future cash flows of our business, 
which operates in a number of markets and geographical regions. We would then determine the carrying value of our business and 
compare the carrying value including goodwill and other intangibles to the discounted future cash flows. If the total of future cash 
flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets, we would recognize an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying 
amount over the fair value of the assets. Estimates of the future cash flows associated with the assets are critical to these 
assessments. Changes in these estimates based on changed economic conditions or business strategies could result in material 
impairment charges in future periods. At December 31, 2010, we determined that goodwill was not impaired. 

 

Inventory and Warranty Provisions 

We maintain provisions for inventory obsolescence and warranty costs that we believe are reasonable and that are based on our 
historical experience and current expectations for future performance. The inventory provision is established using management’s 
estimate of the potential future obsolescence or excess inventory. A substantial decrease in demand for our products or the 
introduction of new products could lead to excess inventories and could require us to increase our provision for inventory 
obsolescence. Our current estimates and assumptions are consistent with prior periods. In the past, there have not been significant 
adjustments of the actual results to our estimates. 
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We warrant our systems to be free from defects for a period of generally 12 to 15 months from the date of sale and our 
disposable products to be free from defects, when handled according to product specifications, for the stated life of such products. 
Accordingly, a provision for the estimated cost of warranty repair or replacement is recorded at the time revenue is recognized. 
Our warranty provision is established using management’s estimate of future failure rates and of the future costs of repairing any 
system failures during the warranty period or replacing any disposable products with defects. Significant increases in the failure 
rates of our products could lead to increased warranty costs and require us to increase our warranty provision. As of December 31, 
2010 and 2009, the accrued warranty liability was $1.0 million and $0.7 million, respectively. 

 

Stock-Based Compensation 

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718-25. Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation 
cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the 
requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. ASC 718-25 requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-
based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately 
expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in our consolidated statements of operations. We 
recognize the fair value of our stock option awards as compensation expense over the requisite service period of each award, 
which is generally four years.  

In determining fair value of the stock-based compensation payments, we use the Black–Scholes model and a single option 
award approach, which requires the input of subjective assumptions. These assumptions include: estimating the length of time 
employees will retain their vested stock options before exercising them (expected term), the estimated volatility of our common 
stock price over the expected term (volatility), risk-free interest rate and the number of shares subject to options that will 
ultimately not complete their vesting requirements (forfeitures). Changes in the following assumptions can materially affect the 
estimate of fair value of stock–based compensation.  

• Expected term is determined based on historical experience, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the 
stock-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior as influenced by changes to the 
terms of its stock-based awards. 

• Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility for the past 5 years, which approximates the expected term of 
the option grant.  

• Risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a 
remaining term equivalent to the expected term of a stock award.  

• Estimated forfeitures are based on voluntary termination behavior as well as analysis of actual option forfeitures.  
 

Income Taxes 

We account for income taxes using an asset and liability approach, which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial statements, 
but have not been reflected in our taxable income. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to their 
estimated realizable value. Therefore, we provide a valuation allowance to the extent that we do not believe it is more likely than 
not that it will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets.  

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. For the year ended December 31, 
2010, 2009 and 2008, we did not recognize significant interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in the consolidated 
statements of operations, and at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the we had no significant accrued interest or penalties.  

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

For recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1, “Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to the 
consolidated financial statements appearing in Item 8 to this annual report, which are incorporated by reference into this Item 7. 
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Results of Operations 
 

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

Revenues 
 

2010 2009 % Change

Revenues:
System sales 46,416$  42,993$   8 %         
Reagent and disposable sales 160,460 122,192   31 %       

Total product sales 206,876 165,185   25 %       
Other revenues 5,592     5,442       3 %         

Total Revenues 212,468$ 170,627$ 25 %         

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)

 
 

Product Sales 

The following table illustrates product sales in the Clinical, Industrial, Biothreat and Partner markets: 
 

2010 2009 % Change

Product sales by market:
Clinical Systems 31,266$    26,241$     19 %       
Clinical Reagents 131,254   89,701       46 %       
    Total Clinical 162,520   115,942     40 %       
Industrial 18,117     19,165       (5)%        
Biothreat 22,206     24,762       (10)%      
Partner 4,033       5,316         (24)%      

Total product sales 206,876$   165,185$   25 %         

(Amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

 
 

Total product sales were $206.9 million in 2010, an increase of 25% from $165.2 million in 2009. The increase was due to an 
increase in our Clinical sales of $46.6 million, or 40%. Clinical Reagents grew $41.6 million, or 46%, driven primarily by an 
increase in sales of our HAI portfolio of tests as well as our Xpert MTB/RIF test. Clinical Systems grew $5.0 million, or 19%, 
primarily due to increased GeneXpert System sales. Industrial sales decreased $1.0 million, or 5%, primarily due to both decreased 
reagent and systems sales. In the Biothreat market, product sales decreased $2.6 million, or 10%, primarily due to reduced anthrax 
test cartridge sales to Northrop Grumman/USPS. Partner sales decreased $1.3 million, or 24%, due to an overall decline in this 
legacy business.  

We expect our Clinical product sales to continue to increase in 2011 with the continued expansion of the HAI and infectious 
disease markets, the breadth of our test menu, and the growth of our installed base of customers. We expect both Industrial and 
Partner sales will decline in 2011 compared to 2010 due to the overall decline in these legacy businesses. For our Biothreat 
business, we expect a decline in sales as we expect contract revisions to reduce the annual number of tests from about one million 
under the previous contract, to about six hundred thousand in 2011, partially offset by an increase in test price. 
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The following table provides a breakdown of our product sales by geographic regions: 
 

2010 2009 % Change

Product Sales Geographic Information:
Clinical 127,326$       88,562$           44 %         
Other 37,328           40,227             (7)%          

Total North America 164,654$       128,789$         28 %         

Clinical 35,194$        27,380$           29 %       
Other 7,028             9,016               (22)%        

Total International 42,222$         36,396$           16 %         

Total product sales 206,876$       165,185$         25 %         

(Amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

 
 

Product sales in North America increased $35.9 million, or 28%, from $128.8 million in 2009 to $164.7 million in 2010. The 
increase in North American product sales was primarily driven by a $38.8 million, or 44%, increase in Clinical sales, driven by 
increases in both instrument and reagent sales. The increase in Clinical sales was partially offset by a $2.9 million, or 7%, decrease 
in Other product sales, due to a decrease in anthrax test cartridge sales to Northrop Grumman/USPS in the Biothreat market.  

International product sales, which primarily represent sales in Europe, increased $5.8 million, or 16%, from $36.4 million in 
2009 to $42.2 million in 2010. International Clinical sales growth of $7.8 million, or 29% was primarily driven by higher Clinical 
Reagent sales due to an increase in sales of our HAI tests as well as Xpert MTB/RIF. 

No single country outside of the U.S. represented more than 10% of our total revenues in any period presented and one 
customer accounted for 11% and 15% of our total product sales in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  

 

Other Revenue 

Other revenue remained flat in 2010 from 2009. We expect that our other revenue in 2011 will increase as we receive more 
funding for the research and development of our Xpert BCR-ABL collaboration with Novartis and HIV Viral Load test 
collaboration with FIND.  

 

Costs and Operating Expenses 
 

2010 2009 % Change

Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of product sales 105,135$ 95,542$   10 %         
Collaboration profit sharing 6,806     8,200       (17)%     
Research and development 42,503     39,313     8 %           
Sales and marketing 38,840   29,156     33 %       
General and administrative 24,528     21,278     15 %         
Restructuring charge -             747          100%

Gain from legal settlement -              (243)        (100)%     

Total costs and operating expenses 217,812$ 193,993$ 12 %         

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)
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Cost of Product Sales 

Cost of product sales primarily consists of raw materials, direct labor and stock-based compensation expense, manufacturing 
overhead, facility costs and warranty costs. Cost of product sales also includes royalties on product sales and amortization of 
intangible assets related to technology licenses and intangibles acquired in the purchases of Sangtec and Stretton. Cost of product 
sales increased 10%, or $9.6 million, from $95.5 million in 2009 to $105.1 million in 2010, as a result of increased overall product 
sales. Our product margin percentage was 49% in 2010 compared to 42% in 2009. The increase in product gross margin in 2010 
from 2009 was primarily due to favorable product mix with higher margin Clinical reagent sales comprising a higher percentage of 
our total product revenue, the phase out in August 2010 of royalty payments to Roche related to U.S. PCR sales, and a decrease in 
royalties to Abaxis, Inc. due to a manufacturing process change as well as Clinical reagent volume increases and manufacturing 
efficiencies driving lower Clinical reagent unit costs. We expect the product gross margin percentage to continue to increase in 
2011 as we continue to benefit from the phase out of certain royalties, improve our manufacturing efficiencies and anticipate 
continuous favorable product mix with higher margin Clinical reagent sales comprising a higher percentage of our total product 
revenue. 

 

Collaboration Profit Sharing 

Collaboration profit sharing represents the amount that we pay to LIFE under our collaboration agreement to develop and 
manufacture reagents for use in the USPS BDS program. Under the agreement, computed gross margin on anthrax cartridge sales 
are shared equally between the two parties. Collaboration profit sharing expense was $6.8 million and $8.2 million in 2010 and 
2009, respectively. The decrease in collaboration profit sharing was the result of decreased anthrax cartridge sales under the USPS 
BDS program. We expect our collaboration profit sharing expenses will decline in 2011 due to expected lower anthrax cartridge 
sales to the USPS.  

 

Research and Development Expenses 

Research and development expenses primarily consist of salaries and employee-related expenses, which include stock-based 
compensation, clinical trials, research and development materials, facility costs and depreciation. Research and development 
expenses increased 8% to $42.5 million in 2010 as compared to $39.3 million in 2009. The increase in research and development 
expenses of $3.2 million was primarily due to a $1.8 million increase of salaries and employee-related expenses and a $1.3 million 
increase in research and development supplies for product trials. We expect our research and development expenses will increase 
in 2011 due to an increase in our trial costs for products currently under development, as well as expected increases on partner-
funded development projects. 

 

Sales and Marketing Expenses  

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee-related expenses, which include commissions and 
stock-based compensation, travel, facility-related costs and marketing and promotion expenses. Sales and marketing expenses 
increased 33% to $38.8 million in 2010 from $29.2 million in 2009. The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily 
due to a $4.7 million increase of salaries and employee-related expenses, a $1.4 million increase of travel expenses, a $1.0 million 
increase of advertising expenses and a $0.7 million increase of consulting expenses. We expect our sales and marketing expenses 
will increase in 2011 as we continue to expand our efforts in the Clinical market, with particular emphasis on pursuing the market 
opportunities for our HAI and infectious disease products.  

 

General and Administrative Expenses 

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee-related expenses, which include stock-based 
compensation, travel, facility costs, legal, accounting and other professional fees. General and administrative expenses increased 
15% to $24.5 million in 2010 from $21.3 million in 2009. The increase was primarily due to a $2.5 million increase in salaries and 
employee-related expenses and a $0.9 million increase in corporate legal expenses. We expect our general and administrative 
expenses to remain relatively flat as a percentage of revenues in 2011.  
 

Restructuring Charge  

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company eliminated 47 positions that impacted employees, contractors and replacement 
positions, which resulted in $0.7 million of restructuring expense, primarily related to severance. As of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, the activities under this restructuring plan were complete and the Company had no outstanding restructuring expenses to be 
paid.  
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Gain from Legal Settlement 

There was no gain from legal settlement in 2010. During the third quarter of 2009, the Company entered into a settlement with 
a vendor regarding certain issues under multiple agreements. Pursuant to the settlement, the vendor paid the Company $0.2 
million, which the Company recorded as a gain.  

 

Other Income (Expense), Net 

 

2010 2009 % Change

Other income (expense), net:
Interest income 168$       406$        (59)%       
Interest expense (340)      (332)        2 %           
Foreign currency gain (loss) and other (820)      350          334 %       

Total other income (expense), net (992)$      424$        (334)%       

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)

 
 

Other income (expense), net consists of interest income, interest expense and foreign currency exchange gain (loss) and other. 
Interest income decreased to $0.2 million in 2010 from $0.4 million in 2009. The decrease is primarily due to lower interest rates 
in 2010 as compared to 2009. The interest expense remained flat in 2010 from 2009. Foreign currency exchange gain (loss) and 
other decreased from a $0.4 million gain in 2009 to a $0.8 million loss in 2010 primarily due to a $0.7 million, net of foreign 
currency forward contracts gain of $0.8 million, increase in foreign currency exchange losses in 2010 due to the strengthening of 
the U.S. dollar against other currencies, primarily the Euro, a $0.7 million swing related to our auction rate securities, from a $0.6 
million gain in 2009 to a $0.1 million loss in 2010, offset by a $0.2 million increase in other income. 

 

Income Taxes 

The income tax benefit of $0.4 million in 2010 is primarily comprised of $0.8 million of income tax benefit primarily related to 
a tax credit for research and development in France, as well as to the amortization of acquired intangibles in Sweden and UK, 
partially offset by $0.3 million of foreign tax expense and state income tax expense of $0.1 million. The income tax benefit of $0.4 
million in 2009 represented U.S. federal income tax benefit of $0.2 million related to a refundable research and development 
(“R&D”) credit as provided by the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (“Act”). The Act, signed into law in July 2008, 
allowed taxpayers to claim refundable alternative minimum tax or R&D credit carryovers if they had forgone bonus depreciation 
on certain qualified property and equipment placed in service beginning in April 2008. The income tax benefit in 2009 also 
represented $0.7 million of income tax benefit mainly related to the amortization of acquired intangibles in Sweden partially offset 
by $0.4 million of foreign tax expense and state income tax expense of $0.1 million. The income tax benefit of $0.9 million in 
2008 represented current U.S. federal income tax benefit of $0.2 million related to a refundable R&D credit as provided by the 
Act. The income tax benefit in 2008 also represented $0.9 million of income tax benefit mainly related to the amortization of 
acquired intangibles in Sweden and a refundable R&D credit in France, partially offset by $0.1 million of state income tax 
expense.  

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had deferred tax assets of approximately $77.1 million and $81.6 million, respectively, 
which were offset by valuation allowances of $77.0 million and $81.6 million, respectively. We also had a deferred tax liability of 
$1.7 million as of December 31, 2010 in connection with the acquisition of the assets and licensed intellectual properties of 
Sangtec and Stretton, which we acquired in February 2007 and November 2008, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, we had 
net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $154.2 million, which expire in the years 2011 
through 2028, federal research and development tax credits of approximately $5.3 million, which expire in the years 2019 through 
2030, and foreign tax credits of $0.1 million which expire in 2019. As of December 31, 2010, we had net operating loss 
carryforwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $69.7 million, which expire in the years 2014 through 2031, and 
state research and development tax credits of approximately $6.8 million, which have no expiration date.  

Utilization of our net operating loss may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership change limitations 
provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such annual limitation may result in the expiration of net 
operating losses before utilization.  

The Company had no undistributed earnings from its foreign subsidiaries for which tax has not been provided as of December 
31, 2010. 
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 

Revenues 
 

2009 2008 % Change

Revenues:
System sales 42,993$  51,766$   (17)%      
Reagent and disposable sales 122,192 107,617   14 %       

Total product sales 165,185 159,383   4 %         
Other revenues 5,442     10,244     (47)%      

Total Revenues 170,627$ 169,627$ 1 %           

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)

 
 

Product Sales 

The following table illustrates product sales in the Clinical, Industrial, Biothreat and Partner markets: 
 

2009 2008 % Change

Product sales by market:
Clinical Systems 26,241$    32,084$     (18)%      
Clinical Reagents 89,701     58,167       54 %       
    Total Clinical 115,942   90,251       28 %       
Industrial 19,165     15,437       24 %       
Biothreat 24,762     35,797       (31)%      
Partner 5,316       17,898       (70)%      

Total product sales 165,185$   159,383$   4 %           

(Amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

 
 

Total product sales were $165.2 million in 2009, an increase of 4% from $159.4 million in 2008. The increase was a result of 
an increase in our Clinical sales of $25.7 million, or 28%. Clinical Reagents grew $31.5 million, or 54%, driven primarily by an 
increase in sales of our HAI tests, offset by a $5.8 million, or 18%, decrease in Clinical Systems product sales, as Veterans Affairs 
(“VA”) hospital system placements substantially declined in 2009 compared to the strong placements in 2008 and as customers 
were constrained by the effect of the challenging economic environment on capital purchase decisions. Industrial sales increased 
$3.7 million, or 24%, due to an unanticipated purchase of approximately $2 million of SmartCyclers in Japan, funded by the 
Japanese government’s stimulus investment. The increase in product sales was offset by a decline in sales in our legacy Biothreat 
and Partner markets. The decrease of $12.6 million, or 70%, in Partner product sales was due to the expiration of our contract with 
BDC in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the cancellation of certain contracted purchases by Roche during 2008. In the Biothreat 
market, product sales decreased $11.0 million, or 31%, primarily due to reduced anthrax test cartridge sales to Northrop 
Grumman/USPS.  
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The following table provides a breakdown of our product sales by geographic regions: 
 

2009 2008 % Change

Product Sales Geographic Information:
Clinical 88,562$        70,248$           26 %       
Other 40,227           55,078             (27)%        

Total North America 128,789$       125,326$         3 %           
Clinical 27,380$        20,004$           37 %       
Other 9,016             14,053             (36)%        

Total International 36,396$         34,057$           7 %           

Total product sales 165,185$       159,383$         4 %           

(Amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

 

Product sales in North America increased $3.5 million, or 3%, from $125.3 million in 2008 to $128.8 million in 2009. The 
increase in North American product sales was primarily driven by an $18.3 million increase in Clinical sales, driven primarily by 
an increase of reagent sales partially offset by a decrease of systems sales. The increase was also largely offset by an $11.0 million 
decline in anthrax test cartridge sales to Northrop Grumman/USPS in the Biothreat market and a $5.1 million decrease in Partner 
sales due to the expiration of our contract with BDC in the fourth quarter of 2008.  

International product sales, which primarily represent sales in Europe, increased $2.3 million, or 7%, from $34.1 million in 
2008 to $36.4 million in 2009. International Clinical sales growth was primarily driven by higher Clinical Reagent sales due to an 
increase in sales of our HAI tests, offset by decreased Clinical System sales. The increase in international product sales was offset 
by a $7.5 million decrease in Partner sales due to the expiration of our contract with BDC in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the 
cancellation of certain contracted purchases by Roche during 2008.  

No single country outside of the U.S. represented more than 10% of our total revenues in any period presented and one 
customer accounted for 15% and 23% of our total product sales in 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

 

Other Revenue 

Other revenue decreased 47% from $10.2 million in 2008 to $5.4 million in 2009. The decrease was primarily due to the 
completion of a program associated with the development of a 6-color GeneXpert system as well as the conclusion in the first 
quarter 2009 of the recognition of revenue related to the license fee received from bioMerieux.  

 

Costs and Operating Expenses 
 

2009 2008 % Change

Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of product sales 95,542$  89,714$   6 %         
Collaboration profit sharing 8,200     11,089     (26)%     
Research and development 39,313   43,310     (9)%       
Sales and marketing 29,156     29,757     (2)%         
General and administrative 21,278     20,861     2 %           
Restructuring charge 747         — 100%

Gain from legal settlement (243)        (1,454)     (83)%       

Total costs and operating expenses 193,993$ 193,277$ 0 %           

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)
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Cost of Product Sales 

Cost of product sales consists of raw materials, direct labor and stock-based compensation expense, manufacturing overhead, 
facility costs and warranty costs. Cost of product sales also includes royalties on product sales and amortization of intangible 
assets related to technology licenses and intangibles acquired in the purchases of Sangtec and Stretton. Cost of product sales 
increased 6%, or $5.8 million, from $89.7 million in 2008 to $95.5 million in 2009, as a result of the increased overall product 
sales. Our product margin percentage was 42% in 2009 compared to 44% in 2008. The decrease in product gross margin in 2009 
from 2008 was primarily due to an increase in license fee amortization expense from additional licenses, excess capacity in our 
European manufacturing facility that manufactures product for Roche, which cancelled certain contract purchases in 2008, and 
under-absorption of U.S. overhead due to decreased Clinical System sales volume. 

 

Collaboration Profit Sharing 

Collaboration profit sharing represents the amount that we pay to LIFE under our collaboration agreement to develop and 
manufacture reagents for use in the USPS BDS program. Under the agreement, computed gross margin on anthrax cartridge sales 
are shared equally between the two parties. Collaboration profit sharing expense was $8.2 million and $11.1 million in 2009 and 
2008, respectively. The decrease in collaboration profit sharing was the result of decreased anthrax cartridge sales under the USPS 
BDS program.  

 

Research and Development Expenses 

Research and development expenses consist of salaries and employee-related expenses, which include stock-based 
compensation, clinical trials, research and development materials, facility costs and depreciation. Research and development 
expenses decreased 9% to $39.3 million in 2009 as compared to $43.3 million in 2008. The decrease in research and development 
expenses of $4.0 million was primarily due to a $1.1 million decrease in clinical trial costs, a $0.8 million decrease in research and 
development supplies, a $0.5 million decrease in external services, a $0.3 million decrease in license fee write-offs and a $0.2 
million decrease in travel expense.  

 

Sales and Marketing Expenses  

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee-related expenses, which include commissions and 
stock-based compensation, travel, facility-related costs and marketing and promotion expenses. Sales and marketing expenses 
decreased 2% to $29.2 million in 2009 from $29.8 million in 2008. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses was primarily 
due to a $0.6 million decrease in travel expense.  

 

General and Administrative Expenses 

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee-related expenses, which include stock-based 
compensation, travel, facility costs, legal, accounting and other professional fees. General and administrative expenses increased 
2% to $21.3 million in 2009 from $20.9 million in 2008. The increase was primarily due to a $1.7 million increase in salaries and 
employee-related expenses, offset by a $1.1 million decrease of contractor costs as we brought certain tasks in-house.  
 

Restructuring Charge  

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company eliminated 47 positions that impacted employees, contractors and replacement 
positions, which resulted in $0.7 million of restructuring expense, primarily related to severance. As of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, the activities under this restructuring plan were complete and the Company had no outstanding restructuring expenses to be 
paid.  

 
Gain from Legal Settlement 

During the third quarter of 2009, the Company entered into a settlement with a vendor regarding certain issues under multiple 
agreements. Pursuant to the settlement, the vendor paid the Company $0.2 million, which the Company recorded as a gain.  

On December 25, 2008, the Company entered into a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Roche Molecular 
Systems, Inc. (“RMS”) regarding the cancellation by RMS of outstanding purchase orders as well as future purchasing 
requirements under a previously negotiated supply agreement with the Company. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, RMS 
agreed to pay the Company $2.1 million as full and complete consideration for all cancelled orders and failure to meet purchasing 
requirements under the supply agreement. Approximately $0.7 million of the consideration was applied against certain inventory 
purchases that the Company had made in anticipation of building product to ship to Roche. The remaining $1.4 million was 
recorded as a gain in 2008, even though payment was not received until in January 2009. 
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Other Income (Expense), Net 
 

2009 2008 % Change

Other income (expense), net:
Interest income 406$       1,225$     (67)%       
Interest expense (332)      (13)          2,454 %    
Foreign currency gain (loss) and other 350        (860)        141 %       

Total other income (expense), net 424$        352$        20 %           

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)

 
 

Other income (expense), net consists of interest income, interest expense and foreign currency exchange gain (loss) and other. 
Interest income decreased to $0.4 million in 2009 from $1.2 million in 2008. The decrease was primarily due to lower interest 
rates in 2009 as compared to 2008. The interest expense increase of $0.3 million in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily due to 
interest expense related to our UBS loan entered into during the fourth quarter of 2008. Foreign currency exchange gain (loss) and 
other went from a $0.9 million loss in 2008 to a $0.3 million gain in 2009 due to foreign currency exchange losses in 2008 prior to 
the implementation of our foreign currency hedge program, under which the Company utilizes forward contracts in order to reduce 
foreign currency exchange market risks. 

 

Income Taxes 

The income tax benefit of $0.4 million in 2009 represented a U.S. federal income tax benefit of $0.2 million related to a 
refundable R&D credit as provided by the Act. The Company recognized the credit based on property and equipment placed into 
service throughout 2009. The income tax benefit in 2009 also represented $0.7 million of income tax benefit mainly related to the 
amortization of acquired intangibles in Sweden partially offset by $0.4 million of foreign tax expense and state income tax expense 
of $0.1 million. The income tax benefit of $0.9 million in 2008 represented current U.S. federal income tax benefit of $0.2 million 
related to a refundable R&D credit as provided by the Act. The income tax benefit in 2008 also represented $0.9 million of income 
tax benefit mainly related to the amortization of acquired intangibles in Sweden and a refundable R&D credit in France, partially 
offset by $0.1 million of state income tax expense. 

 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

2010 2009 2008

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 27,343$  13,676$   (4,607)$     
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 9,716     (8,503)     (15,219)    
Net cash provided by financing activities 6,546     6,881       26,818     

Years Ended December 31,

(Amount in thousands)

 
 

As of December 31, 2010, we had $79.5 million in cash and cash equivalents. The $43.8 million increase in total cash and cash 
equivalents consisted primarily of $27.3 million provided by operating activities, $9.7 million provided by investing activities and 
$6.5 million provided by financing activities. We maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents in money market funds in order to 
minimize market risk and preserve principal.  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $27.3 million, $13.7 million and $(4.6) million for the years ended 
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was primarily comprised 
of net loss plus the net effect of non-cash expenses, working capital sources and capital uses of cash. For the year ended December 
31, 2010, the primary working capital uses of cash were decreases in accounts payable and other liabilities, an increase in accounts 
receivable driven by higher revenue than in the prior year, and increases in prepaid expenses and other current assets. The primary 
working capital sources of cash were increases in deferred revenue and accrued compensation and a decrease in inventory. For the 
year ended December 31, 2009, the primary working capital sources of cash were increases in accounts payable, other current 
liabilities and deferred revenue, and decreases in prepaid expenses, other current assets and other non-current assets. The primary 
working capital uses of cash were increases in accounts receivable and inventory. 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities was $9.7 million, $(8.5) million and $(15.2) million for the years ended 
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2010, net cash provided by investing activities 
consisted of proceeds from the sales and maturities of short-term investments related to the settlement of $24.8 million of our 
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auction rate securities, partially offset by net capital expenditures, the cost of asset acquisitions and payments for technology 
licenses. For the year ended December 31, 2009, net cash used in investing activities consisted of net capital expenditures and 
payments for technology licenses partially offset by proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities and a transfer of 
restricted cash to unrestricted cash. The change in net cash provided by investing activities for 2010 from 2009 is primarily due to 
an increase in proceeds from the maturities of short-term investments offset by an increase in capital expenditures. In 2011, we 
expect our capital expenditures to be approximately 7% of revenue due to investment in the capacity and continued automation of 
our manufacturing operations to support the growth in our GeneXpert test revenue and expansion of our HBDC programs. 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $6.5 million, $6.9 million and $26.8 million for the years ended December 31, 
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The increase in net proceeds from the issuance of common shares under our ESPP and 
exercises of stock options was partially offset by the increase of principal payment of bank borrowing, as we have paid down the 
principal balances on our UBS loan due to the settlement of our auction rate securities. The change from the year ended December 
31, 2009 to the year ended December 31, 2010 was primarily due to the increase in principal payment of bank borrowing offset by 
the increase in net proceeds from the issuance of common shares under our ESPP and exercises of stock options and awards. 

On June 7, 2010, we entered into a loan and security agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with SVB, which provided for a total 
revolving credit line of up to $15.0 million with a maturity date of June 7, 2012 and bearing interest no less than 4.0% with a 
commitment fee of 0.75% per annum on the unused portion. We had no outstanding balance under the revolving credit line at 
December 31, 2010. 

On November 10, 2008, we accepted a comprehensive settlement arrangement offered by UBS, the fund manager with which 
we held our auction rate securities. Under the settlement, we had the option (“the put option”) to sell the auction rate securities 
held in our accounts with UBS to UBS at par value during the period beginning June 30, 2010 and ending July 2, 2012 (“put 
option exercise period”). Since the settlement agreement was a legally enforceable firm commitment, the put option was 
recognized as a financial asset at fair value in our financial statements, and accounted for separately from the associated securities. 
The fair value of the put option was based on the difference in value between the par value and the fair value of the associated 
auction rate securities. We measured the put option at its fair value, and subsequent changes in fair value also were recognized in 
respective period financial results. At December 31, 2009, our put option was recorded at fair value, at par for $3.3 million and we 
had classified these securities as trading. On June 30, 2010, we notified UBS of our intent to exercise our put option to sell our 
portfolio of auction rate securities, which were classified as trading securities and recorded at fair value, at par to UBS for $11.8 
million. In addition, the rights permitted us to establish a demand revolving credit line, payable on demand, in an amount up to 
75% of fair value of the securities at a net no cost, meaning that the interest that we paid on the credit line would not exceed the 
interest that we received on the auction rate securities that we had pledged as security for the credit line. We borrowed $14.7 
million on the line of credit on November 10, 2008. On July 1, 2010, we paid down the outstanding loan balance of $1.3 million, 
such that there was no outstanding balance at December 31, 2010. We had an outstanding loan balance of $14.6 million, which 
approximated the carrying value, at December 31, 2009. 

 

Contractual Obligations 

As of December 31, 2010, our contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands): 
 

Total
Less Than 1 

Year
1-3

Years
3-5

Years
More Than 5 

Years
Operating leases 42,875$  5,809$    11,539$  10,750$  14,777$   
Notes payable 6,670      1,679      3,380      1,411      200          
Purchase obligations 16,464    11,564    4,900               —          —
Minimum royalties 4,387      561         1,194      1,202      1,430       

70,396$  19,613$  21,013$  13,363$  16,407$   

Payments Due by Period

 
Purchase obligations include purchase orders or contracts for the purchase of raw materials and other goods and services. We 

do not have significant agreements for the purchase of raw materials or other goods specifying minimum quantities or set prices 
that exceed our expected requirements. Minimum royalty payments represent licensed royalties we are obligated to pay under our 
license agreements. 

Rent expense for all operating leases for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $4.1 million, $3.7 million and $3.4 million, respectively.  

The expected timing of payment of the obligations discussed above is estimated based on current information. Timing of 
payments and actual amounts paid could vary in some circumstances depending on the timing of receipt of goods or services or 
changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligations. 
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Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements 

As of December 31, 2010, we did not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation 
S-K promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933. 

 

Financial Condition Outlook 

We plan to continue to make expenditures to expand our manufacturing capacity, to support our activities in sales and 
marketing and research and development and to support our working capital needs.  

In the future, we may seek additional funds to support our strategic business needs and may seek to raise such additional funds 
through private or public sales of equity, debt or convertible securities, strategic relationships, bank debt, lease financing 
arrangements, or other available means. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or equity-related securities, 
shareholders may experience additional dilution, or such equity securities may have rights, preferences, or privileges senior to 
those of the holders of our common stock. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms to meet our 
business needs, our business may be harmed. 

 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS 

Interest rate risk 

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing the income we 
receive from our investments without significantly increasing risk. Our investments in interest-bearing assets are subject to interest 
rate risk. This means that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the fair value of the investment to fluctuate. For example, 
if we hold a security that was issued with a fixed interest rate at the then-prevailing rate and the prevailing interest rate later rises, 
the fair value of our investment will probably decline. To minimize this risk, we maintain our interest-bearing portfolio, which 
consists of cash and cash equivalents, in money market funds. Due to the short-term nature of the investments, we believe we 
currently have no material exposure to interest rate risk arising from our investments. Therefore we have not included quantitative 
tabular disclosure in this Form 10-K.  

On June 7, 2010, we entered into the Loan Agreement with SVB. We had an outstanding balance of $5.5 million on the term 
line and no outstanding balance under the revolving credit line at December 31, 2010. If interest rates were to increase (decrease) 
by 100 basis points, the interest expense would have a corresponding increase (or decrease) of approximately less than $0.1 
million.  

 

Foreign currency risk 

We operate primarily in the U.S. and a majority of our revenue, cost, expense and capital purchasing activities for 2010 were 
transacted in U.S. Dollars. As a corporation with international as well as domestic operations, we are exposed to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. We have operations in Sweden, France, Belgium, and the UK and we pay payroll and other expenses in the 
local currencies. In 2010, international sales were approximately 20% of our product sales. Our international sales are 
predominantly made in European countries. Our exposures to foreign currency risks may change over time and could have a 
material adverse impact on our financial results. We have implemented a foreign currency hedging program to mitigate our 
exposure to foreign currency gains and losses. As of December 31, 2010, we had two outstanding foreign exchange forward 
contracts, which were recorded as a derivative asset within prepaid expenses and other current assets with a fair value of 
approximately $4,000 and derivative liability within accrued and other liabilities with a fair value of approximately $92,000. As of 
December 31, 2009, we had two outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts, which were recorded as derivative liabilities 
within accrued and other liabilities, with a fair value of approximately $28,000 representing the estimated loss on those 
outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts. During 2010, the effect of our hedging transactions, consisting entirely 
of foreign currency forward contracts, on our consolidated statement of operations was a pre-tax gain of $0.8 million to mitigate 
our foreign currency fluctuations. We will continue to use hedging programs in the future and may use currency forward contracts, 
currency options, and/or other derivative financial instruments commonly utilized to reduce financial market risks if it is 
determined that such hedging activities are appropriate to reduce risk. A 10% change in the exchange rates upward or downward in 
our portfolio of foreign currency contracts would have decreased or increased, respectively our unrealized gain by approximately 
$1.1 million at December 31, 2010 and unrealized loss by approximately $0.8 million at December 31, 2009. We do not hold or 
purchase any currency contracts for trading purposes. 
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ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

The following consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto, of Cepheid and the Reports of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm, Ernst and Young LLP, are filed as a part of this Form 10-K. 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, 

as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of management, 
including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness 
of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

Based on management’s evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, management has 
concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010. Ernst & Young 
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K and, as part of its audit, has issued an attestation report, included herein, on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  
February 24, 2011 
  
                         /s/ JOHN L. BISHOP                           
                             John L. Bishop 

                               /s/ ANDREW D. MILLER                                      
                                     Andrew D. Miller 

                     Chief Executive Officer            Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Cepheid 

We have audited Cepheid’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
COSO criteria). Cepheid’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, Cepheid maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheets of Cepheid as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010 of Cepheid and 
our report dated February 24, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

 
San Jose, California 
February 24, 2011 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Cepheid 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cepheid as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2010. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Part IV Item 15(b). These 
financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of Cepheid’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements and schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Cepheid at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in 
our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a 
whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
Cepheid’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
February 24, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

  
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

 
San Jose, California 
February 24, 2011 
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CEPHEID 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

 

2010 2009

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 79,538$            35,786$           
Short-term investments -                   21,636            
Put option -                   3,295              
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $61 thousand and $7 
thousand as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 28,010              23,014              
Inventory 37,598              38,015            
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,138                2,421              

Total current assets 149,284            124,167          
Property and equipment, net 27,438              24,021              
Other non-current assets 607                   495                 
Intangible assets, net 24,688              30,817              
Goodwill 18,594              18,626              
Total assets 220,611$          198,126$          

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 21,957$            22,068$           
Accrued compensation 12,594              8,869              
Accrued royalties 7,994                12,929            
Accrued other liabilities 1,288                1,800                
Current portion of deferred revenue 8,207                2,923              
Current portion of notes payable 1,679                108                 
Bank borrowing -                   14,618              

Total current liabilities 53,719              63,315              
Long-term portion of deferred revenue 4,057                2,279              
Note payable, less current portion 4,991                732                 
Other liabilities 4,182                4,234              
Total liabilities 66,949              70,560            
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding -                 -                 

Common stock, no par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 60,568,626 and 58,644,990 
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 288,387            273,052            
Additional paid-in capital 72,731              56,408              
Accumulated other comprehensive income 726                   371                 
Accumulated deficit (208,182)           (202,265)           

Total shareholders’ equity 153,662            127,566            
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 220,611$          198,126$          

December 31,

(In thousands, except share data)

 

The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CEPHEID 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

2010 2009 2008

Revenues:
Total product sales 206,876  165,185    159,383  
Other revenues 5,592      5,442      10,244    

Total revenues 212,468    170,627    169,627    
Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of product sales 105,135  95,542     89,714    
Collaboration profit sharing 6,806      8,200      11,089    
Research and development 42,503     39,313     43,310    
Sales and marketing 38,840     29,156     29,757    
General and administrative 24,528     21,278     20,861    
Gain from legal settlement -          (243)        (1,454)    
Restructuring charge -           747          -           

Total costs and operating expenses 217,812    193,993    193,277    
Loss from operations (5,344)      (23,366)    (23,650)    
Other income (expense):

Interest and other income, net 168         406         1,225     
Interest expense (340)        (332)        (13)         
Foreign currency exchange gain (loss) and other (820)         350          (860)         

Other income, net (992)         424          352          
Loss before benefit for income taxes (6,336)     (22,942)    (23,298)  
Benefit for income taxes 419          440          911          
Net loss (5,917)$    (22,502)$  (22,387)$  

Basic net loss per share (0.10)$      (0.39)$      (0.39)$      

Diluted net loss per share (0.10)$      (0.39)$      (0.39)$      

Shares used in computing basic net loss per share 59,712      58,206      57,101      

Shares used in computing diluted net loss per share 59,712      58,206      57,101      

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

 
The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CEPHEID 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(In thousands) Shares Amount 

 Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

 Accumulated 
Other Compre-
hensive Income 

(Loss) 
 Accumulated 

Deficit 
 Total Share-

holders' Equity 
Balance at December 31, 2007 55,611   254,807$  26,697$  340$            (157,376)$     124,468$      
Components of comprehensive loss:

Net loss -            -               -             -                   (22,387)         (22,387)         
Foreign currency translation adjustment -          -             -           (363)            -                   (363)            

Total comprehensive loss (22,750)       
Issuance of shares of common stock under employee 
and director option plans 1,772    9,849        -             -                   -                    9,849            
Stock-based compensation related to stock options and 
awards and employee stock purchase plan -            -               14,922    -                   -                    14,922          
Issuance of shares of common stock under employee 
stock purchase plan 281       2,335        -             -                   -                    2,335            
Balance at December 31, 2008 57,664   266,991    41,619    (23)               (179,763)       128,824        
Components of comprehensive loss:

Net loss -            -               -             -                   (22,502)         (22,502)         
Foreign currency translation adjustment -          -             -           394             -                   394             

Total comprehensive loss (22,108)       
Issuance of shares of common stock under employee 
and director option plans 562       3,436        -             -                   -                    3,436            
Stock-based compensation related to stock options and 
awards and employee stock purchase plan -            -               14,789    -                   -                    14,789          
Issuance of shares of common stock under employee 
stock purchase plan 419       2,625        -             -                   -                    2,625            
Balance at December 31, 2009 58,645   273,052    56,408    371              (202,265)       127,566        
Components of comprehensive loss:

Net loss -            -               -             -                   (5,917)           (5,917)           
Foreign currency translation adjustment -          -             -           355             -                   355             

Total comprehensive loss (5,562)         
Issuance of shares of common stock under employee 
and director option plans 1,450    12,280      -             -                   -                    12,280          
Stock-based compensation related to stock options and 
awards and employee stock purchase plan -            -               16,323    -                   -                    16,323          
Issuance of shares of common stock under employee 
stock purchase plan 474       3,055        -             -                   -                    3,055            
Balance at December 31, 2010 60,569 288,387$ 72,731$ 726$            (208,182)$     153,662$     

 Common Stock 

 

The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CEPHEID 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (5,917)$    (22,502)$   (22,387)$  

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 9,326      8,808        7,632      
Amortization of intangible assets 6,966      6,823        5,343      
Amortization of prepaid compensation -           147           252         
Stock-based compensation related to employees and consulting services rendered 16,615    15,215      14,064    
Write-offs of intangible assets 271          -            406         
Unrealized (gain) loss on auction rate securities (1,714)     (6,734)       9,899      
Unrealized (gain) loss on put option 1,844      6,143        (9,438)     
Deferred rent 85            (26)            231         
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (4,394)     (4,062)       2,495      
Inventory 124          (4,937)       (8,580)     
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,426)     2,059        (2,520)     
Other non-current assets (113)         425           (676)        
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (5,112)     10,753      1,106      
Accrued compensation 3,726      949           (663)        
Deferred revenue 7,062      615           (1,771)     

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 27,343      13,676      (4,607)       

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (13,047)   (8,575)       (14,936)   
Acquisition of leasehold improvements 125          -            327         
Payments for technology licenses (1,000)     (1,500)       (418)        
Cost of acquisitions, net of cash acquired (1,300)     (148)          (1,884)     
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets 138          20            125         
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 24,800    200           2,550      
Transfer from (to) restricted cash -           1,500        (983)        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 9,716        (8,503)       (15,219)     

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from the sale of common shares and exercise of stock options and awards 15,334      6,061        12,183      
Proceeds from bank borrowing -            20             14,700      
Proceeds from notes payable 6,448        849           —
Principal payments of bank borrowing (14,618)   (40)            (65)          

Principal payments of notes payable (618)          (9)              —

Net cash provided by financing activities 6,546        6,881        26,818      

Effect of exchange rate change on cash 147           254           10             
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 43,752      12,308      7,002        
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 35,786      23,478      16,476      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 79,538$    35,786$    23,478$    

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for interest 225$         273$         11$          

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands)

 
 

The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization and Business 

Cepheid (the “Company” or “we”) was incorporated in the State of California on March 4, 1996. The Company is a broad-
based molecular diagnostics company that develops, manufactures, and markets fully-integrated systems for testing in the Clinical 
market, as well as for application in the Company’s legacy Industrial, Biothreat and Partner markets. The Company’s systems 
enable rapid, sophisticated molecular testing for organisms and genetic-based diseases by automating otherwise complex manual 
laboratory procedures. 

  
Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries after elimination 
of intercompany transactions and balances. All gains and losses realized from foreign currency transactions denominated in 
currencies other than the foreign subsidiary’s functional currency are included in foreign currency exchange gain (loss) and other 
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Adjustments resulting from translating the financial statements of all foreign 
subsidiaries into U.S. dollars are reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in 
shareholders’ equity. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated from their respective functional 
currencies into U.S. dollars at the rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and revenue and expense amounts are translated at rates 
approximating the weighted average rates during the period.  

Within the current liabilities section of the consolidated balance sheets and the cash flow from operating activities section of 
the consolidated statements of cash flows, certain amounts were reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. 

 
Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The Company defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
on the measurement date. Our valuation techniques used to measure fair value maximized the use of observable inputs and 
minimized the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is based on the following three levels of inputs:  

• Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2 - Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar 

assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

• Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair 
value of the assets or liabilities. 

See Note 2, “Fair Value,” for information and related disclosures regarding our fair value measurements. 
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with banks and money market instruments. Interest income includes 
interest, dividends, amortization of purchase premiums and discounts and realized gains and losses on sales of securities. 

 The Company designates marketable securities and short-term investments as either trading or available-for-sale and records 
them at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments are determined on the specific identification method. If 
designated as a trading security, unrealized gains and losses are recorded to current period operating results. If designated as an 
available-for-sale security, unrealized holding gains or losses are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive 
income. Marketable securities and short-term investments with original maturities greater than 90 days and remaining maturities 
less than one year are classified as short-term; otherwise they are classified as long-term. When an investment is sold, we 
recognize the difference between the sales proceeds and its carrying value (determined based on specific identification) as a 
realized gain or loss. An impairment charge is recognized when the decline in the fair value of a security below the amortized cost 
basis as a result of credit losses or otherwise is determined to be other-than-temporary. The Company considers various factors in 
determining whether to recognize an impairment charge, including the duration of time and the severity to which the fair value has 
been less than our amortized cost basis, any adverse changes in the investees’ financial condition and whether it is more-likely-
than-not that the Company will hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market 
value.  

 
Auction Rate Securities 

At December 31, 2010 we did not hold any auction rate securities. 

Prior to July 1,2010, we had a portfolio of auction rate securities that failed to settle at auction since March 2008. We valued 
our auction rate securities using a discounted cash flow methodology with significant inputs that included credit quality of the 
issuer, the percentage and the types of guarantees, contractual maturity, the timing and probability of the auction succeeding or 
security being called and discount factors. We collected interest on the investments that failed to settle at auction at the maximum 
contractual rate.  

On November 10, 2008, we accepted a comprehensive settlement arrangement offered by UBS, the fund manager with which 
we held our auction rate securities. Under the settlement, we had the put option to sell the auction rate securities held in our 
accounts with UBS to UBS at par value during the period beginning June 30, 2010 and ending July 2, 2012. Since the settlement 
agreement was a legally enforceable firm commitment, the put option was recognized as a financial asset at fair value in our 
financial statements, and accounted for separately from the associated securities. The fair value of the put option was based on the 
difference in value between the par value and the fair value of the associated auction rate securities. We measured the put option at 
its fair value, and subsequent changes in fair value also were recognized in respective period financial results. At December 31, 
2009, our put option was recorded at fair value, at par for $3.3 million and we had classified these securities as trading. On 
June 30, 2010, we notified UBS of our intent to exercise our put option to sell our portfolio of auction rate securities, which were 
classified as trading securities and recorded at fair value, at par to UBS for $11.8 million. In addition, the rights permitted us to 
establish a demand revolving credit line, payable on demand, in an amount up to 75% of fair value of the securities at a net no cost, 
meaning that the interest that we paid on the credit line would not exceed the interest that we received on the auction rate securities 
that we had pledged as security for the credit line. We borrowed $14.7 million on the line of credit on November 10, 2008. On 
July 1, 2010, we paid down the outstanding loan balance of $1.3 million, such that there was no outstanding balance at 
December 31, 2010. We had an outstanding loan balance of $14.6 million, which approximated the carrying value, at 
December 31, 2009. 

In 2010, we recorded a gain to other income (expense), net of $1.7 million to increase the value of our auction rate securities 
investments classified as trading securities, offset by a loss of $1.8 million to reduce the estimated fair value of the put option. In 
2009, we recorded a gain to other income, net of $6.7 million to increase the value of our auction rate securities investments 
classified as trading securities, partially offset by a loss of $6.1 million to reduce the estimated fair value of the put option. 

 
Inventory 

Inventory is stated at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost) or market, with cost determined on the first-
in-first-out method. Accordingly, allocation of fixed production overheads to conversion costs is based on normal capacity of 
production. Abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage are expensed as incurred and not 
included in overhead. In addition, unrecognized stock-based compensation cost of approximately $0.9 million and $1.2 million 
was included in inventory as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  
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The components of inventories were as follows (in thousands):  
 

2010 2009
Raw materials 14,101$  16,615$ 
Work in process 12,601    10,933    
Finished goods 10,896    10,467  

37,598$  38,015$  

December 31,

 
 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, and the cost is amortized 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. 

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):  
 

2010 2009
Land 21$         21$        
Building 3,331      3,119    
Scientific equipment 22,845    17,577  
Manufacturing equipment 19,972    20,554  
Office furniture, computers and equipment 11,764    9,473    
Leasehold improvements 14,862    10,706  

72,795    61,450    
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (45,357)   (37,429) 

27,438$  24,021$  

December 31,

 
 

Intangible Assets and Goodwill 

As of December 31, 2010, intangible assets consisted primarily of rights to certain patented technologies licensed from Roche 
and Applera, (see Note 5, “Patent License Agreements” and Note 7, “Collaborative Agreements and Contracts”) and intangible 
assets acquired in acquisitions (see Note 8, “Acquisitions”). 

Intangible assets related to licenses are recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets related to technology 
and other intangible assets acquired in acquisitions are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition, less accumulated 
amortization. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 3 to 20 years, on a straight-line basis, 
except for intangible assets acquired in acquisitions, which are amortized on the basis of economic useful life. Amortization of 
intangible assets is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

The Company reviews its intangible assets for impairment and conducts the impairment review when events or circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of a long-lived asset may be impaired by estimating the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived 
from an asset to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists. If the carrying value exceeds the Company’s estimate of 
future undiscounted cash flows, an impairment value is calculated as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the 
Company’s estimate of its fair market value. Events or circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a 
significant adverse change in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, 
significant changes in the Company’s use of acquired assets, the Company’s overall business strategy, or significant negative 
industry or economic trends. In 2010, we recorded an impairment charge of $0.3 million related to a license termination. No 
impairment charge was recorded in 2009. In 2008, we recorded an impairment charge of $0.4 million related to certain licenses 
with no future use.  

The Company annually reviews its goodwill for impairment. If the fair value of the Company exceeds its net book value 
including goodwill, then goodwill is not considered impaired. The initial step is to compare the Company’s fair value as 
determined by its market capitalization to its net book value. If the market capitalization exceeds the net book value, goodwill is 
presumed to be unimpaired. Otherwise, the Company would estimate expected future cash flows of its business, which operates in 
a number of markets and geographical regions. The Company would then determine the carrying value of its business and compare 
its carrying value including goodwill and other intangibles to the discounted future cash flows. If the total of future cash flows is less than 
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 the carrying amount of the assets, the Company would recognize an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount 
over the fair value of the assets. At December 31, 2010, the Company compared its market capitalization to its net book value and 
determined that goodwill was not impaired. 

 
Warranty Reserve 

The Company warrants its systems to be free from defects for a period of generally 12 to 15 months from the date of sale and 
its disposable products to be free from defects, when handled according to product specifications, for the stated life of such 
products. Accordingly, a provision for the estimated cost of warranty repair or replacement is recorded at the time revenue is 
recognized. The Company’s warranty provision is established using management’s estimate of future failure rates and future costs 
of repairing any failures during the warranty period or replacing any disposable products with defects. The activities in the 
warranty provision consisted of the following (in thousands):  

 
2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year 652$       655$        549$       
Costs incurred and charged against reserve (594)      (573)        (210)      
Accrual related to current year product sales 911        570          316        

Balance at end of year 969$        652$        655$        
 

 
Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, delivery 
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. No right of return exists for the Company’s 
products except in the case of damaged goods. The Company has not experienced any significant returns of its products. Contract 
revenues include fees for technology licenses and research and development services, royalties under license and collaboration 
agreements. Contract revenue related to technology licenses is generally fully recognized only after the license period has 
commenced, the technology has been delivered and no further involvement of the Company is required. When the Company has 
continuing involvement related to a technology license, revenue is recognized over the license term. Royalties are typically based 
on licensees’ net sales of products that utilize the Company’s technology, and royalty revenues are recognized as earned in 
accordance with the contract terms when the royalties can be reliably measured and their collectibility is reasonably assured, such 
as upon the receipt of a royalty statement from the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the services have been provided. 
Shipping and handling costs are expensed as incurred and included in cost of product sales. In those cases where the Company 
bills shipping and handling costs to customers, the amounts billed are classified as revenue.  

The Company recognizes revenue from both one-time product sales and longer-term contract arrangements. The Company 
enters into certain revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. Multiple element revenue agreements are evaluated to 
determine whether the delivered item has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis and whether objective and reliable evidence 
of the fair value of the undelivered item exists. Deliverables in an arrangement that do not meet the separation criteria must be 
treated as one unit of accounting for purposes of revenue recognition. Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned, 
such as funds received in advance of products to be delivered or services to be performed, are classified as deferred revenue until 
earned.  

Grants and government sponsored research revenue and contract revenue related to research and development services are 
recognized as the related services are performed based on the performance requirements of the relevant contract. Under such 
agreements, the Company is required to perform specific research and development activities and is compensated either based on 
the costs or costs plus a mark-up associated with each specific contract over the term of the agreement or when certain milestones 
are achieved and recoverability is reasonably assured.  

 
Research and Development 

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for company-sponsored and collaborative research and 
development activities. These costs include direct and research-related overhead expenses. The Company expenses research and 
development costs, including the expenses for research under collaborative agreements, as such costs are incurred. 
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Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense 
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. We estimate the fair value of stock-
based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately 
expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods, generally four years, in our consolidated statements of 
operations. 

In determining fair value of the stock-based compensation payments, we use the Black–Scholes model and a single option 
award approach, which requires the input of subjective assumptions. These assumptions include: estimating the length of time 
employees will retain their vested stock options before exercising them (expected term), the estimated volatility of our common 
stock price over the expected term (volatility), the risk-free interest rate and the number of shares subject to options that will 
ultimately not complete their vesting requirements (forfeitures). Changes in the following assumptions can materially affect the 
estimate of fair value of stock–based compensation.  

• Expected term is determined based on historical experience, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the 
stock-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior as influenced by changes to the 
terms of its stock-based awards. 

• Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility for the past 5 years, which approximates the expected term of 
the option grant.  

• Risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a 
remaining term equivalent to the expected term of a stock award.  

• Estimated forfeitures are based on voluntary termination behavior as well as analysis of actual option forfeitures.  
 

Foreign Currency Hedging 

The Company recognizes derivative instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, in the balance sheet in other assets or 
liabilities at their fair value. The Company utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts in order to reduce the impact of fluctuations 
in the value of non-functional currency monetary assets and liabilities upon its financial statements and cash flows. These 
instruments are used to hedge foreign currency exposures of underlying non-functional currency monetary assets and liabilities 
primarily arising from intercompany transactions such as intercompany inventory purchases between Cepheid and its foreign 
subsidiaries. These foreign exchange contracts, carried at fair value, generally have a maturity of three months or less. The 
Company’s accounting policies for these instruments are based on whether they are designated as hedging transactions. Our 
foreign exchange contracts were not designated as hedging transactions, therefore, the changes in fair value of the derivatives are 
recorded in earnings. The Company enters into approximately two to six derivatives per quarter ranging from $0.1 million to $12.5 
million in notional value each with a total notional value of approximately $11.2 million and $8.2 million in 2010 and 2009, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2010, we had two outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts, which were recorded as a 
derivative asset within prepaid expenses and other current assets with a fair value of approximately $4,000 and derivative liability 
within accrued and other liabilities with a fair value of approximately $92,000. As of December 31, 2009, we had two outstanding 
foreign exchange forward contracts, which were recorded as liabilities within accrued and other liabilities with a fair value of 
approximately $28,000. The effect of our hedging transactions, consisting entirely of foreign currency forward contracts, on our 
consolidated statement of operations in 2010 and 2009 was a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.8 million and a pre-tax loss of 
approximately $0.7 million, respectively. 

 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well as other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the 
Company’s accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists solely of cumulative foreign currency translation 
adjustments.  

 

2010 2009
Net loss (5,917)$       (22,502)$    
Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 355            394           

Comprehensive loss (5,562)$       (22,108)$     

December 31,
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Net Loss Per Share 

Basic net loss per share has been calculated based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. Shares used in diluted net loss per share calculations exclude anti-dilutive common stock equivalent shares, consisting of 
stock options. These anti-dilutive common stock equivalent shares totaled 5,651,000, 7,162,000 and 5,287,000 for 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively. 

 
Income Taxes 

We account for income taxes using an asset and liability approach, which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial statements, 
but have not been reflected in our taxable income. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to their 
estimated realizable value. Therefore, we provide a valuation allowance to the extent that we do not believe it is more likely than 
not that it will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets.  

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. For the year ended December 31, 
2010, 2009 and 2008, we did not recognize significant interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in the consolidated 
statements of operations, and at December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had no significant accrued interest or penalties.  

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, “Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements—a consensus of the 
FASB Emerging Issues Task Force” (“ASU 2009-13”). It updates the existing multiple-element revenue arrangements guidance 
currently included under ASC 605-25, which originated primarily from the guidance in EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue 
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” The revised guidance primarily provides two significant changes: 1) eliminates the 
need for objective and reliable evidence of the fair value for the undelivered element in order for a delivered item to be treated as a 
separate unit of accounting, and 2) eliminates the residual method to allocate the arrangement consideration. In addition, the 
guidance also expands the disclosure requirements for revenue recognition. We will adopt ASU 2009-13 on January 1, 2011. We 
do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

 In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, “Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements — a 
consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force” (“ASU 2009-14”). It modifies the scope of ASC subtopic 985-605 Software-
Revenue Recognition to exclude from its requirements: 1) non-software components of tangible products and 2) software 
components of tangible products that are sold, licensed, or leased with tangible products when the software components and non-
software components of the tangible product function together to deliver the tangible product’s essential functionality. We will 
adopt ASU 2009-14 on January 1, 2011. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on our 
consolidated financial statements. 
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2. Fair Value 

The following table represents the fair value hierarchy for our financial assets (cash equivalents and short-term investments) 
and financial liabilities (foreign currency derivatives) measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009 (in thousands):  

 
Balance as of December 31, 2010:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash 63,667$     $          – $          – 63,667$          
Cash equivalent - money market funds 15,871       – – 15,871            
Foreign currency derivatives – 4 – 4                    
Total 79,538$    4$           -$          79,542$         

Liabilities:
Foreign currency derivatives    $            – 92$             $            – 92$                 
Total $               – 92$         $            – 92$                

Balance as of December 31, 2009:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Cash 30,208$     $          – $          – 30,208$          
Cash equivalent - money market funds 5,578         – – 5,578              
Short-term investments - taxable auction rate securities – – 21,636      21,636            
Put option – – 3,295        3,295              
Total 35,786$    -$        24,931$    60,717$         

Liabilities:
Foreign currency derivatives    $            – 28$             $            – 28$                 
Total $               – 28$         $            – 28$                

 
The Company recorded derivative assets and liabilities at fair value. The Company’s derivatives consist of foreign exchange 

forward contracts. The Company has elected to use the income approach to value the derivatives, using observable Level 2 market 
expectations at the measurement date and standard valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount 
assuming that participants are motivated, but not compelled to transact. 

 Level 2 inputs for the valuations are limited to quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets (specifically 
foreign currency spot rate and forward points) and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 
(specifically LIBOR rates, credit default spot rates, and company specific LIBOR spread). Mid-market pricing is used as a 
practical expedient for fair value measurements. The fair value measurement of an asset or liability must reflect the 
nonperformance risk of the entity and the counterparty. Therefore, the impact of the counterparty’s creditworthiness when in an 
asset position and the Company’s creditworthiness when in a liability position has also been factored into the fair value 
measurement of the derivative instruments and did not have a material impact on the fair value of these derivative instruments. 
Both the counterparty and the Company are expected to continue to perform under the contractual terms of the instruments.  

Level 3 assets consist of auction rate securities whose underlying assets are student loans, most of which are guaranteed by the 
federal government. In February 2008, auctions began to fail for these securities, and since then each auction in our portfolio 
failed. Prior to the settlement of exercising our put option to sell the auction rate securities held in our accounts with UBS to UBS 
at par value on July 1, 2010, we had classified the auction rate securities as short-term assets on our consolidated balance sheet as 
of December 31, 2009. These investments were valued at fair value. The following table provides a summary of changes in fair 
value of our auction rate securities and put option for the 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):  
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Level 3
Balance at January 1, 2009 24,539$      

Settlements (199)           
6,734          

Unrealized loss of put option included in current period earnings (6,143)        
Balance at December 31, 2009 24,931$     

Level 3
Balance at January 1, 2010 24,931$      

Settlements (24,800)      
1,714          

Unrealized loss of put option included in current period earnings (1,845)        
Balance at December 31, 2010 -$          

Unrealized gain of auction rate securities included in current period earnings

Unrealized gain of auction rate securities included in current period earnings

 
Our investment portfolio of auction rate securities was structured with short-term interest rate reset dates of generally less than 

30 days, but with contractual maturities well in excess of ten years. Our auction rate securities consisted of investments that were 
backed by pools of student loans, which were principally guaranteed by the Federal Family Educational Loan Program, or insured. 
We believed that the credit quality of these securities was high based on these guarantees. We determined the fair market values of 
our financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy requirements for an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs 
(Level 1 and Level 2 inputs) and minimize the use of unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs) when measuring fair value. Until the 
first quarter of 2008, the fair values of our auction rate securities were determinable by reference to frequent successful Dutch 
auctions of such securities, which settled at par. Therefore, at the adoption date, we had categorized our investments in auction rate 
securities as Level 1. Given the failures in the auction markets to provide quoted market prices of the securities, as well as the lack 
of any correlation of these instruments to other observable market data, we valued these securities using a discounted cash flow 
methodology with the most significant input categorized as Level 3. Significant inputs that went into the model were the credit 
quality of the issuer, the percentage and the types of guarantees, contractual maturity, the timing and probability of the auction 
succeeding or the security being called and discount factors.  

On November 10, 2008, we accepted a comprehensive settlement arrangement offered by UBS, the fund manager with which 
we held our auction rate securities. Under the settlement, we had the option to sell the auction rate securities held in our accounts 
with UBS to UBS at par value during the put option exercise period. Since the settlement agreement was a legally enforceable firm 
commitment, the put option was recognized as a financial asset at fair value in our financial statements, and accounted for 
separately from the associated securities. The fair value of the put option was based on the difference in value between the par 
value and the fair value of the associated auction rate securities. We measured the put option at its fair value, and subsequent 
changes in fair value also were recognized in respective period financial results. At December 31, 2009, our put option was 
recorded at fair value, at par for $3.3 million and we had classified these securities as trading. On June 30, 2010, we notified UBS 
of our intent to exercise our put option to sell our portfolio of auction rate securities, which were classified as trading securities and 
recorded at fair value, at par to UBS for $11.8 million. In addition, the rights permitted us to establish a revolving credit line, 
payable on demand, in an amount up to 75% of fair value of the securities at a net no cost, meaning that the interest that we paid 
on the credit line would not exceed the interest that we received on the auction rate securities that we had pledged as security for 
the credit line. We borrowed $14.7 million on the line of credit on November 10, 2008. On July 1, 2010, we paid down the 
outstanding loan balance of $1.3 million, such that there was no outstanding balance at December 31, 2010. We had an 
outstanding loan balance of $14.6 million, which approximated the carrying value, at December 31, 2009. 

 
3. Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets related to licenses are recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets related to technology 
and other intangible assets acquired in acquisitions are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition, less accumulated 
amortization. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 3 to 20 years, on a straight-line basis, 
except for intangible assets acquired in acquisitions, which are amortized on the basis of economic useful life. Amortization of 
intangible assets is primarily included in cost of product sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  
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The recorded value and accumulated amortization of major classes of intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):  
 

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Balance, December 31, 2010
Licenses 44,507$      27,173$       17,334$   
Technology acquired in acquisitions 8,621         3,246           5,375      
Other intangible assets acquired in acquisitions 4,283         2,304           1,979      

57,411$       32,723$       24,688$    

Balance, December 31, 2009
Licenses 44,507$      21,792$       22,715$   
Technology acquired in acquisitions 8,613         2,027           6,586      
Other intangible assets acquired in acquisitions 3,183         1,667           1,516      

56,303$       25,486$       30,817$    
 

In 2010, the Company completed acquisitions of certain assets of two companies. Acquisitions are approximately 1% of total 
assets for each respective period presented. Technology acquired in acquisitions and other intangible assets increased by a total of 
$1.1 million at December 31, 2010 from December 31, 2009.  

Included in licenses was $19.9 million in connection with a patent license agreement with Roche, effective July 1, 2004. The 
net book value of this license was $7.0 million and $9.0 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

We capitalize patent licenses and amortize them over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. Amortization expense 
of intangible assets was $7.0 million, $6.8 million and $5.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. The expected future annual amortization expense of intangible assets recorded on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 is as follows, assuming no impairment charges (in thousands):  

 

For the Years Ending December 31,
Amortization 

Expense

2011 6,845$            
2012 5,468              
2013 4,756            
2014 3,418            
2015 1,497              
Thereafter 2,704            
Total expected future annual amortization 24,688$          
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4. Segment and Significant Concentrations 

We and our wholly owned subsidiaries operate in one business segment.  

The following table illustrates product sales in the Clinical, Industrial, Biothreat and Partner markets: 

 

2010 2009 2008

Product sales by market:
Clinical Systems 31,266$    26,241$     32,084$   
Clinical Reagents 131,254   89,701       58,167    
    Total Clinical 162,520   115,942     90,251    
Industrial 18,117     19,165       15,437    
Biothreat 22,206     24,762       35,797    
Partner 4,033       5,316         17,898    

Total product sales 206,876$   165,185$   159,383$  

Years Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands)

 
We currently sell our products through our direct sales force and through third-party distributors. For the years ended 

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, there was one direct customer that accounted for 11%, 15% and 23% of total product sales, 
respectively. We have distribution agreements with several companies to distribute products in the U.S. and have several regional 
distribution arrangements throughout Europe, Japan, China, the Americas and other parts of the world. The following table 
provides a summary of product sales by geographic region for the three years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 (in 
thousands):  

The following table provides a breakdown of product sales by geographic region (in thousands):  
 

2010 2009 2008
Product Sales Geographic 

North America 
Clinical 127,326$    88,562$      70,248$    
Other 37,328      40,227        55,078    

Total North America 164,654      128,789      125,326    

International
Clinical 35,194        27,380        20,004      
Other 7,028        9,016          14,053    

Total International 42,222        36,396        34,057      
 

Total product sales 206,876$    165,185$    159,383$   

Years Ended
December 31,

 
No single country outside of the U.S. represented more than 10% of our total revenues or total assets in any period presented 

and no customer outside the U.S. accounted for more than 10% of our total product sales.  
 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of bank deposits 
and accounts receivable. The Company maintains a portfolio of cash equivalents and money market funds.  

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived primarily from sales to customers. The Company performs ongoing credit 
evaluations of its customers and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary, but generally requires no collateral. 
In addition, the Company maintains an allowance for potential doubtful accounts. There was one customer whose accounts 
receivable balance represented 3% of total receivables as of December 31, 2010 and 12% of total receivables as of December 31, 
2009.  
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The Company relies on several companies as its sole source for various materials used in its manufacturing process. Any 
extended interruption in the supply of these materials could result in the failure to meet customer demand. 

 
5. Patent License Agreements 

In April 2004, the Company entered into a patent license agreement with Applera, through its LIFE and its Celera Diagnostics 
joint venture, for a non-exclusive worldwide license to make, use, and sell the Company’s products incorporating technology 
covered by Applera patents. The Company also entered into a patent license agreement with Roche, effective July 1, 2004, for a 
non-exclusive worldwide license to make, use, and sell the Company’s products incorporating technology covered by Roche 
patents. Under the license agreements, the Company agreed to pay aggregate license fees of $32.2 million, of which $23.5 million 
was paid in 2005 and $8.7 million was paid in 2006. In connection with the license agreements, the Company recorded intangible 
assets of $31.1 million, representing the present value of license fee obligations which is net of imputed interest of $1.1 million. 
The effective interest rate used to calculate the present value of the discounted payments was 4.0% for both the Roche and Applera 
licenses. In June 2006, the Applera patent license agreement was expanded to include additional Company products, for which the 
Company paid an additional $0.5 million. The intangible assets related to the Applera and Roche licenses are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their useful lives of approximately 10 years, with the amortization recorded as part of the cost of product 
sales. The Company also paid approximately $1.2 million in back royalties related to the Applera license, which was expensed 
during the quarter ended March 31, 2004. 

The Company also agreed to pay Applera and Roche ongoing royalties on sales of any products incorporating the licensed 
patents. Resulting product royalties are recorded as part of the cost of product sales when the related product sales are recognized. 

In September 2006, Cepheid entered into a sublicense agreement with Abbott, pursuant to which Abbott granted Cepheid a 
non-exclusive, world-wide, non-transferable right to Abbott’s exclusive license to certain patents from the Baylor College of 
Medicine. Under this sublicense agreement, the Company will be able to make, use, distribute and sell products incorporating the 
patented technology generally characterized as multiple genomic DNA amplification. In September 2006, Cepheid also entered 
into a license agreement with Abbott, pursuant to which Abbott granted Cepheid a non-exclusive, world-wide, non-transferable 
right to a certain Abbott patent. Under this license agreement, the Company will be able to make, use, distribute and sell products 
incorporating the patented technology generally characterized as detection of cervical chlamydia trachomatis infection. License 
payments for these agreements totaled $2.0 million. The intangible assets related to these sublicenses are amortized on a straight-
line basis over their useful lives of approximately 7 and 9 years, respectively, with the amortization recorded as part of the cost of 
product sales. 

In January 2007, Cepheid entered into a sublicense agreement with bioMerieux SA, pursuant to which bioMerieux SA granted 
Cepheid a non-exclusive, worldwide, irrevocable sublicense to certain patents that relate to the diagnosis of methicillin resistant 
staphylococcus aureus. The patents are owned by Kainos Laboratories Inc. and Professor Keiichi Hiramatsu and have been 
exclusively licensed to bioMerieux SA with the right for bioMerieux SA to sub-license. Under the sublicense agreement, and 
subject to certain limitations set forth therein, Cepheid is able to use the licensed rights to develop and sell products for use in 
connection with its GeneXpert and SmartCycler platforms. In exchange for such rights, Cepheid agreed to pay an initial license fee 
of approximately $4.0 million and quarterly royalties based on net product sales during the term of the sublicense agreement, 
which expires when the last of the patents licensed under the agreement expires. The license fee was paid in the first quarter of 
2007 and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful life of approximately 10 years, with the amortization recorded 
as part of the cost of product sales.  

 
6. Collaboration Profit Sharing 

Collaboration profit sharing represents the amount that the Company pays to LIFE under our collaboration agreement to 
develop reagents for use in the BDS developed for the USPS. Under the agreement, computed gross margin on anthrax cartridge 
sales are shared equally between the two parties. Collaboration profit sharing expense was $6.8 million, $8.2 million and $11.1 
million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008 respectively. The total revenues and cost of sales related to these 
cartridge sales are included in the respective balances in the consolidated statement of operations.  
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7. Collaborative Agreements and Contracts 

 Novartis 

In October 2010, the Company entered into a collaboration with Novartis for the commercialization of a test for monitoring the 
BCR-ABL gene transcript in peripheral blood specimens from patients diagnosed with Ph+ CML. To fund development and 
clinical trial costs, Cepheid received an upfront fee of $5.0 million in October 2010 from Novartis with up to $3.0 million in 
milestone payments over the ensuing 12 months. If the FDA grants us clearance to commercially release the product in the U.S., 
under the collaboration, Novartis will have exclusive global distribution rights to the Xpert BCR-ABL test under a 
Cepheid/Novartis label.  

 
Foundation for Innovative New Diagnostics 

In May 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with the FIND to develop a simple, rapid test that can detect 
mycobactrium tuberculosis and associated rifampin resistance from human sputum samples. Under the agreement, Cepheid was 
responsible for the development of a 6-color GeneXpert instrument to accomplish such test and the development of an enhanced 
manufacturing line for the manufacture of test cartridges used in the test. FIND reimbursed Cepheid at agreed upon amounts. The 
term of the development portion of the agreement was 30 months, which was subsequently extended an additional five months. In 
July 2009, the agreement was extended for another year for further specified enhancements. The supply term of the agreement is 
for 12 years, unless terminated by either party in accordance with relevant provisions of the agreement. In January 2011, the 
agreement was extended for another year and a new agreement was signed for the development of our Xpert HIV Viral Load test. 
Under the Xpert HIV agreement, FIND will fund $5.0 million in development costs throughout the two-year contract. 

 
LIFE and Northrop Grumman Corporation 

In October 2002, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with LIFE to develop reagents for use in the USPS BDS 
program, which was developed by the consortium led by Northrop Grumman Corporation. Under the agreement, reagents will be 
manufactured by LIFE for packaging by the Company into its GeneXpert test cartridges and sold by the Company for use in the 
BDS. This agreement calls for the computed gross margin on sales of anthrax cartridges for the USPS BDS program to be equally 
shared between the two parties. 

In August 2007, the Company entered into a five-year master purchase order with Northrop Grumman for the purchase of up to 
$200 million in anthrax test cartridges and associated materials used in BDS. The agreement, and subsequent purchase orders, 
cover the period through September 30, 2011. 

 
8. Acquisitions 

In 2010, the Company completed acquisitions of certain assets of two companies. In 2008, the Company completed one 
acquisition of certain assets of a company. Acquisitions are approximately 1% of total assets for each respective period presented. 

 
9. Commitments, Contingencies and Legal Matters  
 
Facility Leases 

The Company leases office space under arrangements expiring through 2020. Certain of these lease arrangements contain 
escalation clauses whereby monthly rent increases over time. Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease 
period. Net rent expense for all operating leases, partially offset by subleasing a portion of our office space to a third party, for the 
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $4.1 million, $3.7 million and $3.4 million, respectively. 

Minimum annual rental commitments under facility operating leases at December 31, 2010 are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Years Ending December 31, 
2011 5,809$      
2012 5,732        
2013 5,807         
2014 5,924        
2015 4,826        
Thereafter 14,777       

Total minimum payments 42,875$     
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Commitments 

As of December 31, 2010, purchase commitments consisted of $11.6 million, $2.5 million and $2.5 million for 2011, 2012, and 
2013.  

We have certain royalty commitments associated with the shipment and licensing of certain products. Royalty expense is 
generally based on a dollar amount per unit shipped or a percentage of the underlying revenue.  

 
Contingencies 

The Company responds to claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In certain cases, management has accrued 
estimates of the amounts it expects to pay upon resolution of such matters, and such amounts are included in other accrued 
liabilities. Should the Company not be able to secure the terms it expects, these estimates may change and will be recognized in 
the period in which they are identified. Although the ultimate outcome of such claims is not presently determinable, management 
believes that the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows.  

In the normal course of business, we provide indemnifications of varying scope to customers against claims of intellectual 
property infringement made by third parties arising from the use of our products. Historically, costs related to indemnification 
provisions have not been significant and we are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these indemnification 
provisions on our future results of operations. 

 To the extent permitted under California law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our directors and officers for certain 
events or occurrences while the director or officer is, or was serving, at our request in such capacity. The indemnification period 
covers all pertinent events and occurrences during the director’s or officer’s service. The maximum potential amount of future 
payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is not specified in the agreements; however, we 
have director and officer insurance coverage that reduces our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts 
paid. We believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is 
minimal.  

 
Legal Matters 

On June 28, 2010, Abaxis, Inc. filed suit in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California against us, alleging that 
our Xpert MRSA product infringes U.S. Patent No. 5,413,732, U.S. Patent No. 5,624,597, U.S. Patent No. 5,776,563 and U.S. 
Patent No. 6,251,684. On July 12, 2010, we filed our response to the suit, denying Abaxis’ allegations of infringement and asked 
the Court to find Abaxis’ patents invalid and not infringed. On August 5, 2010, Abaxis filed its response to our answer and 
counterclaim. On November 19, 2010, Abaxis filed an amended complaint in which it added allegations that we breached a 
licensing contract for the above-referenced patents. On December 17, 2010, we answered Abaxis’ amended complaint denying that 
we were in breach of the licensing contract and further amended our counterclaims against Abaxis. On January 14, 2011, Abaxis 
filed a motion to dismiss, countering certain of our defenses and counterclaims. We believe that the possibility that this legal 
proceeding will result in a material adverse effect on our business is remote. 

On January 10, 2011, Troll Busters LLC filed suit in United States District Court for the Southern District of California against 
us and twelve other named defendants alleging that Cepheid falsely marked its Omnimix and 3-Agent Biothreat Assay products 
with expired patents owned by Roche Molecular Systems relating to certain PCR processes. Our initial deadline for answering this 
complaint is April 11, 2011. We believe that the possibility that this legal proceeding will result in a material adverse effect on our 
business is remote. 

During the third quarter of 2009, the Company entered into a settlement with a vendor regarding certain issues under multiple 
agreements. Pursuant to the settlement, the vendor paid the Company $0.2 million, which the Company recorded as a gain.  
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10. Shareholders’ Equity 

Stock Option Plans 

On April 27, 2006, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2006 Plan, which was approved by the Board in February 2006. 
On April 27, 2006, the Board also terminated the Company’s 1997 Stock Option Plan (“1997 Plan”). No new grants will be made 
under the 1997 Plan, and options granted or shares issued under the 1997 Plan that were outstanding on the date the 1997 Plan was 
terminated will remain subject to the terms of the 1997 Plan. Shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan 
include (i) an initial authorization of 3,800,000 shares of common stock, (ii) shares reserved but unissued under the 1997 Plan as 
of the date the 1997 Plan was terminated and (iii) shares subject to awards granted under the 1997 Plan that are cancelled, forfeited 
or repurchased by the Company or expire after the 1997 Plan termination. On April 24, 2008, shareholders approved an increase to 
the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan by 1,800,000. On April 29, 2010, shareholders 
approved an increase to the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan by 3,800,000. 

Under the 2006 Plan, the Company may grant incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and non-qualified stock options (“NQSOs”), 
restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), stock bonus awards (“SBAs”), stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock units 
(“RSUs”) and performance share awards (“PSAs”). ISOs may be granted only to employees and directors of the Board, and all 
other awards may be granted to Company employees and directors and to consultants, independent contractors and advisors of the 
Company for services rendered. Any award, other than a stock option or a SAR, shall reduce the number of shares available for 
issuance by 1.75 shares for each share subject to such award (for a stock option or a SAR this ratio shall remain 1:1). The 2006 
Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board (“Committee”). RSAs, SBAs, RSUs and PSAs (collectively, 
“Full Value Equity Awards”) with vesting or settlement restrictions, as applicable, based upon completion of performance goals, 
shall have a minimum one-year vesting or settlement restriction period (the “One-Year Restriction Period”) and all other vesting or 
settlement restrictions, as applicable, for Full Value Equity Awards shall have a minimum three-year vesting or settlement 
restriction period (the “Three-Year Restriction Period” and together with the One-Year Restriction Period, the “Minimum 
Restriction Periods”). The Company may grant Full Value Equity Awards without taking into account the Minimum Restriction 
Periods, provided, that, the Company does not grant more than 10% of the aggregate shares of common stock reserved and 
available for grant and issuance under the 2006 Plan without the Minimum Restriction Periods. The following provides a general 
description of each type of award under the 2006 Plan. As of December 31, 2010, we had 2,199,748 shares of our common stock 
reserved for future issuance under the 2006 Plan. 

Stock options may be granted at no less than the fair market value per share of common stock on the date of the grant (at 
110% of fair market value for ISOs granted to 10% shareholders), expire not later than seven years from the date of grant 
(five years from the date of grant for ISOs granted to 10% shareholders) and generally vest 25% one year after the date of 
grant and then on a pro rata basis over the following 36 months.  

RSAs may be granted at a purchase price that is less than fair market value on the date of grant, and the restrictions are 
determined by the Committee and may be based on years of service with the Company or completion of performance goals 
during a period. The Committee will determine the extent that the RSA is earned prior to the payment for the shares 
awarded. 

SBAs may be granted for past or future services and may contain restrictions based on years of service with the Company or 
completion of performance goals during a period. No payment will be required for shares awarded under an SBA. Payments 
to recipients of an SBA may be in the form of cash, shares of common stock, or a combination thereof, based on the fair 
market value of shares earned under the SBA. The Committee will determine the number of shares to be awarded under the 
SBA and the extent that the SBA is earned prior to the payment for the shares awarded.  

SARs are awards for past or future services that may be settled in cash or shares of common stock, including restricted stock, 
having a value equal to the number of shares subject to the SAR multiplied by the difference between the fair market value on 
the date of grant and the exercise price. The Committee determines the terms of each SAR, including the number of shares of 
common stock subject to the SAR, the exercise price and the times during which the SAR may be settled, consideration to be 
made on settlement, and effect of the participant’s termination. If SARs are awarded based on performance goals, the 
Committee will determine the extent that the SAR is earned. SARs may be granted at an exercise price that may be less than 
fair market value per share of common stock on the date of grant, may be exercisable at one time or from time to time, and have 
a term not to exceed seven years. 

RSUs are awards for past or future services that may be settled in cash or shares of common stock, including restricted stock. 
The Committee determines the terms of each RSU, including the number of shares of common stock subject to the RSU, the 
times during which the RSU may be settled, consideration to be made on settlement, and effect of the participant’s termination. 
If RSUs are awarded based on performance goals, the Committee will determine the extent that the RSU is earned. The number 
of shares subject to the RSU may be fixed or may vary depending on performance goals determined by the Committee. While 
the RSU shall be paid currently, under certain circumstances the Committee may permit the participant to defer settlement of 
the RSU. 
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PSAs are awards denominated in shares of common stock that may be settled in cash or issuance of such shares (which may 
consist of restricted stock). The Committee will determine the terms of each PSA, including the number of shares of common 
stock subject to the PSA, the performance factors and period that shall determine the time and extent to which each PSA shall 
be settled, consideration to be made on settlement, and effect of the participant’s termination. The Committee will determine 
the extent that the PSA is earned. The number of shares subject to the PSA may be fixed or may vary in accordance with 
performance goals as determined by the Committee. 

We have no outstanding SBAs, SARs, or PSAs as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

A summary of option activity under all plans is as follows (in thousands, except weighted average exercise price and weighted 
average remaining contractual term):  

 

Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term (in 
years)

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding, December 31, 2007 8,905          $        8.48 
Granted 2,109             $      20.94 
Exercised (1,750)          $        5.63 
Forfeited (258)             $      16.47 

Outstanding, December 31, 2008 9,006          $      11.72 
Granted 1,694           $        9.45 
Exercised (505)             $        6.80 
Forfeited (443)             $      13.05 

Outstanding, December 31, 2009 9,752          $      11.52 
Granted 1,448           $      19.79 
Exercised (1,388)            $        8.83 
Forfeited (298)             $      16.09 

Outstanding, December 31, 2010 9,514          $      13.03 4.20           94,022$          

Exercisable, December 31, 2010 6,538            11.30$      3.59           75,915$          
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2010 8,954            12.81$      4.13           90,425$          

 
The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value (i.e., the difference between our 

closing stock price of $22.75 on the last trading day of 2010 and the exercise price, times the number of shares for options where 
the exercise price is below the closing stock price) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders 
exercised their options on that date. This amount changes based on the fair market value of our stock. The total intrinsic value of 
options actually exercised was $14.4 million, $2.5 million, and $37.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 
2008, respectively. 
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A summary of all award activity, which consists of RSAs and RSUs, is as follows (in thousands, except weighted average grant 
date fair value): 

  

Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value

Outstanding, December 31, 2007 91              $      13.55 
Granted 27             $      24.76 
Vested (42)            $      14.80 
Cancelled (10)            $      21.73 

Outstanding, December 31, 2008 66              $      16.07 
Granted 65             $      12.51 
Vested (58)            $      13.19 
Cancelled (8)             $      19.85 

Outstanding, December 31, 2009 65              $      14.60 
Granted 415           $      20.05 
Vested (67)            $      15.08 
Cancelled (10)            $        8.43 

Outstanding, December 31, 2010 403            $      17.92 
 

 

In accordance with the 2006 Plan, RSAs and RSUs granted in 2010 and 2009 reduced the number of shares available for future 
grant by a factor of 1.75 in 2010, 2009 and 2008 for each share subject to such award, or 725,667, 113,750 and 47,250 shares in 
2010, 2009 and 2008. 

 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

The ESPP was adopted in April 2000, amended in June 2003 and April 2009. The ESPP permits eligible employees of the 
Company and its participating subsidiaries to purchase common stock at a discount up to a maximum of 15% of compensation 
through payroll deductions during defined two-year offering periods consisting of four, six-month purchase periods. The price at 
which stock is purchased under the ESPP is equal to 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the first day of the two-
year offering period or the last day of the six-month purchase period, whichever is lower. The number of shares available for 
future issuance increase annually equal to the lesser of (a) 200,000 shares, (b) 0.75% of the outstanding shares on the date of the 
annual increase or (c) an amount determined by the Board. 

 
Reserved Shares 

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows (in thousands): 
 

2006 Plan:
Options, RSUs and awards outstanding for all plans 9,514     
Reserved for future grants  2,200      

ESPP 1,081     
12,795     
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Stock-Based Compensation 

Fair Value—The fair value of the Company’s stock options granted to employees and shares purchased by employees under 
the ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was estimated using the following assumptions:  

 

2010 2009 2008
OPTION SHARES:

Expected Term (in years) 4.61      4.52        4.46       
Volatility 0.55      0.74        0.60       
Expected Dividends 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk Free Interest Rates 2.13% 1.86% 2.38%
Estimated Forfeitures 7.74% 8.04% 7.74%

ESPP SHARES:
Expected Term (in years) 1.25      1.25        1.25       
Volatility 0.65      0.85        0.70       
Expected Dividends 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk Free Interest Rates 0.46% 0.65% 2.26%
Estimated Forfeitures 7.74% 8.04% 7.74%

Years Ended December 31,

 
The weighted average fair value of our stock options granted to employees was $9.38, $5.53 and $6.44 for 2010, 2009 and 

2008, respectively. Also, the weighted average fair value for our shares purchased by employees under the ESPP was $6.90, $4.31 
and $7.60 for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

Stock-Based Compensation Cost—The following table is a summary of the major categories of stock compensation expense 
recognized in accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”) for the years ended December 31, 
2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands).  

 

2010 2009 2008
Cost of product sales 2,523$        2,411$   1,016$  
Research and development 5,274         5,499     5,407   
Sales and marketing 3,613         2,823     3,456   
General and administrative 5,206         4,482     4,185   

Total stock-based compensation cost 16,616$       15,215$ 14,064$ 

Years Ended December 31,

 
The above stock-based compensation cost includes $1.8 million, $1.0 million, and $1.7 million related to ESPP for 2010, 2009, 

and 2008, respectively. In addition, stock-based compensation cost of approximately $0.9 million, $1.2 million and $1.6 million 
was included in inventory as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2010, the total compensation cost related to unvested stock-based grants awarded under the Company’s 
1997 Plan and 2006 Plan but not yet recognized was approximately $20.1 million, which is net of estimated forfeitures of $5.3 
million. This cost will be amortized on a straight line basis over a weighted average period of approximately 2.52 years and will be 
adjusted for subsequent changes in estimated forfeitures.  

As of December 31, 2010, the total compensation cost related to RSAs and RSUs under the 2006 Plan not yet recognized was 
approximately $5.7 million, which is net of estimated forfeitures of $1.4 million. This cost will be amortized on a straight line 
basis over a weighted average period of approximately 1.92 years and 3.80 years for RSAs and RSUs, respectively and will be 
adjusted for subsequent changes in estimated forfeitures.  

At December 31, 2010, the total compensation cost related to options to purchase the Company’s common shares under the 
ESPP but not yet recognized was approximately $0.3 million. The cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the two year 
offering period, as such term is defined in the ESPP.  
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CEPHEID 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) 

December 31, 2010 
11. Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company adopted a 401(k) plan that allows eligible employees to contribute a percentage of their qualified compensation 
subject to IRS limits. The Company has the discretion to make matching contributions each year. Contributions made by the 
Company for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $0.6 million, $0.5 million, and $0.5, respectively.  

 
12. Income Taxes  

The income tax benefit of $0.4 million in 2010 is primarily comprised of $0.8 million of income tax benefit primarily related to 
a tax credit for research and development in France, as well as to the amortization of acquired intangibles in Sweden and UK, 
partially offset by $0.3 million of foreign tax expense and state income tax expense of $0.1 million. The income tax benefit of $0.4 
million in 2009 represented U.S. federal income tax benefit of $0.2 million related to a refundable R&D credit as provided by the 
Act. The income tax benefit in 2009 also represented $0.7 million of income tax benefit mainly related to the amortization of 
acquired intangibles in Sweden partially offset by $0.4 million of foreign tax expense and state income tax expense of $0.1 
million. The income tax benefit of $0.9 million in 2008 represented current U.S. federal income tax benefit of $0.2 million related 
to a refundable R&D credit as provided by the Act. The income tax benefit in 2008 also represented $0.9 million of income tax 
benefit mainly related to the amortization of acquired intangibles in Sweden and a refundable R&D credit in France, partially 
offset by $0.1 million of state income tax expense.  

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred 
tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands): 

 

2010 2009
Net operating loss carryforwards 38,300$ 49,393$  
Capitalized research and development costs 190       1,633     
Research and other credit carryforwards 9,709    8,925     
Stock option compensation 13,952  12,512   
Other 14,945  9,120     
Total deferred tax assets 77,096  81,583   
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (76,982) (81,583) 
Total deferred tax liability (1,656)   (1,919)    
Net deferred tax liability (1,542)$   (1,919)$   

December 31,

 
Realizability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. 

Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance with the exception of those in the UK and 
Sweden relating to the amortization of acquired assets and licensed intellectual property of Sangtec and Stretton. The valuation 
allowance decreased by approximately $4.6 million, increased by $9.1 million and decreased by $11.4 million during the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately 
$154.2 million, which expire in the years 2011 through 2028, federal research and development tax credits of approximately $5.3 
million, which expire in the years 2019 through 2030, and foreign tax credits of $0.1 million which expire in 2019. As of 
December 31, 2009, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $69.7 
million, which expire in the years 2014 through 2031, and state research and development tax credits of approximately $6.8 
million, which have no expiration date.  

Utilization of the Company’s net operating loss may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership change 
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such annual limitation may result in the expiration 
of net operating loss before utilization.  

The Company had no undistributed earnings from its foreign subsidiaries for which tax has not been provided as of December 
31, 2010.  

The Company maintains liabilities for uncertain tax positions. These liabilities involve considerable judgment and estimation 
and are continuously monitored by management based on the best information available, including changes in tax regulations, the 
outcome of relevant court cases, and other information. For federal income tax purposes, the Company has open tax years from 
1996 through 2010 due to net operating loss carryforwards relating to these years. Substantially all material state, local and foreign 
income tax matters have been concluded for years through December 31, 2001. For California state income tax purposes, the open 
years are from 2000 through 2010 due to either research credit carryovers or net operating loss carryforwards. 
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CEPHEID 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) 

December 31, 2010 

The following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):  
 

2010 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of year 4,741$      4,330$      3,675$      
Increase related to current year tax positions 518           486           689           
Increase (decrease) for tax positions of prior years (73)           (75)           (34)           
Balance at end of year 5,186$     4,741$     4,330$      

 
All of the unrecognized tax benefits would affect our effective tax rate if recognized, before consideration of certain valuation 

allowances. The Company anticipates that the total unrecognized tax benefits will not significantly change due to the settlement of 
audits and the expiration of statutes of limitations prior to December 31, 2011. 

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of 
income tax expense. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. In 2010, 2009 
and 2008, we did not recognize any significant interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. As of December 31, 2010 
and 2009, we had accrued no significant interest or penalties. 

 
13. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 

The Company is exposed to global market risks, including the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and uses 
derivatives to manage financial exposures that occur in the normal course of business. The Company does not hold or issue 
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.  

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate the change in fair value of our net recognized foreign 
currency assets and liabilities and to reduce the risk that our earnings and cash flows will be adversely affected by changes in 
exchange rates. These derivative instruments are not designated as hedging instruments. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of 
these derivative instruments are recognized immediately in other income (expense), net on the statement of operations together 
with the transaction gain or loss from the hedged balance sheet position. These derivative instruments do not subject us to material 
balance sheet risk due to exchange rate movements because gains and losses on these derivatives are intended to offset gains and 
losses on the assets and liabilities being hedged.  

The Company’s derivative financial instruments present certain market and counterparty risks; however, concentration of 
counterparty risk is mitigated as the Company deals with major banks with Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s long-term debt ratings 
of A or higher. In addition, only conventional derivative financial instruments are utilized. At this time, the Company does not 
require collateral or any other form of securitization to be furnished by the counterparties to its derivative financial instruments.  

 
14. Gain from Legal Settlement 

 During the third quarter of 2009, we entered into a settlement with a vendor regarding certain issues under multiple 
agreements. Pursuant to the settlement, the vendor paid us $0.2 million, which we have recorded as a gain.  

 
15. Restructuring 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company eliminated 47 positions that impacted employees, contractors and replacement 
positions, which resulted in $0.7 million of restructuring expense, primarily related to severance. As of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, the activities under this restructuring plan were complete and the Company had no outstanding restructuring expenses to be 
paid.  

 
16. Notes payable 

Notes payable 

On June 7, 2010, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with SVB, which provided for (i) a total revolving credit line of 
up to $15.0 million with a maturity date of June 7, 2012 and bearing interest no less than 4.0% with a commitment fee of 
0.75% per annum on the unused portion, and (ii) a total term line of $6.0 million, $2.0 million of which was funded on the 
effective date of the Loan Agreement, $2.0 million of which was funded in the third quarter of 2010 and $2.0 million of which was 
funded in the fourth quarter of 2010, with a maturity date for each term loan of 48 months following funding and bearing interest 
no less than 5.5%. The borrowings under the Loan Agreement are collateralized by a first priority security interest in certain assets 
of the Company. The Company had an outstanding balance of $5.5 million on the term line and no outstanding balance under the 
revolving credit line at December 31, 2010. The loan agreement requires the Company to maintain no less than 75% of its 
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consolidated cash and cash equivalents in the operating bank accounts in the U.S. as collateral. Also, the loan agreement requires a 
covenant for the Company to satisfy a minimum consolidated EBITDA – Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortization on a quarterly basis and a minimum liquidity covenant on a monthly basis. If the Company violates any of these 
covenants or otherwise breaches the loan agreement, the Company may be required to repay the loans prior to their stated maturity 
dates, and the bank may be able to foreclose on any collateral in the Company’s operating accounts. The Company was in 
compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2010. As of December 31, 2010, the minimum SVB loan principal payments 
are as follows (in thousands):  

 

Total
Less Than 1 

Year
1-3

Years
3-5

Years
More Than 5 

Years
Note payable 5,500   1,500   3,000   1,000     -        

Payments Due by Period

 
 
The Company also had an outstanding note payable of $1.2 million and $0.8 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 

respectively, with its real property in France pledged as collateral for the loan.  
 

Bank Borrowing 

The UBS comprehensive settlement agreement permitted the Company to establish a revolving credit line, payable on demand, 
in an amount up to 75% of the fair market value of the auction rate securities at a net no cost, meaning that the interest the 
Company paid on the credit line would not exceed the interest that the Company received on the auction rate securities that the 
Company had pledged as security for the credit line. The Company borrowed $14.7 million on the line of credit on November 10, 
2008 and had no outstanding balance at December 31, 2010 and an outstanding balance of $14.6 million at December 31, 2009.  
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CEPHEID 
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA: 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

Mar 31 June 30 Sep 30 Dec 31

2010
Revenues:

Product sales 47,182$ 48,648$  54,877$ 56,169$ 
Other revenues 863       994         1,178    2,557    

Total revenues 48,045  49,642    56,055  58,726  
Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of product sales 26,071  25,215    27,279  26,570  
Collaboration profit sharing 1,655    1,654      2,404    1,093    
Research and development 9,701    10,150    10,986  11,666  
Sales and marketing 8,985    9,260      9,969    10,626  
General and administrative 5,715    5,848      6,033    6,932    

Total cost and operating expenses 52,127  52,127    56,671  56,887  
Income (loss) from operations (4,082)   (2,485)     (616)      1,839    
Other income (expense), net (276)      (261)        (109)      (346)      
Income (loss) before income tax expense (4,358)   (2,746)     (725)      1,493    
Benefit (provision) for income taxes 19         945         (397)      (148)      
Net income (loss) (4,339)$   (1,801)$   (1,122)$   1,345$    

Basic net income (loss) per share (0.07)$    (0.03)$     (0.02)$    0.02$     
Diluted net income (loss) per share (0.07)$    (0.03)$     (0.02)$    0.02$     

Weighted average shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share   58,936    59,493    59,987    60,413    

Weighted average shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share 58,936    59,493    59,987    63,372    

Gross profit on product sales:
Product sales 47,182$  48,648$  54,877$  56,169$  
Cost of product sales (26,071)   (25,215)   (27,279)   (26,570)   

21,111$ 23,433$  27,598$ 29,599$ 

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Quarters Ended

 
Diluted net income per common share is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-

average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period increased to include the number of additional shares of 
common stock that would have been outstanding if the potentially dilutive securities had been issued. 
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Mar 31 June 30 Sep 30 Dec 31

2009
Revenues:

Product sales 36,588$ 39,560$ 40,798$  48,239$ 
Other revenues 2,179      1,461      837         965         

Total revenues 38,767    41,021    41,635    49,204    
Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of product sales 20,690  23,250  23,765    27,837  
Collaboration profit sharing 2,629    2,612    1,306      1,653    
Research and development 10,338  10,315  8,744      9,916    
Sales and marketing 6,812    6,917    7,040      8,387    
General and administrative 5,269    5,340    5,223      5,446    
Restructuring charge 747       — — —
Gain from legal settlement — — (243)        —

Total costs and operating expenses 46,485  48,434  45,835    53,239  
Loss from operations (7,718)   (7,413)   (4,200)     (4,035)   
Other income (expense), net 72         459       116         (223)      
Loss before income tax expense (7,646)   (6,954)   (4,084)     (4,258)   
Benefit (provision) for income taxes 44         175       245         (24)        
Net loss (7,602)$   (6,779)$   (3,839)$   (4,282)$   

Basic and diluted net loss per share (0.13)$    (0.12)$    (0.07)$     (0.07)$    
Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted net 
loss per share 57,832    58,053    58,335    58,596    

Gross profit on product sales:
Product sales 36,588$  39,560$  40,798$  48,239$  
Cost of product sales (20,690)   (23,250)   (23,765)   (27,837)   

15,898$ 16,310$ 17,033$  20,402$ 

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Quarters Ended
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None.  
 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As of December 31, 2010, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, 
including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(a) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended). Based on the evaluation, we concluded that the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports filed and submitted under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

The report of management required under this Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
under the heading “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” 

 
Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 The attestation report required under this Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under 
the heading “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.” 

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2010. 
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

None. 
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PART III 
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Information in response to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual 
meeting of shareholders to be held on April 26, 2011. Information related to our executive officers also appears under the caption 
“Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Item 1 to this report. 

 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Information in response to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual 
meeting of shareholders to be held on April 26, 2011.  

 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 

SHAREHOLDER MATTERS 

Information in response to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual 
meeting of shareholders to be held on April 26, 2011. For the information required by this item with respect to Item 201(d) of 
Regulation S-K regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see “Item 5: Market for Registrant’s 
Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Equity Compensation Plan 
Information.”  

 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

Information in response to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual 
meeting of shareholders to be held on April 26, 2011.  

 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

Information in response to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual 
meeting of shareholders to be held on April 26, 2011.  
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PART IV 
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

The following documents are being filed as part of this report on Form 10-K: 
 
(a) Financial Statements 

The following financial statements are filed as part of this report on Form 10-K under “Item 8: Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Consolidated Balance Sheets  

Consolidated Statements of Operations  

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

Supplementary Data: Quarterly Financial Information  
 
(b) Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. 

All other schedules are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in “Item 8: 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

 
(c) Exhibits 

The exhibit list in the Index to Exhibits is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits required as part of this report 
on Form 10-K. 
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CEPHEID 
 

SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
 

Description

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Year
Costs and 
Expenses Deductions

Balance at 
End of Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2008 37$            69$          (86)$            20$         
Year ended December 31, 2009 20             (12)          (1)                7            
Year ended December 31, 2010 7               80           (26)              61          

(In thousands)

 

74



75 
 

SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 
  CEPHEID 
 
  By:               /s/ ANDREW D. MILLER   
    Andrew D. Miller 
   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 
 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints 
John L. Bishop and Andrew D. Miller or either of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of 
substitution and re-substitution, for him and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign any and all 
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection 
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto the attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full 
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as 
fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the attorneys-in-
fact and agents, or either of them, or their, his or her substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 
Signature Title Date 

   /s/ JOHN L. BISHOP  Chief Executive Officer and February 24, 2011 
John L. Bishop Director (Principal Executive Officer)  

  /s/ ANDREW D. MILLER  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial February 24, 2011 
Andrew D. Miller Officer (Principal Financial Officer)  

  /s/ THOMAS L. GUTSHALL  Director and Chairman of the Board February 24, 2011 
Thomas L. Gutshall   

  /s/ THOMAS D. BROWN  Director February 24, 2011 
Thomas D. Brown   

  /s/ CRISTINA H. KEPNER  Director February 24, 2011 
Cristina H. Kepner   

  /s/ ROBERT EASTON  Director February 24, 2011 
Robert Easton   

  /s/ DEAN O. MORTON  Director February 24, 2011 
Dean O. Morton   

  /s/ MITCHELL D. MROZ  Director February 24, 2011 
Mitchell D. Mroz   

  /s/ DAVID H. PERSING, M.D., PH.D.  Executive Vice President and Chief Medical February 24, 2011 
David H. Persing, M.D., Ph.D. and Technology Officer and Director  

  /s/ HOLLINGS C. RENTON  Director February 24, 2011 
Hollings C. Renton   
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     Incorporated by Reference  
Exhibit 
Number 

  
 Description of Exhibit 

  
 Form 

  
File No. 

  
Exhibit 

  
Filing Date 

 Filed 
Herewith  

 3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation S-1 333-34340  3.1 4/7/00  

 3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K   3.01 10/24/08  

 3.3 Certificate of Determination specifying the terms of 
the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of 
registrant, as filed with the Secretary of State to the 
State of California on October 2, 2002 

8-A   3.02 10/4/02  

 4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2       

 4.2 Specimen Common Stock Certificate 10-Q   4.01 7/31/02  

 4.3 Rights Agreement dated September 26, 2002 
between Cepheid and Computershare Trust 
Company as Rights Agent, which includes as 
Exhibit A the form of Certificate of Determination 
of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, as 
Exhibit B the Summary of Stock Purchase Rights 
and as Exhibit C the Form of Rights Certificate 

8-A   3.02 10/4/02  

 10.1*  1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended S-8 333-106181  4.2 6/17/03  

 10.2*  2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended 8-K   99.1 5/5/09  

 10.3* 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and 
restated 

8-K  99.01 11/1/10  

 10.4*  Form of Indemnification Agreement between 
Cepheid and its officers and directors 

S-1 333-34340  10.6 4/7/00  

 10.5†  License Agreement, dated January 16, 1996, 
between Cepheid and The Regents of the 
University of California, Lawrence Livermore 
National Laboratory 

S-1 333-34340  10.9 6/7/00  

 10.6†  Thermal Cycler Supplier Agreement, dated April 15, 
2000, between Cepheid and PE Biosystems, a 
division of PE Corporation 

S-1 333-34340  10.16 5/18/00  

 10.7  Lease Agreement dated October 18, 2001, between 
Cepheid and Aetna Life Insurance Company 

10-K   10.17 3/22/02  

 10.8†  Collaboration Agreement between Applied 
Biosystems and Cepheid dated October 11, 2002 

10-K   10.28 3/25/03  

 10.9†  IVD Products Patent License Agreement between 
Cepheid and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, effective 
July 1, 2004 

10-Q   10.28 8/9/04  

 10.10†  Real-Time Instrument Patent License Agreement 
between Applera Corporation and Cepheid, dated 
April 5, 2004 

10-Q   10.29 8/9/04  

 10.11*  Offer letter dated November 4, 2004 from Cepheid 
to Mr. Humberto Reyes from Cepheid 

10-K   10.35 2/28/05  

          
 10.12  Facility lease agreement between Cepheid and 

Teachers Insurance & Annuity Association of 
America, Inc. dated May 13, 2005 

8-K   99.01 5/18/05  
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     Incorporated by Reference  
Exhibit 
Number 

  
 Description of Exhibit 

  
 Form 

  
File No. 

  
Exhibit 

  
Filing Date 

 Filed 
Herewith  

 10.13*  Employment offer letter between Cepheid and David 
H. Persing dated July 21, 2005 

8-K   99.01 7/26/05  

 10.14*  Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement with certain 
executive officers of Cepheid approved by 
Cepheid’s Compensation Committee of the Board 
of Directors on April 27, 2005 

10-Q   10.3 8/4/05  

 10.15* Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2007, by 
and between Cepheid and John L. Bishop 

8-K   10.1 1/29/07  

 10.16* Share Purchase Agreement dated February 14, 2007, 
by and between Cepheid, Altana Technology 
Projects GmbH, and Altana Pharma AG 

 

8-K   2.1 2/20/07  

 10.17 Settlement and Cross-License Agreement between 
Cepheid and Idaho Technology, Inc. dated 
January 2, 2007 

 

10-Q   10.1 5/10/07  

 10.18† Master Purchase Order between Northrop Grumman 
Security Systems and Cepheid dated August 15, 
2007 

 

10-Q   10.1 11/5/07  

 10.19* Employment Agreement dated February 6, 2008, by 
and between Cepheid and Andrew D. Miller  

8-K   10.01 2/11/08  

 10.20* Amended and Restated Form of Change of Control 
Retention and Severance Agreement between 
Cepheid and each of its executive officers 

8-K   99.02 5/3/10  

   10.21 Office Lease dated February 28, 2008, between 
BRCP Caribbean Portfolio, LLC, and Cepheid 

10-Q  10.1   5/7/08  

   10.22 Series C-2 Auction Rate Securities Rights 
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the 
Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-
153882) filed by UBS AG with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on October 7, 2008) 

F-3 333-153882 4.6 10/7/08  

   10.23 Credit Line Agreement dated December 5, 2008, by 
and between Cepheid and UBS 

10-K  10.38 2/26/09  

   10.24* Offer Letter dated June 5, 2003 from Cepheid to 
Joseph H. Smith 

    X 

   10.25* Amendment to employment agreement dated 
February 21, 2008 from Cepheid to Joseph H. 
Smith 

    X 

   10.26 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 7, 
2010, by and between Cepheid and Silicon Valley 
Bank 

8-K  10.01 6/9/10  

   21.1  List of Subsidiaries      X 

   23.1  
Consent of Independent Registered Public 

Accounting Firm      X 

   31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

     X 
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     Incorporated by Reference  
Exhibit 
Number 

  
 Description of Exhibit 

  
 Form 

  
File No. 

  
Exhibit 

  
Filing Date 

 Filed 
Herewith  

 31.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant 
to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

     X 

 32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

     X 

 32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

     X 

       
101.INS§ 
 

XBRL Instance Document 
 

     

       
101.SCH§ 
 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
 

     

       
101.CAL§ 
 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
Document 

 

     

       
101.DEF§ 
 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document 

 

     

       
101.LAB§ 
 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document 

 

     

       
101.PRE§ 
 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
Document 

 

     

       
____________ 
 

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.  
† Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to portions of the exhibit. A complete copy of the agreement, including the 

redacted terms, has been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

§  Pursuant to applicable securities laws and regulations, the Company is deemed to have complied with the reporting obligation 
relating to the submission of interactive data files in such exhibits and is not subject to liability under any anti-fraud provisions 
of the federal securities laws as long as the Company has made a good faith attempt to comply with the submission requirements 
and promptly amends the interactive data files after becoming aware that the interactive data files fails to comply with the 
submission requirements. Users of this data are advised that, pursuant to Rule 406T, these interactive data files are deemed not 
filed and otherwise are not subject to liability.  
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Exhibit 10.24  
     

 

 
 
 
Cepheid 
904 Caribbean Drive 
Sunnyvale, CA 94089-1189 
Telephone: 408.541.4191 
Fax: 408.541.4192 
 

  

  

June 5, 2003 

Joseph H. Smith  
[Address]  
  
Re: Offer of Employment by Cepheid 

Dear Joe:  

I am very pleased to confirm our offer to you of employment with Cepheid (the “Company”). You 
will report to me in the position of Vice President, General Counsel. The terms of our offer and the benefits 
currently provided by the Company are as follows:  

1. Employment Commencement. We anticipate your employment start date will be June 2, 2003.  

2. Starting Salary. Your starting salary will be $250,000.00 per year and will be subject to annual 
review. As you will work half-time for the month of June, 2003, your first month’s salary will be pro-rated 
to 50%, or $10,416.67. As of June 30, 2003, you will convert to full-time status at the annual rate of 
$250,000, or $9,615.38 on a bi-weekly basis.  

3. Benefits. In addition, you will be eligible to participate in regular health insurance, bonus and 
other employee benefit plans established by the Company for its associates from time to time.  

4. Change of Control. The Company will offer you the change of control benefits detailed in Exhibit 
A effective with your date of hire, June 2, 2003.  

5. Confidentiality. As an employee of the Company, you will have access to certain confidential 
information of the Company and you may, during the course of your employment, develop certain 
information or inventions that will be the property of the Company. To protect the interests of the 
Company, you will need to sign the Company’s standard “Employee Invention Assignment and 
Confidentiality Agreement” as a condition of your employment. We wish to impress upon you that we do 
not want you to, and we hereby direct you not to, bring with you any confidential or proprietary material of 
any former employer or to violate any other obligations you may have to any former employer. During the 
period that you render services to the Company, you agree to not engage in any employment, business or 
activity that is in any way competitive with the business or proposed business of the Company. You will 
disclose to the Company in writing any other gainful employment, business or activity that you are 
currently associated with or participate in that competes with the Company. You will not assist any other 
person or organization in competing with the Company or in preparing to engage in competition with the 
business or proposed business of the Company. You represent that your signing of this offer letter, 
agreement(s) concerning stock options granted to you (including Exhibit A hereto), if any, under the Plan 
(as defined below) and the Company’s Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement 
and your commencement of employment with the Company on June 2, 2003, will not violate any 
agreement currently in place between yourself and current or past employers. The company understands 
that there are certain areas of work that will be proscribed due to a prior commitment with Applied 
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Biosystems for a one-year period as well as ethical issues related to the fact that you are still technically an 
employee of Applied Biosystems. hi that regard the Company will engage an outside attorney to advise you 
and the Company to ensure compliance with your previous commitments and to avoid conflicts of interest 
going forward.  

6. Options. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company has approved a 
grant to you of the opportunity to purchase up to 250,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company under 
our 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) at the closing fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock 
at the end of business on your first day of employment, June 2, 2003. The shares you will be given the 
opportunity to purchase will vest at the rate of twenty-five percent (25%) at the end of your first 
anniversary with the Company, and an additional 1/48 of the total number of shares per month thereafter, 
so long as you remain employed by the Company. The grant of such options by the Company is not a 
promise of compensation and is not intended to create any obligation on the part of the Company. Further 
details on the Plan and any specific opotion grant to you will be provided shortly after you commence 
employment.  

7. At Will Employment. While we look forward to a long and profitable relationship, should you 
decide to accept our offer, you will be an “at-will” employee of the Company, which means the 
employment relationship can be terminated by either of us for any reason, at any time, with or without prior 
notice and with our without cause. Any statements or representations to the contrary (and, indeed, any 
statements contradicting any provision in this letter) should be regarded by you as ineffective. Further, your 
participation in any stock option or benefit program is not to be regarded as assuring you of continuing 
employment for any particular period of time. The Company reserves the right to change or otherwise 
modify, in its sole discretion, the preceding terms of employment, as well as any of the terms set forth 
herein at any time in the future. Any modification or change in your “at will” employment status may only 
occur by way of a written agreement signed by you and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  

8. Authorization to Work. Please note that because of employer regulations adopted in the 
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, within three (3) business days of starting your new position 
you will need to present documentation demonstrating that you have authorization to work in the United 
States. If you have questions about this requirement, which applies to U.S. citizens and non-U.S. citizens 
alike, you may contact our personnel office.  

9. Insider Trading Policy. Your continued employment is also contingent upon reading and signing 
the enclosed Insider Trading Policy.  

10. Acceptance. This offer will remain open until June 6, 2003. If you decide to accept our offer, and 
I hope you will, please sign the enclosed copy of this letter in the space indicated and return it to me. Your 
signature will acknowledge that you have read and understood and agreed to the terms and conditions of 
this offer letter and the attached documents, if any. Should you have anything else that you wish to discuss, 
please do not hesitate to call me.  

We look forward to the opportunity to welcome you to the Company.  

 

Very truly yours,  

/s/  John L. Bishop                              
John L. Bishop  
CEO  

I have read and understood this offer letter and hereby acknowledge, accept and agree to the terms as set 
forth above and further acknowledge that no other commitments were made to me as part of my 
employment offer except as specifically set forth herein.  
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/s/  Joseph H. Smith                              Date signed:                 6/5/03                  
Joseph H. Smith     
   
        6/02/03                                              
Start Date     
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Exhibit 10.25  

AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  

This Amendment to Employment Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into as of 
February 21, 2008, by and among John L. Bishop (“Executive”) and Cepheid, a California corporation (the 
“Company”).  

R E C I T A L S  

A. The Company and Executive are parties to that certain Employment Agreement dated January 24, 
2007. All capitalized terms set forth herein shall (unless otherwise defined herein) have the meanings given 
to them in the Agreement.  

B. The Company and Executive wish to clarify the terms of Section 9 of the Agreement by means of 
this Amendment to the Agreement.  

A G R E E M E N T  

NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows:  

1. AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT. The first sentence of Section 9 of the Agreement entitled 
“Separation Benefits” is hereby amended to insert the phrase “any earned but unpaid bonus,” such that it 
shall read in its entirety to read as follows:  

“Upon termination of your employment with Cepheid for any reason, you will receive payment for 
all unpaid salary, any earned but unpaid bonus, reimbursements and PTO accrued to the date of your 
termination of employment; and your benefits will be continued under Cepheid’s then existing 
benefit plans and policies for so long as provided under the terms of such plans and policies and as 
required by applicable law.”  

2. NO OTHER AMENDMENTS. Except as expressly set forth above, all of the terms and conditions 
of the Agreement remain in full force and effect.  

3. GOVERNING LAW. This Amendment will be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of California, without giving effect to that body of laws pertaining to conflict of laws.  

4. COUNTERPARTS. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 
which when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  
  
   
COMPANY:    EXECUTIVE:
   
/s/ Joseph Smith    /s/ John Bishop
By: Joseph Smith    John Bishop
Its: Senior Vice President and General Counsel     
 

82



83 
 

Exhibit 21.1 
 

List of Subsidiaries 
 

Cepheid SA 
Jurisdiction of organization: France 

 
• Cepheid UK (Wholly owned subsidiary of Cepheid SA) 

Jurisdiction of organization: UK 
• Cepheid Benelux (Wholly owned subsidiary of Cepheid SA) 

Jurisdiction of organization: Belgium 
• Cepheid SAS (Wholly owned subsidiary of Cepheid SA) 

Jurisdiction of organization: France 
 
Cepheid AB 
Jurisdiction of organization: Sweden 
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Exhibit 23.1 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8, Nos. 333-41682, 333-65844, 333-
91472, 333-106181, 333-117744, 333-122379, 333-131372, 333-134319, 333-149941, 333-151349, 333-157031, 333-162880, 
333-165072 and 333-166933) pertaining to the 1997 Stock Option Plan, the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the 2000 Non-
Employee Directors Stock Option Plan and the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, and the Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 333-
131520) of Cepheid of our reports dated February 24, 2011 with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of 
Cepheid and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cepheid included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) 
for the year ended December 31, 2010. 

 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

        
San Jose, California 
February 24, 2011 
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Exhibit 31.1 
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

 
I, John L. Bishop, certify that: 
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cepheid;  
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financing reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Date: February 24, 2011 
 
  /s/JOHN L. BISHOP           
  John L. Bishop  
  Chief Executive Officer 
  (Principal Executive Officer) 
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Exhibit 31.2 
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

 
I, Andrew D. Miller, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cepheid;  
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financing reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Date: February 24, 2011 
 
  /s/ ANDREW D. MILLER  
  Andrew D. Miller  
  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
  (Principal Financial Officer)  
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Exhibit 32.1 
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
As Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Cepheid (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John L. Bishop, as Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company. 
 
Date: February 24, 2011 
 
  /s/ JOHN L. BISHOP  
  John L. Bishop  
  Chief Executive Officer 
  (Principal Executive Officer) 
 

This certification accompanies this Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and is not deemed filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the 
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective 
of any general incorporation language contained in such filing. 
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Exhibit 32.2 
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
As Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Cepheid (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Andrew D. Miller, as Principal Financial 
Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company. 
 
Date: February 24, 2011 
 
  /s/ ANDREW D. MILLER  
  Andrew D. Miller   
  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
  (Principal Financial Officer) 
 

This certification accompanies this Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and is not deemed filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the 
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective 
of any general incorporation language contained in such filing. 
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Sunnyvale, CA

		 •	Corporate	Offices
		 •	R&D
		 	 -	Systems
		 	 -	Tests
		 •	Manufacturing
		 	 -	Systems
		 	 -	Tests

Chicago, IL

		 •	Clinical	Affairs

Washington, DC

		 •	Government	Affairs

Toulouse, France

		 •	European
								Sales	&	Mktg.	
	 •	micro	RNA	R&D 

Shanghai, China
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Sales	&	Mktg.

Stockholm, Sweden
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-	Tests

		 •		Manufacturing 
-	Tests

Bothell, WA

		 •		Special		
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Operations 
-	R&D 
-	Manufacturing

This	annual	report	contains	forward-looking	statements	that	are	not	purely	historical	regarding	Cepheid’s	or	its	management’s	intentions,	beliefs,	expectations	and	strategies	for	the	future,	including	those
relating	to:	future	products,	pipeline	and	target	markets;	development	activities;	future	regulatory	approvals;	product	performance;	future	financial	results	and	business	prospects.	Because	such	
statements	deal	with	future	events,	they	are	subject	to	various	risks	and	uncertainties,	and	actual	results	could	differ	materially	from	Cepheid’s	current	expectations.	Factors	that	could	cause	actual	results	
to	differ	materially	include	risks	and	uncertainties	such	as	those	relating	to:	continued	market	acceptance	of	our	healthcare	associated	infection	products;	changes	in	the	protocols,	best	practices	or	
level	of	testing	for	healthcare	associated	infections;	testing	volumes	for	our	other	products;	unforeseen	research,	development	and	manufacturing	problems,	which	could	delay	the	introduction	of	new	
products;	the	need	for	additional	intellectual	property	licenses	for	new	tests	and	other	products	and	the	terms	of	such	licenses;	the	environment	for	capital	spending	by	hospitals	and	other	customers	
for	our	diagnostic	instruments;	our	ability	to	successfully	sell	additional	products	in	the	Clinical	market;	lengthy	sales	cycles	in	certain	markets;	the	performance	of	our	new	products;	our	ability	to	
obtain	regulatory	approvals	and	introduce	new	products	into	the	Clinical	market,	including	our	ability	to	complete	any	required	clinical	testing	in	a	timely	manner;	our	ability	to	respond	to	changing	
laws	and	regulations	affecting	our	industry	and	changing	enforcement	practices	related	thereto;	the	mix	of	products	sold,	which	can	affect	gross	margins;	our	reliance	on	distributors	to	market,	sell	
and	support	our	products	in	certain	geographic	locations;	the	occurrence	of	unforeseen	expenditures,	asset	impairments,	acquisitions	or	other	transactions;	litigation	costs;	our	ability	to	integrate	
the	businesses,	technologies,	operations	and	personnel	of	acquired	companies;	our	success	in	increasing	our	direct	sales	and	the	effectiveness	of	our	sales	personnel;	the	fact	that	our	collaborative	
relationships	may	not	result	in	successful	introduction	of	new	products	or	result	in	material	revenues;	the	impact	of	competitive	products	and	pricing;	our	ability	to	manage	geographically-dispersed	
operations;	our	ability	to	continue	to	realize	manufacturing	efficiencies,	which	is	an	important	factor	in	improving	gross	margins;	the	scope	and	timing	of	United	States	Postal	Service	(“USPS”)	funding	
of	the	Biohazard	Detection	System	(“BDS”)	in	its	current	configuration;	the	rate	of	environmental	testing	using	the	BDS	conducted	by	the	USPS,	which	will	affect	the	amount	of	consumable	products	
sold;	and	underlying	market	conditions	worldwide.	Readers	should	also	refer	to	the	section	entitled	“Risk	Factors”	in	Cepheid’s	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K	for	2010	as	filed	with	the	Securities	
and	Exchange	Commission.	All	forward-looking	statements	and	reasons	why	results	might	differ	are	made	as	of	the	date	of	this	report,	based	on	information	currently	available	to	Cepheid,	and	
Cepheid	assumes	no	obligation	to	update	any	such	forward-looking	statement	or	reasons	why	results	might	differ.	The	product	information	is	intended	to	outline	our	general	product	direction	and	
it	should	not	be	relied	upon	in	making	a	purchasing	decision	as	the	development,	release,	and	timing	of	any	of	our	products	remains	at	our	discretion	and	is	also	subject	to	regulatory	approvals.
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